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Definitions

In this report (excluding the section of the financial report), the following expressions shall have the meanings 

stated below unless the context otherwise requires:

DEFINITIONS OF FREQUENTLY-USED TERMS

2025 First EGM the 2025 first extraordinary general meeting of the Company 

proposed to be held on 23 October 2025

A Share(s) Renminbi-denominated ordinary share(s) with a nominal value 

of RMB1.00 each, all of which are issued in China, subscribed 

in Renminbi and listed on the SSE

Articles of Association the articles of association of the Company (as amended from 

time to time)

Audit Committee the audit committee under the Board of the Company

Bank of Chengdu Bank of Chengdu Co., Ltd.

Board the board of directors of the Company

CG Code the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix C1 to 

the Listing Rules

CITIC Buyout CITIC Buyout Investment Fund (Shenzhen) Partnership (Limited 

Partnership)

Companies Ordinance the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the 

Laws of Hong Kong)

Company Law the Company Law of the People’s Republic of China

Company, Xinhua Winshare or 

 Listed Company

Xinhua Winshare Publishing and Media Co., Ltd.* (新華文軒出

版傳媒股份有限公司)

Controlling Shareholder or Sichuan Xinhua 

 Publishing and Distribution Group

Sichuan Xinhua Publishing and Distribution Group Co., Ltd.

CSRC China Securities Regulatory Commission
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Definitions (continued)

Director(s) the director(s) of the Company

Dividend Entitlement Date 4 November 2025

Group the Company and its subsidiaries

H Share(s) overseas listed foreign share(s) which are issued in Hong 

Kong, subscribed in Hong Kong dollars and listed on the Stock 

Exchange

Hua Sheng Group Chengdu Hua Sheng (Group) Industry Co., Ltd.

Interim Dividend for 2025 the payment of a dividend for the six months ended 30 June 

2025 of RMB0.19 (tax inclusive) per share recommended by 

the Board

Liaoning Publication Group Liaoning Publication Group Co., Ltd.

Listing Rules the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock 

Exchange and/or the Rules Governing the Listing of Stocks on 

the SSE, as the case may be

Model Code the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of 

Listed Issuers set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules

Nomination Committee the nomination committee under the Board of the Company

Open Book Data monitoring data publicly published by Beijing Open Book Co., 

Ltd.

Period or Reporting Period from 1 January 2025 to 30 June 2025

PRC or China the People’s Republic of China (for the purpose of this interim 

report, excluding Hong Kong, the Macao Special Administrative 

Region of the PRC and Taiwan)

Remuneration and Review Committee the remuneration and review committee under the Board of 

the Company

RMB Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

Sales value the list price of books printed at the back of each book

Same Period of Last Year from 1 January 2024 to 30 June 2024

SASAC of Sichuan State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration 

Commission of the Sichuan Provincial Government
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Definitions (continued)

SFO Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of 

Hong Kong)

Shareholder(s) H shareholder(s) and A shareholder(s) of the Company

Sichuan Cultural Investment Group Sichuan Cultural Industry Investment Group Co., Ltd.

Sichuan Daily Newspaper Group Sichuan Daily Newspaper Group Co., Ltd.

Sichuan Development Sichuan Development (Holding) Co., Ltd.

SSE Shanghai Stock Exchange

Stock Exchange The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Strategy and Investment Planning Committee the strategy and investment planning committee under the 

Board of the Company

Supervisor(s) the supervisor(s) of the Company

Supervisory Committee the supervisory committee of the Company

Wan Xin Media Anhui Xinhua Media Co., Ltd.

Winshare Hengxin Winshare Hengxin (Shenzhen) Equity Investment Fund 

Partnership (Limited Partnership)

Winshare Investment Winshare Investment Co., Ltd.

Winshare Online Sichuan Winshare Online E-commerce Co., Ltd.

Winshare September the digital content reading service platform under Winshare 

Online

winxuan.com the online sales platform of paper publications under Winshare 

Online

* For identification purposes only
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Important Notice

I. The Board, the Supervisory Committee, Directors, Supervisors and senior management of the Company 

warrant that this interim report is true, accurate and complete and does not contain any false records, 

misleading statements or material omission and jointly and severally take full legal responsibility as to the 

contents herein.

II. All Directors of the Company attended the fifth meeting of the fifth session of the Board of 2025 held on 

27 August 2025 at which this interim report was considered and approved.

III. The consolidated financial statements included in this interim report are unaudited.

IV. Mr. Zhou Qing, the head of the Company, Mr. Xu Yongping, the person-in-charge of accounting affairs, 

and Mr. He Xiaomao, the head of accounting department, declare that they warrant the truthfulness, 

accuracy and completeness of the financial statements contained in this interim report.

V. For the interim profit distribution proposal for 2025, it is proposed that, on the basis of a total share capital 

of 1,233,841,000 shares, a cash dividend of RMB0.19 (tax inclusive) per share held will be distributed 

to the Shareholders, with total cash dividend amounting to RMB234,429,790 (tax inclusive). The above 

profit distribution proposal is subject to the consideration and approval at the 2025 First EGM before the 

execution thereof.

VI. The forward-looking statements included in this interim report, including future plans and development 

strategies, do not constitute actual commitment of the Company to investors. Investors should be 

reminded of the risks of investment.

VII. During the Period, there were no major risks that would have a material impact on the production and 

operations of the Company. Please read the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of 

this interim report for details of the risk factors that may be involved as set out by the Company.
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Corporate Information

LEGAL NAME OF THE COMPANY

新華文軒出版傳媒股份有限公司

COMPANY NAME IN ENGLISH

XINHUA WINSHARE PUBLISHING

AND MEDIA CO., LTD.*

LEGAL REPRESENTATIVE

Mr. Zhou Qing

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhou Qing (Chairman)

Mr. Liu Longzhang (Vice chairman)

Mr. Li Qiang

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Dai Weidong

Mr. Ke Jiming

Ms. Tan Ao

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Tsz Bun

Mr. Deng Fumin

Mr. Han Wenlong

* For identification purposes only

BOARD COMMITTEES

Strategy and Investment Planning Committee

Mr. Zhou Qing (Chairman)

Mr. Dai Weidong

Mr. Li Qiang

Audit Committee

Mr. Lau Tsz Bun (Chairman)

Mr. Deng Fumin

Mr. Ke Jiming

Remuneration and Review Committee

Mr. Han Wenlong (Chairman)

Mr. Lau Tsz Bun

Mr. Liu Longzhang

Nomination Committee

Mr. Deng Fumin (Chairman)

Mr. Han Wenlong

Ms. Tan Ao

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

Supervisors

Mr. Qiu Ming (Chairman)

Mr. Xue Feng

Ms. Wang Yan

Ms. Wang Yuanyuan

Independent Supervisors

Mr. Feng Jian

Ms. Wang Li
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Corporate Information (continued)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Yang Miao

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Ke Jiming

Ms. Yang Miao

ALTERNATE AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE

Ms. Wong Wai Ling

AUDITOR

KPMG Huazhen LLP

8th Floor, KPMG Tower, Oriental Plaza

1 East Chang An Avenue

Beijing, the PRC

HONG KONG LEGAL ADVISER

Li & Partners

22nd Floor, World-Wide House

19 Des Voeux Road Central

Central, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE IN THE PRC

Unit 1, Block 1

No. 238, Sanse Road

Jinjiang District

Chengdu, Sichuan Province, the PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN 
HONG KONG

40th Floor, Dah Sing Financial Centre

248 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

The Industrial and Commercial Bank of China

China Construction Bank

HONG KONG H SHARES REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

Shops 1712-1716

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

COMPANY WEBSITE

http://www.winshare.com.cn

STOCK CODE

00811 (H Share)

601811 (A Share)
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Management Discussion and Analysis

(I) BUSINESS REVIEW

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

2025 marks the final year of the “14th Five-Year Plan”. The central and local governments continue 
to unleash the effectiveness of their policies, leveraging multiple dimensions to promote high-quality 
development of the cultural industry. In terms of increased fiscal investment, the General Office of the State 
Council issued the Several Economic Policies on Promoting High-Quality Cultural Development, which for 
the first time proposed “establishing and improving a fiscal investment mechanism commensurate with 
the development of a culturally strong nation and national financial resources”. In terms of promoting 
national reading, “national reading” was included in the Government Work Report for the twelfth time, 
evolving from the initial “promoting national reading” to “deepening national reading activities”. In the 
meantime, the National Press and Publication Administration released the Regulations on Promoting 
National Reading (Draft for Comment) for public comment. In terms of regulating market order, the General 
Offices of the CPC Central Committee and the State Council issued the Opinions on Improving the Price 
Governance Mechanism, creating an opportunity to regulate pricing behavior in the book market. In terms 
of boosting cultural consumption, the General Office of the State Council issued measures such as the 
Several Measures on Further Cultivating New Growth Points to Boost Cultural Tourism Consumption. 
At the same time, various regions were implementing different measures to fully stimulate the vitality 
of the cultural consumption market. The CPC Sichuan Provincial Committee adopted the Decision on 
Promoting the Deep Integration and Development of Culture and Tourism to Expand and Strengthen 
the Cultural Tourism Industry. A series of policy measures have been introduced, focusing on building 
the cultural tourism brand of “Beautiful Tianfu, Comfortable Sichuan”, promoting the full-scale and all-
industry development of the cultural tourism industry, improving the quality of cultural tourism services 
and consumer experience, and deepening key reforms in the integration of culture and tourism. The aim 
was to accelerate the deep integration and development of culture and tourism, expand and strengthen 
the cultural tourism industry, and provide strong support for building a modern industrial system with 
Sichuan characteristics and advantages.

Overall, the book market was still in the period of structural adjustment. According to the Open Book 
Data, the sales value of the overall book retail market in the first half of 2025 grew by 0.73% year-on-
year, while the actual value declined by 0.31% year-on-year. Taking into account the year-on-year data 
of each month, the overall book retail market showed a trend of opening high and closing low. In the first 
quarter, the market saw positive growth, driven by the back-to-school season in February, as well as 
the buzz surrounding the phenomenal social and cultural topics of “Nezha” and “DeepSeek”. However, 
in the second quarter, without any other phenomenal topics emerging, the year-on-year growth rate of 
sales value gradually slowed, showing a negative trend. Among the various channels, only the content 
e-commerce channel saw positive growth, but the growth rate was significantly slower than before. 
Platform e-commerce, vertical and other e-commerce channels, and physical bookstore channels 
continued to face significant pressure. Data released by CENTRIN ECloud Co., Ltd. showed that the 
sales value of the book market in the first half of 2025 was RMB46,819 million, a year-on-year decrease 
of 9.64%. The decline widened compared with the first quarter, mainly due to the continued downward 
performance of traditional e-commerce.

Amidst a new industry environment and a wave of technological revolution, the publishing industry is 
at a critical stage of transformation and upgrading. With the rapid development of artificial intelligence 
(AI) technology and its application in the publishing industry, “AI + publishing” will become an important 
trend in the integrated development of publishing. Publishing companies are actively seizing opportunities 
for industry development, upholding integrity and innovation, deepening reform, and focusing on 
strengthening core functions and enhancing core competitiveness. They are continuously cultivating and 
developing new and quality productivity to steadily promote high-quality development.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

RESULTS

During the Period, the Group recorded revenue of RMB5,527 million, representing a year-on-year 

decrease of 4.50%. The Group achieved total profit of RMB907 million, representing a year-on-year 

increase of 6.98%, and net profit of RMB900 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 19.63%.

REVENUE

During the Period, the Group recorded revenue of RMB5,527 million, representing a decrease of 4.50% 

as compared with RMB5,788 million in the Same Period of Last Year, among which, revenue from 

principal businesses amounted to RMB5,439 million, representing a year-on-year decrease of 4.72%, 

which was mainly due to the decline in textbooks and supplementary materials, education informatization 

and education equipment businesses.

OPERATING COSTS

During the Period, operating costs of the Group amounted to RMB3,369 million, representing a decrease 

of 5.42% from RMB3,562 million in the Same Period of Last Year, mainly due to decline in sales volume. 

Among which, costs of principal businesses amounted to RMB3,354 million, representing a year-on-year 

decrease of 5.65%.

GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

During the Period, consolidated gross profit margin of the Group was 39.05%, up by 0.59 percentage 

point from 38.46% in the Same Period of Last Year, among which, gross profit margin of principal 

businesses was 38.34%, up by 0.61 percentage point from 37.73% in the Same Period of Last Year, 

mainly due to change in sales structure.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

ANALYSIS OF OPERATING SEGMENTS

1. Overview of Principal Business Segments

During the Period, the Group focused on its principal business of publishing and media, striving 

to strengthen integrated and collaborative operations within the industry chain, enhance both 

demand-side and supply-side management, and deepen operational reform. The Group further 

improved its ability to supply high-quality cultural products and services, and strengthened its 

core functions as well as core competitiveness.

The operating businesses of the Group are divided into two reporting segments, namely the 

publication segment and the distribution segment, respectively.

During the Period, the Group implemented comprehensive measures, including strengthening 

synergies, increasing the supply of high-quality content, and cultivating new business growth 

points. As a result, the principal operating income of publication segment increased by RMB68 

million compared to the Same Period of Last Year. However, due to factors such as structural 

adjustments in the book retail market, policy adjustments in the education services industry, 

and demographic shifts, the principal operating income of distribution segment decreased by 

RMB289 million compared to the Same Period of Last Year. In particular, income from textbook 

and supplementary materials decreased by RMB346 million, while income from general books 

increased by RMB157 million compared to the Same Period of Last Year. In response to the 

changing market environment, the Group accelerated store restructuring and online and offline 

integrated development to promote the direct delivery of high-quality cultural content to the 

grassroots. Leveraging the strengths of Internet book e-commerce, the Group focused on 

developing customized content products to increase market share in certain niche categories. 

Furthermore, the Group proactively adapted to the “double reduction” policy in education and 

the demand for quality education by optimizing its product mix of cultural and educational books. 

These measures effectively mitigated the decline in the operating income of distribution segment.

The Group further reduced operating costs and improved operating quality and efficiency 

by promoting the intelligent transformation of logistics and printing facilities, strengthening 

procurement management and cost control, and reducing accounts receivable. As a result, the 

gross profit margin and profit of the principal businesses achieved year-on-year growth.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

2. Operating Data of the Business Segments

The principal businesses of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2025 by product and 

region are as follows:

RMB

Principal business by product

Industry

Operating 

income

Operating 

costs

Gross profit 

margin (%)

Change of 

operating 

income as 

compared 

with prior 

year (%)

Change of 

operating 

costs as 

compared 

with prior 

year (%)

Change of 

gross profit 

margin as 

compared 

with prior 

year (ppt)
       

I. Publication 1,279,892,593.54 842,957,148.97 34.14 5.63 4.58 0.66

Textbooks and supplementary materials 649,368,813.52 356,616,773.57 45.08 13.53 8.59 2.50

General books 460,921,431.75 352,089,913.10 23.61 (7.20) (4.38) (2.25)

Printing and supplies 109,187,085.91 90,438,387.38 17.17 1.58 0.93 0.53

Newspapers and journals 21,916,429.82 13,074,629.36 40.34 (19.36) (14.51) (3.39)

Others 38,498,832.54 30,737,445.56 20.16 362.86 579.75 (25.47)

II. Distribution 4,863,826,902.35 3,287,396,295.16 32.41 (5.60) (5.76) 0.12

Textbooks and supplementary materials 1,916,414,493.72 1,179,309,545.70 38.46 (15.30) (14.19) (0.80)

General books 2,804,387,769.51 1,989,758,835.27 29.05 5.91 3.51 1.65

Education informatization and others 143,024,639.12 118,327,914.19 17.27 (40.88) (38.28) (3.48)

III. Others 206,104,572.74 174,085,258.33 15.54 12.65 9.06 2.79

Including: Logistics services 201,463,087.98 172,604,903.36 14.32 12.64 8.91 2.93

Inter-segment elimination total (910,781,170.05) (950,500,800.96)
   

Total 5,439,042,898.58 3,353,937,901.50 38.34 (4.72) (5.65) 0.61
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

RMB
Principal business by sales model

Industry Operating income Operating costs
Gross profit 
margin (%)

Change of 
operating 

income as 
compared 
with prior 

year (%)

Change of 
operating 

costs as 
compared 
with prior 

year (%)

Change of 
gross profit 

margin as 
compared 
with prior 
year (ppt)

       

Offline sales 2,723,677,960.46 1,573,073,084.12 42.24 (8.97) (10.84) 1.20
Online sales 2,715,364,938.12 1,780,864,817.38 34.42 (0.03) (0.54) 0.34

   

Total 5,439,042,898.58 3,353,937,901.50 38.34 (4.72) (5.65) 0.61
   

(1) Publication segment

The publication segment of the Group covers publishing of publications including books, 

newspapers and journals, audio-visual products and digital products; provision of printing 

services and supply of printing materials.

Textbooks and supplementary materials

The Group paid close attention to changes in technological innovation, user needs, 

usage scenarios and consumption habits, consolidated quality resources to promote the 

integrated development of educational publishing, and iteratively refined digital products 

based on market feedback to enhance product competitiveness. During the Period, the 

Group continued to develop Sichuan education version of primary school English textbooks 

online using the “Chuanxuebao” APP; enriched learning resources on the exclusive channel 

of “Sichuan Education Learning” of Ximalaya platform, and “Sichuan Education Zone” 

of Winshare Youjiao’s platform; and continued to work with Tencent Education in the 

integrated supplementary materials of “AI Accompanying Me to Learn” series, planning 

and creating multiple products on English and mental health in the first half of the year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

General books

The Group has always adhered to the correct publishing orientation. Under the guidance of 
themed publishing and key publishing projects, the Group promotes integrated publishing 
innovation, and accelerates the pace of digital transformation to promote high-quality 
development of publishing business.

According to the Open Book Data, during the Period, the Group’s market share ranked 
9th in terms of actual sales value in the overall book market in China and 6th locally, which 
remained the same as compared with the Same Period of Last Year. The publishing brand 
of Winshare had five titles ranked among the top 100 bestsellers nationwide, an increase of 
four titles year-on-year. Cumulative sales of each title exceeded 400,000 copies in the first 
half of the year. The Group’s publication achieved good social benefits. In particular, five 
books, including Casting China: Bronze Civilization in Books (《鑄造中國: 圖書青銅文明》), 
were shortlisted by the National Publishing Fund in 2025. Two books, including Searching 
for Gan Yu (《尋找甘宇》), were selected for the 2024 China Good Books. Another two 
books, including The Age of Symbols: Faith and Early China (《符號時代: 信仰與早期中
國》), were selected for the 2024 China Good Books.

During the Period, the Group focused on the themed publishing to promote the main 
theme of the country, launching key themed books such as So This Is What China Looks 
Like (《原來中國長這樣》), Shiyi Village on the Clouds (《雲朵上的石椅村》), and Gateway 
to Qiangshan Mountain (《羌山之門》). The Group also explored local cultural resources 
and steadily advanced a series of key publishing projects. The Three Su Culture (三蘇文化) 
Publishing Project has published 69 titles so far, including Su Dongpo’s Ideal Country (《蘇
東坡的理想國》), while the Shu Road Culture (蜀道文化) Publishing Initiative has published 
over 30 titles, including the Shu Road Heritage Series (蜀道遺產叢書). The Group continued 
to promote the in-depth integration of publishing, launching 628 integrated publications, 
including e-books and audio books. Its subsidiary Sichuan Science & Technology Publishing 
House Co., Ltd. developed the AR interactive application of “Cyberspace Station”, 
integrating with the print version of Dreaming of Heavenly Palace (《尋夢天宮》) to enhance 
the dissemination of popular science through an immersive experience.

The Group actively promotes the “going out” publishing initiative to deepen cultural 
exchange and cooperation. In the first half of 2025, a total of 299 copyrights were exported. 
The Group participated in major international book fairs such as the Bologna Children’s 
Book Fair and the Beijing International Book Fair, leveraging these platforms to organize a 
series of new book launches and cultural exchange activities, thereby effectively promoting 
the trade of book copyrights and enhancing the overseas influence of Chinese culture. The 
Group successfully promoted the China-Nepal and China-Cambodia Classics Translation 
Projects, further facilitating cultural exchange and mutual learning between China and the 
rest of the world. In addition, the Company its five subsidiaries, including Sichuan People’s 
Publishing House Co., Ltd. and Sichuan Tiandi Publishing House Co., Ltd., were selected as 
“2025-2026 National Key Cultural Export Enterprises”, and the South Asia Publishing Center 
of Sichuan Fine Arts Publishing House Co., Ltd. was selected as a “2025-2026 National 
Key Cultural Export Project”. All nine of the Group’s publishing houses were selected into 
the top 100 in the 2025 Influence of Overseas Collections of Chinese Books.

Newspapers and journals

The Group has 13 newspaper and journal brands (comprising 2 newspapers and 11 
journals, including newspapers and journals run by the publishing houses), covering culture, 
children, popular science, fashion and other categories. The audience covers all age groups 
from infants to middle-aged and elderly people.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

(2) Distribution segment

The distribution segment of the Group covers provision of textbooks to schools, teachers 

and students and education informatization and education equipment business for 

secondary and primary schools; retailing, distribution and online sales of publications, etc.

Textbooks and supplementary materials

During the Period, the Group continued to innovate its marketing model, implemented a 

precise operating strategy prioritizing both channels and products, and accelerated the 

transition from product sales to user management and service operations. By enhancing 

its education service capabilities, the Group addressed the impact of policy changes and 

declining student numbers on its education service business.

General books

During the Period, the Group continued to promote the integrated development of reading 

services and strove to enhance its online and offline full-channel operational capabilities. 

The first was to continuously consolidate the main distribution channels of key themed 

current affairs publications, actively integrate into the construction of the public cultural 

service system, and expand the businesses of government and enterprise services to satisfy 

diversified cultural consumption needs of customers. The second was to continuously 

promote store upgrades and renovation, adhere to focusing on the needs of users, complete 

the renovation and upgrade of physical stores such as Nanchong Book City, expand the 

cultural tourism integration pop-up store, and develop cultural and creative products based 

on original IP to enhance cultural consumption experience of customers. The third was to 

actively respond to market changes, optimize and adjust product structure, and further 

improve the student reading material system to meet educational needs. The fourth was to 

continuously strengthen the construction of channel matrix amidst intensifying competition in 

the online market, deepen the refined operation on comprehensive e-commerce platforms, 

improve content e-commerce business matrix, enhance expansion of the distribution 

market, and formulate multiple measures to consolidate the leading advantages in the 

national book e-commerce arena; and continuously optimize the operation of online “cloud 

stores” by integrating the instant retail business of “Reading at Home” with platforms such 

as JD Miao Song, Meituan, and Ele.me, thereby promoting in-depth online-offline integration 

and creating diversified consumption scenarios.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Education informatization and others

During the Period, the Group promoted the transformation and upgrading of its education 

informatization and education equipment business by leveraging high-quality digital content 

resources. With services for highly efficient classroom teaching as the core, the Group 

combined its education publishing advantages with digital technologies to explore business 

models from environmental construction, teaching applications to operational services, thus 

providing a full range of informatization services. The online service platform of Winshare 

Youxue covered over 6,000 schools, serving more than 4.95 million students. The labor 

and practical education business served a secondary and primary student flow of over 

300,000, while the teacher training business organized and implemented 176 projects, 

serving a teacher flow of 40,800.

(II) ANALYSIS OF OPERATING RESULTS AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Breakdown of the relevant item changes in the financial statements

(For the six months ended 30 June 2025)

RMB

Item Current Period

Same Period of

Last Year Change (%)
    

Revenue 5,527,429,426.93 5,787,816,275.71 (4.50)

Operating costs 3,368,865,598.71 3,562,042,236.10 (5.42)

Selling expenses 698,894,015.13 715,635,380.70 (2.34)

Administrative expenses 748,557,863.43 749,109,877.40 (0.07)

Finance expenses (69,213,459.70) (85,134,627.74) 18.70

Research and development expenditure 14,110,458.81 9,364,568.90 50.68

Net cashflow generated from operating activities 620,729,893.04 379,837,357.10 63.42

Net cashflow generated from investing activities (753,393,822.25) (734,143,481.92) (2.62)

Net cashflow generated from financing activities (377,618,433.78) (579,171,553.35) 34.80

Other gains 48,168,005.53 30,047,532.36 60.31

Gain (loss) on fair value change 10,859,065.07 (36,709,633.98) 129.58

Credit impairment gain (loss) 48,695,138.39 (46,035,808.57) 205.78

Asset impairment gain (loss) (41,270,639.32) (21,027,688.19) (96.27)

Gain (loss) on asset disposal (174,288.09) 1,128,329.57 (115.45)

Non-operating income 2,923,519.65 1,050,289.04 178.35

Non-operating expenses 5,862,111.54 14,181,642.72 (58.66)

Income tax expenses 7,438,067.33 95,920,622.56 (92.25)

Other comprehensive income net, after tax 175,645,823.59 264,840,893.92 (33.68)
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EXPENSES

During the Period, selling expenses of the Group amounted to RMB699 million, representing a decrease 

of 2.34% from RMB716 million in the Same Period of Last Year, mainly due to the decrease in promotion 

expenses, logistics expenses and e-commerce platform service fees.

During the Period, administrative expenses of the Group amounted to RMB749 million, the change of 

which was insignificant as compared to RMB749 million in the Same Period of Last Year.

During the Period, finance expenses of the Group amounted to RMB-69,213,500, representing an 

increase of RMB15,921,200 from RMB-85,134,600 in the Same Period of Last Year, mainly because the 

interest income derived from bank deposits decreased as compared with the Same Period of Last Year.

During the Period, research and development expenses of the Group amounted to RMB14,110,500, 

representing an increase of 50.68% from RMB9,364,600 in the Same Period of Last Year, mainly due to 

the increase in investment in business management systems and technological innovation applications 

integrated with business during the Period.

GAINS ON FAIR VALUE CHANGE

During the Period, gains on fair value change of the Group amounted to RMB10,859,100, representing 

an increase of RMB47,568,700 as compared with losses on fair value change of RMB36,709,600 in the 

Same Period of Last Year, mainly due to the changes in fair value of projects held by funds invested by 

the Company such as Winshare Hengxin and CITIC Buyout as affected by the capital market situation 

during the Period.

CREDIT IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

During the Period, credit impairment losses reversed by the Group amounted to RMB48,695,100, while 

credit impairment losses provided for in the Same Period of Last Year amounted to RMB46,035,800, 

mainly due to the strengthened efforts in recovering historical debts during the Period, in which some 

historical debts were recovered, resulting in a year-on-year decrease in provision for credit impairment 

losses.

ASSET IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

During the Period, asset impairment losses provided for by the Group amounted to RMB41,270,600, 

representing an increase of RMB20,243,000 from RMB21,027,700 in the Same Period of Last Year, 

mainly due to the changes in the inventory aging structure.
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INVESTMENT INCOME

During the Period, the Group’s investment income was RMB102 million, representing a decrease of 

16.76% from RMB123 million in the Same Period of Last Year, which was mainly due to the decrease 

in cash dividends declared by Wan Xin Media for 2024 as compared with the Same Period of Last Year.

OTHER INCOME AND NON-OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES

During the Period, other income of the Group amounted to RMB48,168,000, representing an increase 

of 60.31% from RMB30,047,500 in the Same Period of Last Year, which was mainly due to the effect 

of the timing of VAT refund.

During the Period, non-operating income of the Group amounted to RMB2,923,500, representing an 

increase of 178.35% from RMB1,050,300 in the Same Period of Last Year, which was mainly due to the 

disposal of scrapped goods during the Period.

During the Period, non-operating expenses of the Group amounted to RMB5,862,100, representing a 

decrease of 58.66% from RMB14,181,600 in the Same Period of Last Year, mainly due to the decrease 

in donations as compared with the Same Period of Last Year.

GAIN ON ASSET DISPOSAL

During the Period, loss on asset disposal of the Group amounted to RMB174,300, representing a 

decrease of RMB1,302,600 from gain on asset disposal of RMB1,128,300 in the Same Period of Last 

Year, mainly due to the gain brought about by disposal of printing equipment by subsidiaries in the Same 

Period of Last Year.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

During the Period, income tax expenses of the Group amounted to RMB7,438,100, representing a 

decrease of 92.25% as compared with RMB95,920,600 in the Same Period of Last Year, mainly due to 

changes in the preferential income tax policies for restructured cultural enterprises.
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OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

During the Period, other comprehensive income net, after tax of the Group amounted to RMB176 million, 

representing a decrease of 33.68% from RMB265 million in the Same Period of Last Year, mainly due 

to fluctuation in market capitalization of the shares of listed companies held by the Company including 

Wan Xin Media and Bank of Chengdu.

PROFIT

Net profit of the Group for the Period amounted to RMB900 million, representing a year-on-year increase 

of 19.63%. Net profit attributable to shareholders of the listed company amounted to RMB857 million, 

representing a year-on-year increase of 19.66%. After deducting non-recurring profit or loss, the net 

profit attributable to shareholders of the listed company amounted to RMB847 million, representing a 

year-on-year increase of 13.81%, which was mainly attributable to changes in the preferential income 

tax policies for restructured cultural enterprises.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share is calculated based on the net profit of the Company attributable to the shareholders 

of the listed company for the Period divided by the weighted average number of the ordinary shares 

in issue during the Period. During the Period, earnings per share of the Group amounted to RMB0.69, 

representing an increase of 18.97% as compared with RMB0.58 in the Same Period of Last Year. For 

details regarding the calculation of earnings per share, please refer to Note (VI) 52 to the consolidated 

financial statements in this interim report.

CASH FLOW

During the Period, net cashflow of the Group generated from operating activities was net inflow of 

RMB621 million, representing an increase of 63.42% as compared with net inflow of RMB380 million in the 

Same Period of Last Year, mainly due to changes in the preferential income tax policies for restructured 

cultural enterprises, which resulted in the receipt of enterprise income tax refund of RMB130 million paid 

in 2024 during the Period, and a year-on-year decrease in tax expenses including enterprise income tax 

and VAT.

During the Period, net cashflow of the Group generated from investing activities was net outflow of 

RMB753 million, as compared with net outflow of RMB734 million in the Same Period of Last Year. The 

net cash outflow was mainly due to the allocation of time deposits, the change of which was insignificant 

as compared with the Same Period of Last Year.

During the Period, net cashflow of the Group generated from financing activities was net outflow of 

RMB378 million, as compared with net outflow of RMB579 million in the Same Period of Last Year. 

The net cash outflow during the Period was mainly due to the distribution of dividends for A Shares of 

RMB325 million for 2024, while in the Same Period of Last Year, net cash outflow was mainly due to the 

payment for 2023 special dividends of RMB222 million and the distribution of dividends for A Shares of 

RMB316 million for 2023.
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ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ANALYSIS

(As at 30 June 2025)

RMB

Item

Amount as
at the end

of the
Current Period

Amount as
at the end

of the Current
Period as a 
percentage 
of the total 
assets (%)

Amount as 
at the end 

of the prior 
year

Amount as 
at the end 

of the prior
year as a 

percentage 
of the total 
assets (%)

Change in 
the amount 

as at the end 
of the Current 

Period over 
the amount as 

at the end 
of the prior 

year (%) Remark
       

Held-for-trading 
financial assets

38,588.12 0.00 60,122.67 0.00 (35.82) It mainly represents the stocks 
invested by the Company.

Notes receivable – – 933,791.30 0.00 (100.00) Mainly due to the decrease in the 
balance of receivables settled by 
commercial acceptance bills in 
the logistics business at the end 
of the Period as compared with 
the beginning of the year.

Prepayments 92,211,362.91 0.39 64,815,102.00 0.28 42.27 Mainly due to increase in 
prepayments for operating costs 
and copyright fees.

Contract assets 11,176,898.51 0.05 5,584,567.76 0.02 100.14 Mainly due to change in quality 
warranty.

Long-term receivables 25,181,655.22 0.11 39,192,878.89 0.17 (35.75) Mainly due to the decrease in 
closing balance of receivables 
as compared with the opening 
balance as a result of the 
fact that the receivables of 
education informatization and 
education equipment business, 
which adopted collection by 
instalments, were transferred to 
“non-current assets due within 
one year” as the agreed payment 
period approached.

Right-of-use assets 366,181,153.81 1.55 234,572,966.34 1.02 56.11 The increase in right-of-use assets 
was mainly due to the Group’s 
renewal of the three-year lease 
contract with Sichuan Xinhua 
Publishing and Distribution 
Group, on the basis of which 
another renewal period of the 
lease was considered.

Development 
expenditure

6,575,706.77 0.03 3,745,447.13 0.02 75.57 Mainly due to the increase in 
software R&D projects that have 
not yet been completed at the 
end of the Period compared with 
the beginning of the Period.



20 Xinhua Winshare Publishing and Media Co., Ltd.     Interim Report 2025

Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

RMB

Item

Amount as
at the end

of the
Current Period

Amount as
at the end

of the Current
Period as a 
percentage 
of the total 
assets (%)

Amount as 
at the end 

of the prior 
year

Amount as 
at the end 

of the prior
year as a 

percentage 
of the total 
assets (%)

Change in 
the amount 

as at the end 
of the Current 

Period over 
the amount as 

at the end 
of the prior 

year (%) Remark
       

Notes payable 73,800.00 0.00 4,486,667.50 0.02 (98.36) Mainly due to the decrease in 
the balance of trade payables 
settled by notes for education 
informatization and education 
equipment business and logistics 
business at the end of the Period 
as compared with the beginning 
of the year.

Taxes payable 24,939,247.31 0.11 42,024,302.50 0.18 (40.66) Mainly due to the decrease 
in unpaid value-added tax, 
enterprise income tax, individual 
income tax and other taxes for 
the current period.

Other payables 480,994,484.41 2.04 308,454,407.85 1.35 55.94 The increase was mainly due to  
the cash dividend of RMB181 
million declared by the Company 
for H shares for 2024, which was 
paid in full in July 2025.

Lease liabilities 304,897,700.10 1.29 179,938,995.53 0.79 69.45 The increase in lease liabilities 
was mainly due to the Group’s 
renewal of the three-year lease 
contract with Sichuan Xinhua 
Publishing and Distribution 
Group, on the basis of which 
another renewal period of the 
lease was considered.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 30 June 2025, the Group had cash and bank balances of approximately RMB9,218 million (31 

December 2024: RMB9,180 million), and short-term borrowings of RMB10 million (31 December 2024: 

RMB10 million).

As at 30 June 2025, the gearing ratio (calculated by dividing total liabilities by total assets) of the Group 

was 33.89%, down by 0.57 percentage point as compared with 34.46% as at 31 December 2024. The 

Group’s overall financial structure remains relatively stable.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 June 2025, the Group did not have any material contingent liabilities.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 30 June 2025, the balance of pledged deposits of the Group amounted to RMB4,926,400 (31 

December 2024: RMB13,955,200), representing the security deposits placed with the banks for the 

issuance of bank acceptance bills, letters of guarantee, etc. Save as disclosed above, the Group did not 

have any other assets under pledge or guarantee.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

Almost all of the Group’s assets, liabilities, revenues, costs and expenses were denominated in RMB. As 

a result, the management believes that foreign exchange exposure of the Group is minimal and confirms 

that no foreign exchange hedging arrangement has been made.

WORKING CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

30 June 2025 30 June 2024
   

Current ratio 1.8 1.7

Inventory turnover days 130.7 127.9

Trade receivable and notes turnover days 55.4 53.2

Trade payable and notes turnover days 296.1 280.9
   

As at 30 June 2025, current ratio of the Group was 1.8, increased by 0.1 as compared with the Same 

Period of Last Year. During the Period, the inventory turnover days was 130.7 days, up by 2.8 days as 

compared with the Same Period of Last Year. The trade receivable and notes turnover days was 55.4 

days, up by 2.2 days as compared with the Same Period of Last Year. The trade payable and notes 

turnover days was 296.1 days, up by 15.2 days as compared with the Same Period of Last Year.

The above indicators reflect that the operating conditions of the Group remained relatively stable, and the 

turnover days of inventory, trade receivables and trade payables were in line with the industry features 

of the publication and distribution enterprises.

Note: The trade receivable and notes turnover days were calculated based on the aggregate amount of notes receivable, accounts 

receivable and long-term receivables due within one year.
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(III) OVERVIEW OF MATERIAL INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS AND 
DISPOSALS

During the Period, the Group centered on the development strategy and optimized the industry layout. 

While developing its principal businesses, the Group pushed ahead the industry-finance integration with 

a view to establishing the Group as a first-class cultural media group in the PRC.

The Company was interested in 80,000,000 shares of Bank of Chengdu. Its shareholding was 1.89%. 

The cost of investment was RMB240 million. Bank of Chengdu is mainly engaged in commercial banking 

business approved by China’s banking regulator. During the Period, the Group recognized a dividend 

income of RMB71,280,000 and a fair value gain of RMB239 million from Bank of Chengdu. As at 30 June 

2025, the market capitalization of the shares held by the Company in Bank of Chengdu was RMB1,608 

million, accounting for 6.82% of the unaudited total assets of the Group as at 30 June 2025 (as at 31 

December 2024, the market capitalization of the shares held by the Company in Bank of Chengdu was 

RMB1,369 million, accounting for 5.98% of the audited total assets of the Group as at 31 December 

2024).

The Company was interested in 124,640,000 shares of Wan Xin Media. Its shareholding was 6.37%. 

The cost of investment was RMB186 million. Wan Xin Media is mainly engaged in cultural services, 

education services, full supply chain management and other culture-related businesses. During the Period, 

a dividend income of RMB12,464,000 and a fair value loss of RMB64 million from Wan Xin Media were 

recognized. As at 30 June 2025, the market capitalization of the shares held by the Company in Wan 

Xin Media was RMB851 million, accounting for 3.61% of the unaudited total assets of the Group as at 

30 June 2025 (as at 31 December 2024, the market capitalization of the shares held by the Company 

in Wan Xin Media was RMB915 million, accounting for 4.00% of the audited total assets of the Group 

as at 31 December 2024).

Wan Xin Media and Bank of Chengdu are financial investments of the Company which not only generate 

attractive dividend income to the Group for the Period, but also higher capital appreciation to the Group. 

The Company will monitor the price trends of the A share market and these two stocks from time to time. 

Coupled with the industrial development, the Company will formulate corresponding investment strategies 

to continuously and steadily contribute to the finance income of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any other material investments, acquisitions and 

disposals during the Period.

During the Period, details of the external investments made by the Group are set out in Notes (VI) 11, 

12 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements in this interim report.
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Information of the major subsidiaries

RMB0’000

Name of company
Type of 
company Main business

Registered
capital

Total 
assets

Net 
assets

Operating 
income

Operating 
profit

Net 
profit

         

Sichuan Education Publishing 
 House Co., Ltd.

Subsidiary Book publication 1,000.00 163,534.90 136,724.03 36,805.61 17,367.32 17,369.64

Sichuan Publication Printing 
 Co., Ltd.

Subsidiary Plate-leased printing and 
 supply of textbooks

5,000.00 97,168.98 85,359.25 16,592.86 6,931.16 6,931.47

Sichuan Winshare Online 
 E-commerce Co., Ltd.

Subsidiary Online sales of various 
 products

6,000.00 333,254.19 (7,448.14) 154,223.18 582.67 534.60

(IV) FUTURE PROSPECTS

Focusing on its main responsibilities and principal businesses, the Group adheres to integrity and 
innovation, continues to deepen reform, accelerates the cultivation of new and quality publishing 
productivity, gradually builds a new publishing and communication system in the digital era, and 
continuously improves the supply capacity of high-quality cultural products and services. It will implement 
the following operating plans:

Further enhance the level of content creation. Focus on publishing high-quality products, deepen 
major theme works, strengthen cultivation of original contents, and polish the brands of key projects; 
reserve high-quality content, strengthen information exchange and business linkage between publications 
and the market, and empower content creation and plan upgrades based on market analysis; make use of 
AI to increase integrated publishing innovation and promote the deep integration of traditional publishing 
and digital technologies; strengthen international communication and explore the transformation from 
cultural product output to cultural industry output.

Further enhance the quality and efficiency of education services. Develop and promote textbook 
products that meet market demand, constantly advance the transition from product sales to user 
management and service operations, and continuously improve product and service quality; continue 
to explore and develop new scenarios for the use by education equipment at all stages, and provide 
students with a three-dimensional and high-quality learning experience in the form of “environment + 
tools + content”; actively expand labor and practical education business, and optimize the operation 
mechanism of business; develop special teacher training courses to improve service quality; promote 
the optimization and upgrading of online service platforms, and use new digital technologies to empower 
education services.

Further optimize the reading service system. Fully leverage the role of publishing and distribution as 
a leading channel, and make every effort to ensure the promotion and distribution of key themed current 
affairs readings; promote the integration of culture and tourism, deeply integrate into local culture, upgrade 
cultural and creative industries, and enhance the experience of physical stores; actively expand library and 
university reading services, government and enterprise institutional cultural space customization services, 
rural bookstore cultural services and other businesses; further strengthen merchandise management, 
enhance content mining and demand matching capabilities, and focus on the discovery, introduction, and 
refined operations of key new products; enhance the dissemination effectiveness of content e-commerce 
channels; deepen the integration of new technologies and businesses, and strengthen the application of 
new technologies in areas such as product discovery, merchandise operations, marketing and promotion, 
and consumer experience; continue to build a national reading activity system supported by events such 
as Tianfu Book Fair, and deepen the influence of national reading activities.
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Further strengthen the supply chain service capabilities. Focus on the digital transformation and 

upgrading of logistics, accelerate the investment and upgrading of intelligent logistics equipment and 

the planning and construction of logistics operation and management platforms, explore the in-depth 

application of big data in scenarios such as demand forecasting, inventory analysis, and business 

decision-making, make use of digital means to promote the coordinated optimization of logistics 

service quality, operational efficiency, and cost control, and continuously enhance the resilience and 

competitiveness of national supply chain service.

Further enhance the efficiency of capital management. Connect strategic emerging industries such 

as cultural technology and AI through capital means, rationally allocate investment portfolios to diversify 

investment risks, and continuously create an investment pattern that combines short-term income and 

long-term value, so as to obtain capital operating gains and assist in the high-quality development of the 

Company. At the same time, continue to promote resource integration through capital operations, facilitate 

the optimization of industrial layout, and promote transformation, upgrading and integrated development.

(V) ANALYSIS OF CORE COMPETITIVENESS

As an integrated publishing and media enterprise in the publication and distribution industry chain, 

the Group has continuously enhanced its competitiveness and influence through reform and efficiency 

improvement, innovation empowerment, and management optimization.

Publication capabilities. The Group’s content resource aggregation and development capabilities have 

continuously and steadily improved. The Group has established close partnership with well-known writers, 

and obtained various copyrights of world-renowned publishing and media organizations such as Penguin 

Random House, Walt Disney, Hachette Book Group and Princeton University Press to jointly plan and 

create high-quality topics. The Group has a group of influential editorial talents such as Mingqin, which 

can closely meet the market demand and create high-quality dual-effect books. Focusing on core product 

lines, the Group has established a series of successful publishing brands, fostering a brand agglomeration 

effect. These include “YeBook”, which specializes in publishing high-quality academic books in humanities 

and social sciences; “Erwen”, which focuses on academic classics and tracks the forefront of science; 

and “Tianxi Culture”, a comprehensive publishing brand specializing in social sciences and literature. 

Books published by the Group have strong competitiveness in the market, with a growing portfolio of 

influential titles. In particular, it has built a strong brand advantage in the publication of children’s books. 

Its subsidiary, Sichuan Youth and Children’s Publishing House, owns the best-seller intellectual property 

rights – the Hilarious School Diaries, which repeatedly topped the charts of Open Book on children’s 

book best-sellers in China. In the meantime, children’s book series such as “Paw Patrol”, “Super Tank 

in the Pocket”, “Fox House”, and “Mi Wu Science Ace Tournament” are performing well in the market.

Reading service capabilities. By integrating city flagship stores, standard bookstores, theme 

bookstores, IP pop-up stores, and online reading service platform for publications, the Group has built a 

reading service network system based in Sichuan Province, radiating across the country and integrating 

online and offline services to meet the diverse cultural consumption needs of users. The Group has a 

number of physical bookstore brands including “Xinhua Winshare”, “Stackway”, “Winshare BOOKS”, 

“Kids Winshare children’s bookstore”, and “Panda Bookstore” to cater to the personalized needs of 

diverse consumer groups. The Group also owns a network service system comprised of “winxuan.com”, 

“Winshare September” and third-party platform stores, which ensures that its products and services reach 

the target consumer groups with precision and timeliness.
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Education service capabilities. The Group is the only enterprise that is qualified to engage in the 

distribution of textbooks for primary and secondary schools in Sichuan Province and at the same time 

is qualified to publish supplementary materials of all subjects in the curriculum of primary and secondary 

schools. After years of accumulation of experience, the Company has developed an all-variety, full-

coverage and high-efficiency education service capabilities in the Sichuan regional market. The Group 

leverages on the first-move advantages in the digital education service business, providing education 

services such as digitalized resources, teaching software and hardware as well as digitalized subject 

tools. The Group has developed education equipment products such as professional subject classroom 

by centering on the subject contents and classroom scenarios. It is the main operator of education 

informatized and education equipment products and services in Sichuan Province. At the same time, 

the Group’s businesses of labor and practice education services and teachers’ training services enjoy a 

branding strength in the regional market.

Supply chain capabilities. The Group possesses industry-specific supply chain service capabilities. 

Based on an Internet approach, it has established a collaborative trading platform for publications, 

empowering upstream publishing houses and workshops, as well as downstream bookstores and library 

book suppliers by providing the industry with comprehensive professional services encompassing data 

integration, marketing collaboration, and supply chain management. The Group has built a nationwide 

logistics service network anchored by four logistics bases in Chengdu, Sichuan; Wuxi, Jiangsu; Xiqing, 

Tianjin; and Qingyuan, Guangdong. With over 250,000 square meters of warehouse space under 

management and over 1,000 owned and collaborative vehicles, the Group offers logistics services 

encompassing nationwide distribution, regional transit, and city-wide delivery.

(VI) EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 June 2025, the Group had a total of 7,341 (31 December 2024: 7,531) employees.

The Company improves and optimizes its employee remuneration policies and remuneration management 

system continuously, by which it has established a results-oriented incentive mechanism that aligns 

employees’ remuneration to the Group’s development. The standard remuneration package of the 

Company includes basic salary, performance-based bonus, subsidies and benefits. Pensions, medical 

insurance, unemployment insurance, work injury insurance, maternity insurance and housing welfare 

funds, corporate annuity, etc. are available to the employees. For the six months ended 30 June 2025, the 

Company’s total post-retirement plan contributions and corporate annuity scheme contributions amounted 

to RMB127,630,100, representing an increase of RMB10,388,500 as compared with RMB117,241,600 in 

the Same Period of Last Year, mainly due to the natural increase of labor costs. Details of the schemes 

are set out in Note (VI) 27 to the consolidated financial statements in this interim report.
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Adhering to the human resources philosophy of “people-oriented”, the Group attaches great importance 

to and cares about the growth and development of employees, and continues to provide employees 

with learning and exchange opportunities. By carrying out targeted and wide-ranging training and 

external exchanges and learning, the Group helps employees enhance their professional knowledge 

and skill level. The Group continues to focus on the strategic goal of “high-quality development”. With 

discovery and selection as the premise, effective selection and use as the foundation, and education 

and training as the basis, the Group continues to deepen its talent development planning and system 

construction; strengthens talent selection and training, as well as talent introduction to build a well-

structured talent team; enhances the management level of existing cadres, strengthens the knowledge, 

skills and comprehensive quality training of employees, and drives business development through the 

improvement of talent capabilities and quality; and continuously improves the full-chain mechanism of 

selection, education and incentives to grow and progress together with employees.

(VII) POTENTIAL RISKS

Technical risk

As the trend of digitalized development deepens, iteration of technology in the fields of integrated 

publishing, smart education, AIGC, etc., accelerates, reshaping the publishing and distribution industry 

chains, bringing about unprecedented opportunities for industrial revolution and challenges to the 

integration and transformation of the Group in terms of contents and technologies. The Group will closely 

follow the development trend of the integration of culture and technology, further deepen technological 

innovation reforms, increase the intensity of new technological innovation and application, accelerate 

digitalized transformation, and vigorously develop new and quality publishing productivity.

Market risk

In recent years, the rapid development of emerging channels, coupled with rising consumer demand for 

diversified knowledge services and immersive interactive experiences, has placed higher requirements 

on the content production and channel expansion capabilities of the publishing industry. The Group 

will innovate content presentation formats, develop diversified content products, optimize its emerging 

channel layout, and focus on improving content production and service delivery, thereby continuously 

enhancing its market competitiveness and risk management capabilities.

Policy risk

Adjustments to industry and education policies will impact the industry’s operating environment and 

market competition. Failure to promptly adjust product mix and expand service offerings will make it 

difficult to adapt to market changes and business development. The Group will closely monitor relevant 

policy developments, strengthen relevant work and measures, and promptly adjust its operating strategy 

to build a high-quality product and service system.
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(VIII) USE OF PROCEEDS

In August 2016, the Company issued 98,710,000 RMB-denominated ordinary shares (A shares) at an 

issue price of RMB7.12 per share through its initial public offering on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. The 

total proceeds raised amounted to RMB702,815,200. After deducting the issuance expenses, the net 

proceeds actually raised by the Company amounted to RMB645,175,100, which were mainly used for 

the Group’s education cloud service platform, construction of logistics network in the western region, 

upgrade and expansion of retail stores, construction and upgrade of ERP and publications regarding 

the revival of the Chinese culture, etc. In the first half of 2025, the Group utilized RMB508,835.49 of the 

proceeds. As of 30 June 2025, the accumulated use of proceeds amounted to RMB641,289,664.25. 

The balance of the unutilized proceeds amounted to RMB5,827,040.63, which is detailed as follows:

RMB

Committed investment projects
Committed 

total investment

Amount invested 
during the 

Reporting Period

Accumulated 
investment 

amount as at 
the end of the 

Reporting Period
Unutilized 

amount

Consistent 
with the 
planned use 
as disclosed 
or not

Expected 
timetable 
of utilizing 
the unutilized 
proceeds

       

1. Education cloud service platform 
project (Note 1)

200,000,000.00 – 200,247,762.29 – yes –

2. Construction and upgrade of ERP 
project (Note 1)

35,175,098.06 – 35,602,525.95 – yes –

3. Publications regarding the revival of 
the Chinese culture project (Note 2)

10,179,045.28 508,835.49 4,355,744.21 5,827,040.63 yes Note 3

4. Upgrade and expansion of retail stores 
project (Note 1)

100,000,000.00 – 100,448,421.73 – yes –

5. Construction of logistics network in 
the western region project (Note 1)

300,000,000.00 – 300,635,210.07 – yes –
    

Total 645,354,143.34 508,835.49 641,289,664.25 5,827,040.63
    

Notes:

1. The accumulated investment amounts of projects were greater than the total investment amounts committed by the proceeds 

because the accumulated investment amounts included the principal amount of the proceeds and the interest generated from 

the proceeds.

2. A new special account was opened for “Publications regarding the revival of the Chinese culture project” after changes in its 

content. The committed total investment of the project was based on the bank settlement amount on the transfer date.

3. The expected timeline for utilizing the unutilized proceeds is based on the Company’s consideration on the future market 

conditions and development of projects.

During the Reporting Period, there is no change in the intended use of proceeds of the Group.
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INTERESTS IN SHARE CAPITAL

As at 30 June 2025, the total issued share capital of the Company was RMB1,233,841,000, divided into 

1,233,841,000 shares of RMB1.00 each as follows:

Shareholding details as at 30 June 2025:

Class of shares

Number

of shares

Approximate

percentage

of issued

share capital of

the Company*
   

A Shares 791,903,900 64.18%

 including

 (i) Sichuan Xinhua Publishing and Distribution Group (Note 1) 400,843,465 32.49%

 (ii) Sichuan Cultural Investment Group (Note 2) 222,539,005 18.04%

 (iii) Hua Sheng Group (Note 3) 53,336,000 4.32%

 (iv) Sichuan Daily Newspaper Group (Note 2) 9,264,513 0.75%

 (v) Liaoning Publication Group (Note 2) 6,485,160 0.53%

 (vi) A Share public investors 99,435,757 8.06%

H Shares 441,937,100 35.82%

 including

 (i) Sichuan Xinhua Publishing and Distribution Group (Note 4) 90,780,000 7.36%

 (ii) Sichuan Cultural Investment Group (Note 5) 6,396,000 0.52%

 (iii) H Share public investors 344,761,100 27.94%
   

Total Share Capital 1,233,841,000 100%
   

* The difference in the decimal places in the sum of percentages of total issued share capital is due to rounding.

Notes:

1. Sichuan Xinhua Publishing and Distribution Group, the controlling shareholder of the Company, is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sichuan 

Development. The de facto controller of Sichuan Development is SASAC of Sichuan.

2. Sichuan Cultural Investment Group, Sichuan Daily Newspaper Group and Liaoning Publication Group are the other promoters. 6,485,160 

A Shares of the Company are held by Liaoning Publication Group through its subsidiary.

3. Social Legal Person Shares are held by Hua Sheng Group, a promoter of the Company.

4. 90,780,000 H Shares of the Company are held by Sichuan Xinhua Publishing and Distribution Group, a controlling shareholder of the 

Company, directly and indirectly through its subsidiary.

5. Sichuan Cultural Investment Group, a promoter of the Company, is interested in 6,396,000 H Shares of the Company through its 

subsidiary.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND 
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 30 June 2025, so far as is known to the Directors and Supervisors of the Company, the following persons 

(not being Directors, Supervisors or senior management of the Company) had, or were deemed to have interests 

or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company which were required, pursuant 

to section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the register required to be kept by the Company referred to therein:

Name of shareholder

Number

of shares

directly and

indirectly held Capacity

Class of

shares

Approximate

percentage

in the

relevant

class of

shares

Approximate

percentage

of total

issued share

capital of the

Company*

Long position/

short position
       

Sichuan Development 623,382,470 Interests in controlled 

 corporation

A Shares 78.72% 50.52% Long position

97,176,000 

(Note 1)

Interests in controlled 

 corporation

H Shares 21.99% 7.88% Long position

Sichuan Xinhua Publishing 

 and Distribution Group

400,843,465 Beneficial owner A Shares 50.62% 32.49% Long position

90,780,000 

(Note 2)

Interests in controlled 

 corporation/

 beneficial owner

H Shares 20.54% 7.36% Long position

Sichuan Culture Investment 

 Group

222,539,005 Beneficial owner A Shares 28.10% 18.04% Long position

6,396,000 Beneficial owner H Shares 1.45% 0.52% Long position

Hua Sheng Group 53,336,000 

(Note 3)

Beneficial owner A Shares 6.74% 4.32% Long position

Wu Wenqian 53,336,000 

(Note 3)

Interests in controlled 

 corporation

A Shares 6.74% 4.32% Long position

Beijing Maple Spring Investment 

 Management Co., Ltd.*

40,053,000 

(Note 4)

Interests in controlled 

 corporation

H Shares 9.06% 3.25% Long position

Chen Zheng* 40,053,000 

(Note 4)

Interests in controlled 

 corporation

H Shares 9.06% 3.25% Long position

* The information of H Shares is sourced from the “Disclosure of Interests” form filed on the website of the Stock Exchange.

*  The difference in the decimal places in the sum of percentages of total issued share capital of A Shares of the Company held by Sichuan 

Development, Sichuan Xinhua Publishing and Distribution Group and Sichuan Cultural Investment Group is due to rounding.
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Notes:

1. Sichuan Development is the controlling shareholder of Sichuan Xinhua Publishing and Distribution Group and Sichuan Cultural Investment 

Group. According to the SFO, Sichuan Development is deemed to (i) indirectly hold 400,843,465 A Shares of the Company through 

Sichuan Xinhua Publishing and Distribution Group and 222,539,005 A Shares of the Company through Sichuan Cultural Investment 

Group, totalling 623,382,470 A Shares; and (ii) indirectly hold 90,780,000 H Shares of the Company through Sichuan Xinhua Publishing 

and Distribution Group and 6,396,000 H Shares of the Company through Sichuan Cultural Investment Group, totalling 97,176,000 H 

Shares.

2. Sichuan Xinhua Publishing and Distribution Group directly and through its wholly-owned subsidiary Shudian Investment Co., Ltd. 

indirectly holds 90,780,000 H Shares of the Company. Sichuan Xinhua Publishing and Distribution Group directly holds 400,843,465 

A Shares of the Company.

3. Ms. Wu Wenqian is directly interested in 95% equity interests in Hua Sheng Group. Accordingly, Ms. Wu Wenqian is deemed to hold 

53,336,000 A Shares of the Company through Hua Sheng Group.

4. Chen Zheng is indirectly interested in 90% equity interests in Beijing Maple Spring Investment Management Co., Ltd. Accordingly, Chen 

Zheng is deemed to hold 40,053,000 H Shares of the Company through Beijing Maple Spring Investment Management Co., Ltd.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2025, so far as is known to the Directors and Supervisors, no other 

person (not being a Director, Supervisor or senior management of the Company) had any interest and short 

position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company which were required, pursuant to 

section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the register required to be kept by the Company referred to therein.

Apart from (i) Mr. Zhou Qing, the chairman of the Company, who is the party committee secretary and chairman 

of Sichuan Xinhua Publishing and Distribution Group; (ii) Mr. Liu Longzhang, the vice chairman of the Company, 

who is the deputy party secretary, vice chairman and general manager of Sichuan Xinhua Publishing and 

Distribution Group; (iii) Mr. Ke Jiming, the non-executive Director of the Company, who is a member of the 

party committee and deputy general manager of Sichuan Xinhua Publishing and Distribution Group; (iv) Mr. 

Dai Weidong, the non-executive Director of the Company, who is the deputy party secretary, vice chairman 

and general manager of Sichuan Culture Investment Group; (v) Ms. Tan Ao, the non-executive Director of the 

Company, who is the assistant to general manager of Sichuan Culture Investment Group; (vi) Mr. Qiu Ming, the 

chairman of the Supervisory Committee, who is the director of finance department of Sichuan Culture Investment 

Group; and (vii) Mr. Xue Feng, a Supervisor, who is a supervisor and fund manager of Hua Sheng Group, as 

at 30 June 2025, none of the Directors and Supervisors of the Company held any positions as directors or 

employed as employees in any company having interests or short positions which would fall to be disclosed to 

the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND 
CHIEF EXECUTIVES IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES 
OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

So far as is known to the Directors, as at 30 June 2025, none of the Directors, Supervisors and chief executives 

of the Company had any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company 

or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required, pursuant 

to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register required to be kept by the Company, or which were 

required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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CHANGE OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

During the Period and up to the date of this interim report, there were no changes relating to the Directors, 

Supervisors and senior management of the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE 
COMPANY

During the Period, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the 

Company’s listed securities (including disposal of treasury stocks).

SHARE APPRECIATION RIGHT INCENTIVE SCHEME

During the Period, the Company did not adopt any share appreciation right incentive scheme.

MATERIAL LITIGATION AND ARBITRATION

During the Period, the Company was not involved in any litigation, arbitration or claims of material importance 

and there was no litigation or claim of material importance which was known to the Directors to be pending or 

threatened by or against the Company.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CG CODE

The Directors are of the view that, during the Period, the Company has adopted and complied with the principles 

and the code provisions of the CG Code, except the deviation from code provision B.2.2.

According to code provision B.2.2, each director (including directors with a specific service term) shall take 

turns to resign, at least once every three years. The service term of the Company’s fifth session of the Board of 

Directors and the Supervisory Committee expired on 23 January 2025. Since the nomination work for Director 

and Supervisor candidates has not yet been completed, the election and appointment of the Board of Directors, 

the Supervisory Committee, and the special committees under the Board of Directors will be postponed. In 

order to ensure continuity and stability of the work of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Committee, 

the terms of the Directors and the Supervisors of the Company will also be extended correspondingly. The 

Company will proceed with the work related to the change of session as soon as practicable. Please refer to 

the announcement of the Company dated 23 January 2025 for details.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS 
BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED ISSUERS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct for securities transactions by the Directors 

and Supervisors, for the purpose of regulating securities transactions by the Directors and Supervisors. Having 

made specific enquiries to each Director and Supervisor, all Directors and Supervisors confirmed that they have 

complied with the provisions as set out in the Model Code throughout the Period. So far as the Company is 

aware, there was no violation by any Directors or Supervisors during the Period.

INTERIM DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended the payment of an interim dividend by the Company for the six months ended 30 

June 2025 of RMB0.19 (tax inclusive) per share, totaling RMB234,429,790 (tax inclusive). Dividends payable to A 

Shareholders will be declared and paid in RMB, whereas dividends payable to H Shareholders will be declared in 

RMB and payable in Hong Kong dollars, the exchange rate of which would be calculated based on the average 

exchange rate published by the People’s Bank of China during the week preceding the 2025 First EGM.
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In accordance with the “Enterprise Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China” and its implementation 

regulations, where a PRC domestic enterprise distributes dividends to non-resident enterprise shareholders, it 

is required to withhold 10% enterprise income tax for such non-resident enterprise shareholders. Therefore, as 

a PRC domestic enterprise, the Company will, after withholding 10% of the dividend as enterprise income tax, 

distribute the dividend to non-resident enterprise Shareholders, i.e., any Shareholders who hold the Company’s 

shares in the name of non-individual Shareholders, including but not limited to HKSCC Nominees Limited, other 

nominees, trustees, or holders of H shares registered in the name of other groups and organizations.

Pursuant to the letter titled the “Tax arrangements on dividends paid to Hong Kong residents by mainland 

companies” issued by the Stock Exchange to the issuers on 4 July 2011 and the “State Taxation Administration 

Notice on Matters Concerning the Levy and Administration of Individual Income Tax After the Repeal of Guo 

Shui Fa [1993] No. 045” (Guo Shui Han [2011] No. 348), it is confirmed that the overseas resident individual 

shareholders holding the stocks issued by domestic non-foreign invested enterprises in Hong Kong are 

entitled to the relevant preferential tax treatment pursuant to the provisions in the tax arrangements between 

the countries where they reside and China or the tax arrangements between mainland China and Hong Kong 

(Macau). Therefore, the Company will withhold 10% of the dividend as individual income tax, unless it is otherwise 

specified by the relevant tax regulations and tax agreements, in which case the Company will withhold individual 

income tax of such dividends in accordance with the tax rates and according to the relevant procedures as 

specified by the relevant regulations.

The proposed Interim Dividend for 2025 is subject to the approval by the Shareholders at the forthcoming 2025 

First EGM of the Company. In order to ascertain the Shareholders who are entitled to attend the 2025 First 

EGM and to receive the Interim Dividend for 2025 (if approved by the Shareholders), the register of members 

for H Shares will be closed by the Company during the following periods:

To ascertain the H Shareholders who are qualified to attend and vote at the 2025 First EGM:

Latest time for lodging transfers of H Shares 4:30 p.m., Monday, 22 September 2025

Closure of register of members for H Shares from Tuesday, 23 September 2025 to Thursday, 23 

 October 2025 (both days inclusive)

Record date Thursday, 23 October 2025

Date for holding the EGM Thursday, 23 October 2025

To ascertain the H Shareholders who are entitled to the proposed Interim Dividend for 2025:

Latest time for lodging transfers of H Shares 4:30 p.m., Tuesday, 28 October 2025

Closure of register of members for H Shares From Thursday, 30 October 2025 to Tuesday, 4 November 

 2025 (both days inclusive)

Record date Tuesday, 4 November 2025

Dividend Entitlement Date Tuesday, 4 November 2025

In order for the H Shareholders to qualify to attend and vote at the EGM and to receive the Interim Dividend 

for 2025 (if approved by the Shareholders) proposed by the Company, all transfer documents accompanied 

by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s H share registrar, Computershare Hong 

Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, 

Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration before the abovementioned deadlines for lodging the transfer documents.
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H Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the Company on Thursday, 23 October 

2025 are entitled to attend and vote at the 2025 First EGM. H Shareholders whose names appear on the register 

of members of the Company on the Dividend Entitlement Date are entitled to the Interim Dividend for 2025 of 

the Company (if approved by the Shareholders). The Interim Dividend for 2025 will be paid on or before 23 

December 2025 (if approved by the Shareholders).

H Shareholders are advised to consult their own professional advisers about the tax effect in China, Hong Kong 

and/or other countries (regions) in respect of owning and disposal of H Shares if they are in any doubt as to 

the above arrangements.

Shareholders should read this paragraph carefully. Should there be anyone who intends to change his/her 

identity as a Shareholder, please seek advice on the relevant procedures from the nominees or trustees. The 

Company is neither obliged nor responsible for ascertaining the identities of the Shareholders. In addition, the 

Company will withhold enterprise income tax and individual income tax in strict compliance with the relevant 

laws or regulations and the registered information on the H share register of members as at the Dividend 

Entitlement Date, and will not entertain or assume responsibility for any requests or claims in relation to any 

delay or inaccuracies in ascertaining the identity of the Shareholders or any disputes over the arrangements for 

withholding the enterprise income tax and individual income tax.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

At the Board meeting held on 27 August 2025, the profit distribution plan for the interim period of 2025 was 

passed under which the undistributed profit for the interim period of 2025 will be distributed at the price of 

RMB0.19 (tax inclusive) per share and the proposed dividend amounted to RMB234,429,790 (tax inclusive). 

The resolution shall take effect upon obtaining approval at the 2025 First EGM of the Company. Apart from this, 

there were no material events of the Group after the Period.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee in compliance with the requirements under Rules 3.21 and 

3.22 of the Listing Rules with specific written terms of reference.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s unaudited consolidated financial statements for the six months 

ended 30 June 2025 included in this interim report and has communicated and discussed the financial reporting 

issues of the Group with the management of the Company. The Audit Committee confirmed that the interim 

financial report of the Group has been prepared in accordance with the applicable accounting standards and 

requirements and has made appropriate disclosures accordingly.

By Order of the Board

XINHUA WINSHARE PUBLISHING AND MEDIA CO., LTD.*

Zhou Qing

Chairman

Sichuan, the PRC, 27 August 2025

* For identification purposes only
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RMB

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Notes (Unaudited)
    

Assets

Current Assets:

Cash and bank balances VI 1 9,218,486,224.10 9,179,678,124.68

Held-for-trading financial assets 38,588.12 60,122.67

Notes receivable VI 2 – 933,791.30

Accounts receivable VI 3 1,715,621,727.96 1,526,810,256.53

Financing receivables VI 4 12,315,749.24 15,232,141.87

Prepayments VI 5 92,211,362.91 64,815,102.00

Other receivables VI 6 272,642,132.02 261,437,606.97

 Including: Interests receivable – –

Dividends receivable VI 6.2 83,852,000.00 1,578,000.00

Inventories VI 7 2,403,626,591.70 2,422,588,723.48

Contract assets VI 8 11,176,898.51 5,584,567.76

Non-current assets due within one year VI 10 37,129,860.39 49,263,308.47

Other current assets VI 9 68,714,312.00 77,116,925.26
    

Total Current Assets 13,831,963,446.95 13,603,520,670.99
    

Non-current Assets:

Long-term receivables VI 10 25,181,655.22 39,192,878.89

Long-term equity investments VI 11 821,556,725.57 806,322,100.70

Other equity instrument investment VI 12 2,459,666,593.81 2,284,471,141.07

Other non-current financial assets VI 13 444,476,195.46 422,828,090.06

Investment properties VI 14 76,819,420.73 76,601,687.11

Fixed assets VI 15 2,323,313,702.84 2,359,715,499.52

Construction in progress VI 16 82,938,607.52 73,670,872.15

Right-of-use assets VI 17 366,181,153.81 234,572,966.34

Intangible assets VI 18 320,569,759.43 336,018,285.26

Development cost 6,575,706.77 3,745,447.13

Goodwill VI 19 622,652,907.24 622,652,907.24

Long-term prepaid expenses VI 20 26,651,544.00 26,459,764.43

Deferred income tax assets VI 21 7,216,320.41 7,215,301.85

Other non-current assets VI 22 2,146,523,233.04 2,001,715,747.53
    

Total Non-current Assets 9,730,323,525.85 9,295,182,689.28
    

TOTAL ASSETS 23,562,286,972.80 22,898,703,360.27
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RMB

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Notes (Unaudited)
    

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity

Current Liabilities:

Short-term borrowings VI 23 10,000,000.00 10,000,000.00

Notes payable VI 24 73,800.00 4,486,667.50

Accounts payable VI 25 5,473,912,834.32 5,453,032,475.59

Advance receipts 1,912,069.75 1,662,994.41

Contract liabilities VI 26 584,451,858.75 603,867,865.69

Employee benefits payable VI 27 738,665,959.09 908,819,864.44

Taxes payable VI 28 24,939,247.31 42,024,302.50

Other payables VI 29 480,994,484.41 308,454,407.85

 Including: Interests payable – –

Dividends payable VI 29.2 181,194,211.00 –

Non-current liabilities due within one year VI 31 82,030,271.59 76,862,500.83

Other current liabilities VI 30 161,944,221.76 184,325,801.95
    

Total Current Liabilities 7,558,924,746.98 7,593,536,880.76
    

Non-current Liabilities:

Lease liabilities VI 31 304,897,700.10 179,938,995.53

Deferred income VI 32 54,214,950.11 53,436,961.20

Deferred income tax liabilities VI 21 67,514,586.46 64,861,474.37
    

Total Non-current Liabilities 426,627,236.67 298,237,431.10
    

TOTAL LIABILITIES 7,985,551,983.65 7,891,774,311.86
    

Shareholders’ Equity:

Share capital VI 33 1,233,841,000.00 1,233,841,000.00

Capital reserve VI 34 2,524,643,969.45 2,524,643,969.45

Other comprehensive income VI 35 2,031,229,172.65 1,855,336,515.47

Surplus reserve VI 36 1,431,148,312.43 1,431,148,312.43

Undistributed profits VI 37 7,911,908,935.00 7,561,485,821.67

Total Shareholder’s Equity Attributable to 

the Parent Company 15,132,771,389.53 14,606,455,619.02

Non-controlling Interests 443,963,599.62 400,473,429.39

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 15,576,734,989.15 15,006,929,048.41
    

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ 

EQUITY 23,562,286,972.80 22,898,703,360.27
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This financial statement was approved by the Board on 27 August 2025.

The financial statements on pages 34 to 48 were signed by the following:

Zhou Qing Xu Yongping He Xiaomao

Legal Representative Chief Accountant Person in Charge of the

Accounting Body

The notes to the financial statements on pages 49 to 211 form part of the financial statements.
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RMB

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Notes (Unaudited)
    

Assets

Current Assets:

Cash and bank balances 7,730,402,282.78 7,953,370,298.61

Held-for-trading financial assets 38,588.12 60,122.67

Accounts receivable XVII 1 827,385,676.88 666,320,922.00

Prepayments 13,724,122.50 10,551,644.13

Other receivables XVII 2 752,942,591.39 699,911,434.93

 Including: Interests receivable – –

Dividends receivable 83,744,000.00 1,470,000.00

Inventories 437,990,480.86 801,196,346.11

Contract assets 7,572,298.26 3,047,256.75

Non-current liabilities due within one year 11,358,767.20 11,322,671.48

Other current assets 64,616,804.60 83,276,464.07
    

Total Current Assets 9,846,031,612.59 10,229,057,160.75
    

Non-current Assets:

Long-term receivables 7,726,962.18 11,425,428.80

Long-term equity investments XVII 3 4,598,090,551.17 4,571,711,326.58

Other equity instrument investment 2,459,291,200.00 2,283,657,600.00

Other non-current financial assets 91,178,501.07 95,689,805.76

Investment properties 12,272,804.90 12,653,687.94

Fixed assets 1,677,950,126.58 1,727,692,616.16

Construction in progress 3,311,372.47 1,657,461.28

Right-of-use assets 356,770,526.04 225,900,611.30

Intangible assets 129,160,308.00 133,412,623.66

Development cost 1,297,712.47 –

Long-term prepaid expenses 14,193,343.55 16,939,113.41

Other non-current assets 1,929,888,546.76 1,376,213,196.47
Other non-current assets  1,929,888,546.76 1,376,213,196.47

Total Non-current Assets 11,281,131,955.19 10,456,953,471.36
    

TOTAL ASSETS 21,127,163,567.78 20,686,010,632.11
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RMB

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Notes (Unaudited)
    

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity

Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable 4,185,487,777.08 4,169,760,017.21

Contract liabilities 341,875,491.06 365,383,734.97

Employee benefits payable 510,231,368.54 636,144,582.09

Taxes payable 1,272,249.52 5,627,635.13

Other payables 2,263,745,193.95 1,985,180,288.48

 Including: Interests payable – –

Dividends payable 181,194,211.00 –

Non-current liabilities due within one year 78,737,590.89 75,317,677.21

Other current liabilities 64,708,984.09 78,112,900.65
    

Total Current Liabilities 7,446,058,655.13 7,315,526,835.74
    

Non-current Liabilities:

Lease liabilities 296,706,832.71 170,709,453.51

Deferred income 3,972,984.35 5,882,147.83

Deferred income tax liabilities – –
    

Total Non-current Liabilities 300,679,817.06 176,591,601.34
    

TOTAL LIABILITIES 7,746,738,472.19 7,492,118,437.08
    

Shareholders’ Equity:

Share capital 1,233,841,000.00 1,233,841,000.00

Capital reserve 2,631,057,328.10 2,631,057,328.10

Other comprehensive income 2,032,875,872.00 1,857,242,272.00

Surplus reserve 1,430,313,562.30 1,430,313,562.30

Undistributed profits 6,052,337,333.19 6,041,438,032.63
    

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 13,380,425,095.59 13,193,892,195.03
    

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ 

EQUITY 21,127,163,567.78 20,686,010,632.11
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RMB

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2025

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2024

Notes (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
    

I. Operating income VI 38 5,527,429,426.93 5,787,816,275.71

Less: Operating costs VI 38 3,368,865,598.71 3,562,042,236.10

Taxes and surcharges VI 39 24,256,777.88 25,551,756.04

Selling expenses VI 40 698,894,015.13 715,635,380.70

Administrative expenses VI 41 748,557,863.43 749,109,877.40

Research and development expenditure 14,110,458.81 9,364,568.90

Finance expenses VI 42 (69,213,459.70) (85,134,627.74)

Including: Interest expense 7,772,317.93 6,676,754.64

Interest income 77,881,033.30 96,383,472.12

Add: Other income VI 43 48,168,005.53 30,047,532.36

Investment income (loss) VI 44 102,176,132.12 122,750,749.47

Including: Income from investments in 

associates and joint ventures 18,119,131.91 9,268,834.02

Gains (losses) from changes in fair values VI 45 10,859,065.07 (36,709,633.98)

Gains (losses) on credit impairment VI 46 48,695,138.39 (46,035,808.57)

Impairment gains (losses) of assets VI 47 (41,270,639.32) (21,027,688.19)

Gains (losses) from disposal of assets VI 48 (174,288.09) 1,128,329.57

II. Operating profit 910,411,586.37 861,400,564.97

Add: Non-operating income VI 49 2,923,519.65 1,050,289.04

Less: Non-operating expenses VI 50 5,862,111.54 14,181,642.72

III. Total profit 907,472,994.48 848,269,211.29

Less: Income tax expenses VI 51 7,438,067.33 95,920,622.56

IV. Net profit 900,034,927.15 752,348,588.73

(I) Categorized by the nature of continuing 

operation:

1. Net profit from continuing operations 900,034,927.15 752,348,588.73

2. Net profit from discontinued operations – –

(II) Categorized by ownership:

1. Net profit attributable to shareholders 

of the parent company 856,544,756.92 715,785,632.02

2. Profit or loss attributable to non-

controlling interests 43,490,170.23 36,562,956.71
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Consolidated Income Statement (continued)

RMB

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2025

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2024

Notes (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
    

V. Other comprehensive income, net of tax VI 35 175,645,823.59 264,840,893.92

(I) Other comprehensive income attributable to 

shareholders of the parent company, net of 

tax 175,645,823.59 264,840,893.92

1. Other comprehensive income not 

reclassified to profit or loss 175,645,823.59 264,840,893.92

(1) Changes in other equity instrument 

investment at fair value 175,645,823.59 264,840,893.92

(II) Other comprehensive income attributable to 

non-controlling shareholders, net of tax – –

VI. Total comprehensive income 1,075,680,750.74 1,017,189,482.65

(I) Total comprehensive income attributable to 

shareholders of the parent company 1,032,190,580.51 980,626,525.94

(II) Total comprehensive income attributable to 

non-controlling shareholders 43,490,170.23 36,562,956.71

VII. Earnings per share:

(I) Basic earnings per share (RMB/share) VI 52 0.69 0.58

(II) Diluted earnings per share (RMB/share) VI 52 0.69 0.58
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For the period from 1 January to 30 June 2025

RMB

Notes

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2024

(Unaudited)
    

I. Operating income XVII 4 3,362,059,883.49 3,540,107,821.86

Less: Operating costs XVII 4 1,974,422,649.85 2,076,632,588.17

Taxes and surcharges 12,515,864.61 12,137,592.80

Selling expenses 453,226,596.10 450,823,673.94

Administrative expenses 566,738,806.91 576,822,694.29

Research and development expenses 5,398,048.09 2,659,488.51

Finance expenses (34,481,057.25) (52,360,486.21)

Including: Interest expenses 24,686,958.44 19,850,963.32

Interest income 59,495,591.13 74,615,408.11

Add: Other income 3,566,163.67 14,142,204.26

Investment income (loss) XVII 5 110,430,639.40 114,644,486.46

Including: Gains from investments in 

associates and joint 

ventures 17,356,524.59 10,184,342.42

Gains (losses) from changes in fair values (1,393,035.19) (14,288,552.52)

Gains (losses) on credit impairment 38,586,472.89 (28,971,437.87)

Impairment gains (losses) of assets (15,049,002.80) 1,774,726.64

Gains (losses) from disposal of assets (179,292.45) 320,694.81

II. Operating profit 520,200,920.70 561,014,392.14

Add: Non-operating income 2,301,076.88 258,092.95

Less: Non-operating expenses 5,727,887.02 12,742,504.60

III. Total profit 516,774,110.56 548,529,980.49

Less: Income tax expenses – 65,508,419.97

IV. Net profit 516,774,110.56 483,021,560.52

(I) Net profit from continuing operations 516,774,110.56 483,021,560.52

(II) Net profit from discontinued operations – –
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The Parent Company’s Income Statement (continued)

RMB

Notes

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2024

(Unaudited)
    

V. Other comprehensive income, net of tax 175,633,600.00 265,121,120.00

(I) Other comprehensive income not 

reclassified to profit or loss 175,633,600.00 265,121,120.00

1. Changes in other equity instrument 

investment at fair value 175,633,600.00 265,121,120.00

(II) Other comprehensive income that will be 

reclassified to profit or loss – –

VI. Total comprehensive income 692,407,710.56 748,142,680.52
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
For the period from 1 January to 30 June 2025

RMB

Notes

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2024

(Unaudited)
    

I. Cash Flows from Operating Activities:

Cash receipts from the sale of goods and 

the rendering of services 5,643,552,191.71 5,651,423,761.49

Receipts of tax refunds 130,410,433.07 345,661.34

Other cash receipts relating to operating 

activities VI 53(1) 92,977,338.71 124,546,020.34

Sub-total of cash inflows from operating 

activities 5,866,939,963.49 5,776,315,443.17

Cash payments for goods purchased and 

services received 3,590,126,575.09 3,573,152,395.16

Cash payments to and on behalf of 

employees 1,194,072,523.09 1,207,126,877.24

Payments of various types of taxes 88,806,329.48 152,493,658.24

Other cash payments relating to operating 

activities VI 53(2) 373,204,642.79 463,705,155.43

Sub-total of cash outflows from operating 

activities 5,246,210,070.45 5,396,478,086.07

Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities VI 54(1) 620,729,893.04 379,837,357.10

II. Cash Flows from Investing Activities:

Cash receipts from recovery of investments 29,237,196.19 913,990.81

Cash receipts from investment income 9,885,092.44 36,052,500.00

Net cash receipts from disposals of fixed 

assets, intangible assets and other long-

term assets 4,868,546.63 1,984,932.52

Other cash receipts relating to investing 

activities VI 53(4) 60,000,000.00 300,000,000.00

Sub-total of cash inflows from investing 

activities 103,990,835.26 338,951,423.33

Cash payments to acquire or construct fixed 

assets, intangible assets and other long-

term assets 58,510,167.00 51,536,468.46

Cash payments to acquire investments VI 53(3) 50,132,664.02 211,558,436.79

Other cash payments relating to investing 

activities VI 53(5) 748,741,826.49 810,000,000.00

Sub-total of cash outflows from investing 

activities 857,384,657.51 1,073,094,905.25

Net Cash Flow from Investing Activities (753,393,822.25) (734,143,481.92)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (continued)

RMB

Notes

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2024

(Unaudited)
    

III. Cash Flows from Financing Activities:

Cash payments for distribution of dividends, 

profit or settlement of interest expenses 324,851,098.98 539,028,314.99

 Including: Payments for distribution 

      of dividends, profit to 

      non-controlling shareholders of 

      subsidiaries – –

Other cash payments relating to financing 

activities VI 53(6) 52,767,334.80 40,143,238.36

Sub-total of cash outflows from financing 

activities 377,618,433.78 579,171,553.35

Net Cash Flow from Financing Activities (377,618,433.78) (579,171,553.35)

IV. Effect of Foreign Exchange Rate 

Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents – –

V. Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and 

Cash Equivalents VI 54(1) (510,282,362.99) (933,477,678.17)

Add: Opening balance of cash and cash 

equivalents VI 54(2) 8,962,582,856.29 9,078,342,824.79

VI. Closing Balance of Cash and Cash 

Equivalents VI 54(2) 8,452,300,493.30 8,144,865,146.62
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RMB

Notes

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2024

(Unaudited)
    

I. Cash Flows from Operating Activities:

Cash receipts from the sale of goods and 

the rendering of services 3,298,541,355.28 3,479,822,996.42

Receipts of tax refunds 87,852,580.06 –

Other cash receipts relating to operating 

activities 79,849,150.80 99,650,418.32

Sub-total of cash inflows from operating 

activities 3,466,243,086.14 3,579,473,414.74

Cash payments for goods purchased and 

services received 1,719,843,768.57 1,905,292,359.77

Cash payments to and on behalf of 

employees 815,609,705.39 845,050,846.46

Payments of various types of taxes 14,440,653.64 27,519,501.10

Other cash payments relating to operating 

activities 301,571,161.91 337,105,728.38

Sub-total of cash outflows from operating 

activities 2,851,465,289.51 3,114,968,435.71

Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities 614,777,796.63 464,504,979.03

II. Cash Flows from Investing Activities:

Cash receipts from recovery of investments 3,598,377.55 913,990.81

Cash receipts from investment income 6,795,000.00 24,090,000.00

Net cash receipts from disposals of fixed 

assets, intangible assets and other long-

term assets 4,837,575.43 461,283.17

Other cash receipts relating to investing 

activities 81,699,643.85 267,691,391.78

Sub-total of cash inflows from investing 

activities 96,930,596.83 293,156,665.76

Cash payments to acquire or construct fixed 

assets, intangible assets and other long-

term assets 24,499,411.94 20,500,552.24

Cash payments to acquire investments 132,664.02 231,558,436.79

Other cash payments relating to investing 

activities 783,564,159.82 600,000,000.00

Sub-total of cash outflows from investing 

activities 808,196,235.78 852,058,989.03

Net Cash Flow from Investing Activities (711,265,638.95) (558,902,323.27)
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The Parent Company’s Cash Flow Statement (continued)

RMB

Notes

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2024

(Unaudited)
    

III. Cash Flows from Financing Activities:

Other cash receipts relating to financing 

activities 220,000,000.00 53,000,000.00

Sub-total of cash inflows from financing 

activities 220,000,000.00 53,000,000.00

Cash payments for distribution of dividends, 

profit or settlement of interest expenses 333,891,476.34 547,049,547.89

Other cash payments relating to financing 

activities 163,552,874.27 124,051,262.58

Sub-total of cash outflows from financing 

activities 497,444,350.61 671,100,810.47

Net Cash Flow from Financing Activities (277,444,350.61) (618,100,810.47)

IV. Effect of Foreign Exchange Rate 

Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents – –

V. Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and 

Cash Equivalents (373,932,192.93) (712,498,154.71)

Add: Opening balance of cash and cash 

equivalents 7,885,627,651.03 7,780,441,095.55

VI. Closing Balance of Cash and Cash 

Equivalents 7,511,695,458.10 7,067,942,940.84
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
For the period from 1 January to 30 June 2025

RMB

For the period from 1 January to 30 June 2025 (Unaudited)

Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company
 

ITEM Share capital Capital reserve

Other

comprehensive

income Surplus reserve Retained profits

Non-controlling

interests

Total

shareholders’

equity
        

I. 1 January 2025 1,233,841,000.00 2,524,643,969.45 1,855,336,515.47 1,431,148,312.43 7,561,485,821.67 400,473,429.39 15,006,929,048.41

II. Changes in current period 

(decrease represented by “( )”)

(1) Total comprehensive 

income – – 175,645,823.59 – 856,544,756.92 43,490,170.23 1,075,680,750.74

(2) Profit distribution

1. Distributions to 

shareholders – – – – (505,874,810.00) – (505,874,810.00)

(3) Internal transfers of 

shareholders’ equity

1. Other comprehensive 

income transferred 

from retained profits – – 246,833.59 – (246,833.59) – –

III. 30 June 2025 (Unaudited) 1,233,841,000.00 2,524,643,969.45 2,031,229,172.65 1,431,148,312.43 7,911,908,935.00 443,963,599.62 15,576,734,989.15
        

RMB

For the period from 1 January to 30 June 2024 (Unaudited)

Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company
 

ITEM Share capital Capital reserve

Other

comprehensive

income Surplus reserve Retained profits

Non-controlling

interests

Total

shareholders’

equity
        

I. 1 January 2024 1,233,841,000.00 2,523,663,464.41 1,137,699,551.17 1,294,713,238.91 6,881,030,888.86 343,208,027.76 13,414,156,171.11

II. Changes in current period 

(decrease represented by “( )”)

(1) Total comprehensive 

income – – 264,840,893.92 – 715,785,632.02 36,562,956.71 1,017,189,482.65

(2) Profit distribution

1. Distributions to 

shareholders – – – – (493,536,400.00) – (493,536,400.00)

III. 30 June 2024 (Unaudited) 1,233,841,000.00 2,523,663,464.41 1,402,540,445.09 1,294,713,238.91 7,103,280,120.88 379,770,984.47 13,937,809,253.76
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The Parent Company’s Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
For the period from 1 January to 30 June 2025

RMB

For the period from 1 January to 30 June 2025 (Unaudited)

Item Share capital Capital reserve

Other

comprehensive

income Surplus reserve Retained profits

Total

shareholders’

equity
       

I. 1 January 2025 1,233,841,000.00 2,631,057,328.10 1,857,242,272.00 1,430,313,562.30 6,041,438,032.63 13,193,892,195.03

II. Changes in current period (decrease 

represented by “( )”)

(1) Total comprehensive income – – 175,633,600.00 – 516,774,110.56 692,407,710.56

(2) Profit distribution

1. Distributions to shareholders – – – – (505,874,810.00) (505,874,810.00)

III. 30 June 2025 1,233,841,000.00 2,631,057,328.10 2,032,875,872.00 1,430,313,562.30 6,052,337,333.19 13,380,425,095.59
       

RMB

For the period from 1 January to 30 June 2024 (Unaudited)

Item Share capital Capital reserve

Other

comprehensive

income Surplus reserve Retained profits

Total

shareholders’

equity
       

I. 1 January 2024 1,233,841,000.00 2,631,057,328.10 1,139,537,771.20 1,293,878,488.78 5,541,488,560.55 11,839,803,148.63

II. Changes in current period (decrease 

represented by “( )”)

(1) Total comprehensive income – – 265,121,120.00 – 483,021,560.52 748,142,680.52

(2) Profit distribution

1. Distributions to shareholders – – – – (493,536,400.00) (493,536,400.00)

III. 30 June 2024 1,233,841,000.00 2,631,057,328.10 1,404,658,891.20 1,293,878,488.78 5,530,973,721.07 12,094,409,429.15
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the period from 1 January to 30 June 2025

I BASIC INFORMATION ABOUT THE COMPANY

1 Company Overview

Upon approvals of Reply on State-owned Equity Management of Sichuan Xinhua Winshare Chain 
Co., Ltd. (Preparing for Establishment) (filed as Chuan Guo Zi Wei [2005] No. 81) issued by 
the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of Sichuan Province, and 
Reply on Incorporating Sichuan Xinhua Winshare Chain Co., Ltd. By Sichuan Provincial People’s 
Government (filed as Chuan Fu Han [2005] No. 69) issued by Sichuan Provincial People’s 
Government, Xinhua Winshare Publishing and Media Co., Ltd. (hereinafter referred to as the 
“Company”, originally known as Sichuan Xinhua Winshare Chain Co., Ltd.), collectively sponsored 
by Sichuan Xinhua Publishing and Distribution Group Co., Ltd. (hereinafter referred to as “Sichuan 
Xinhua Publishing and Distribution Group”), Chengdu Hua Sheng (Group) Industry Co., Ltd. 
(“Hua Sheng Group”), Sichuan Daily Newspaper Group Co., Ltd., Sichuan Cultural Industry 
Investment Group Co., Ltd. (hereinafter referred to as “Sichuan Cultural Investment Group”), 
Sichuan Youth and Children’s Publishing House Co., Ltd. (hereinafter referred to as “Youth and 
Children’s Publishing House”), and Liaoning Publication Group Co., Ltd., was incorporated 
on 11 June 2005 upon registration at Sichuan Provincial Administration for Market Regulation.

In accordance with resolutions made on 7th meeting of the second session of the Board of 
Directors meeting on 20 August 2010, the Company changed its name from Sichuan Xinhua 
Winshare Chain Co., Ltd. To Xinhua Winshare Publishing and Media Co., Ltd.

The Company publicly offered 401,761,000 shares of overseas listed foreign shares (including 
over-allotment) (“H Shares”) and was listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on 30 May 2007.

As approved by Reply on Approval of IPO of Xinhua Winshare Publishing and Media Co., Ltd. 
(filed as Zheng Jian Xu Ke [2016] No. 1544) issued by the CSRC, the Company publicly offered 
98,710,000 shares of RMB ordinary shares (“A Share”) to the public and was listed on the 
Shanghai Stock Exchange on 8 August 2016.

The legal representative of the Company is Mr. Zhou Qing. The registered address of the Company 
is Unit 1, Block 1, No. 238, Sanse Road, Jinjiang District, Chengdu, Sichuan Province. The 
headquarters of the Company is located at Unit 1, Block 1, No. 238, Sanse Road, Jinjiang District, 
Chengdu, Sichuan Province.

The Company and its subsidiaries (hereinafter referred to as the “Group”) are actually and mainly 
engaged in: sales of books, newspapers, journals, electronic publications; wholesale of audio-visual 
products (for exclusive purpose of chain store); manufacture of electronic publications and 
audio-visual products; production of audio tapes, video tapes; logistics; printing of publications, 
printed matters of package and decoration and other printed matters; plate-leased printing and 
supply of textbooks; investments in publications and assets management; leasing of properties; 
business services; wholesale and retail of goods; import and export business; education ancillary 
services; and catering business.

The parent company of the Company is Sichuan Xinhua Publishing and Distribution Group. The 
Company is de facto controlled by the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration 
Commission of Sichuan Province (“Sichuan SASAC”).

2 Date of approval of financial statements

The consolidated and the parent company’s financial statements were approved by the Board of 

the Company on 27 August 2025.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

II BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 Basis of preparation

The Group has adopted the Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises (“ASBE”) and relevant 

regulations issued by the Ministry of Finance (“MoF”). In addition, the Group has disclosed 

relevant financial information in accordance with Information Disclosure and Presentation Rules for 

Companies Offering Securities to the Public No. 15 – General Provisions on Financial Reporting 

(Revised in 2023), Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Rules Governing the Listing of Securities 

on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

2 Going concern

The Group assessed its ability to continue as a going concern for the 12 months subsequent to 

30 June 2025, and found no events or circumstances that may cast significant doubts upon it. 

Hence the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

3 Basis of accounting and principle of measurement

The Group has adopted the accrual basis of accounting. Except for certain financial instruments 

which are measured at fair value, the Group adopts the historical cost as the principle of 

measurement in the financial statements. Where assets are impaired, provisions for asset 

impairment are made in accordance with relevant requirements.

Where the historical cost is adopted as the measurement basis, assets are recorded at the amount 

of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the consideration given to acquire them at the 

time of their acquisition. Liabilities are recorded at the amount of proceeds or assets received or 

the contractual amounts for assuming the present obligation, or, at the amounts of cash or cash 

equivalents expected to be paid to settle the liabilities in the normal course of business.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 

orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Regardless of whether 

that fair value is directly observable or estimated using valuation technique, fair value measurement 

and disclosure purposes in the financial statements are determined on such a basis.

For financial assets with transaction prices as the fair value upon initial recognition and using 

valuation technique of unobservable inputs in the subsequent measurement at the fair value, the 

technique is adjusted during the valuation to match the initial recognition results determined with 

the transaction prices.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

II BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3 Basis of accounting and principle of measurement (Continued)

Fair value measurements are categorized into Level 1, 2 and 3 based on the degree to which the 

inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair 

value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date.

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are 

observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

III SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

1 Statement of compliance with the ASBE

The financial statements have been prepared by the Company in accordance with ASBE, and 

present truly and completely, the consolidated and the parent company’s financial position as at 30 

June 2025, and the consolidated and the parent company’s results of operations, the consolidated 

and the parent company’s statement of changes in shareholders’ equity and the consolidated and 

the parent company’s cash flows for the period from 1 January to 30 June 2025.

2 Accounting period

The Group has adopted the western calendar year as its accounting year, i.e. from 1 January to 

31 December.

3 Operating cycle

An operating cycle refers to the period since when an enterprise purchases assets for processing 

purpose until the realization of those assets in cash or cash equivalents. The Group’s operating 

cycle is 12 months.

4 Functional currency

Renminbi (“RMB”) is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Group 

operates. Therefore, the Group chooses RMB as its functional currency. The Company adopts 

RMB to prepare its financial statements.
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III SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 
(Continued)

5 Determination method and selection basis of materiality standards

Item Materiality standard

Material accounts receivable The amount of a single item of accounts receivable 

accounts for more than 10% of the carrying balance 

of corresponding accounts receivable and the amount 

is greater than RMB10 million

Material recovery or reversal of 

credit loss provision for accounts 

receivable

The amount of a single item of recovery or reversal 

accounts for more than 10% of the carrying balance 

of corresponding accounts receivable and the amount 

is greater than RMB10 million

Material writing off of accounts 

receivable

The amount of a single item of writing off accounts for 

more than 10% of the total amount of credit loss 

provision for corresponding accounts receivable and 

the amount is greater than RMB10 million

Material changes of carrying value of 

contract assets

The amount of a single change in carrying value of 

contract assets accounts for more than 30% of the 

opening balance of contract assets and the amount is 

greater than RMB10 million

Material non-wholly owned 

subsidiaries

The net asset of a non-wholly owned subsidiary accounts 

for more than 5% of the net asset of the Group, or the 

operating income accounts for more than 10% of the 

operating income of the Group

Material accounts payable The amount of a single item of accounts payable 

accounts for more than 10% of the carrying balance 

of corresponding accounts payable and the amount is 

greater than RMB10 million

Material research and development 

projects capitalized

The aggregated capitalization of a single item is greater 

than RMB10 million

Material cash in relation to investing 

activities

The amount of a single investing activity accounts for 

more than 10% of the total cash inflow or outflow for 

corresponding investing activities and the amount is 

greater than RMB100 million

Material activities that do not involve 

cash receipts and payments in 

the current period but affect the 

Company’s financial position or 

may affect the Company’s cash 

flow in the future

The activity does not involve cash receipts and payments 

in the current period but affects the net asset in the 

current period by more than 10%, or is expected to 

affect the Company’s cash flow by more than RMB100 

million in the future

Material joint ventures and associates The carrying amount of long-term equity investment of 

a single investee accounts for more than 5% of the 

net assets and the investment income of such single 

investee recognized under the equity method accounts 

for more than 1% of the total profit
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6 The accounting treatment of business combinations involving enterprises under common 

control and business combinations not involving enterprises under common control

Business combinations are classified into business combinations involving enterprises under 

common control and business combinations not involving enterprises under common control.

6.1 Business combinations involving enterprises under common control

A business combination involving enterprises under common control is a business 

combination in which all of the combining enterprises are ultimately controlled by the same 

party or parties both before and after the combination, and that control is not transitory.

Assets and liabilities obtained shall be measured at their respective carrying amounts as 

recorded by the combining entities at the date of the combination. The difference between 

the carrying amount of the net assets obtained and the carrying amount of the consideration 

paid for the combination is adjusted to the share capital premium in capital reserve. If 

the share capital premium is not sufficient to absorb the difference, any excess shall be 

adjusted against retained earnings. Costs that are directly attributable to the combination 

are charged to profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

6.2 Business combinations not involving enterprises under common control and goodwill

A business combination not involving enterprises under common control is a business 

combination in which all of the combining enterprises are not ultimately controlled by the 

same party or parties before and after the combination.

The cost of combination is the aggregate of the fair values of the assets given, liabilities 

incurred or assumed, and equity securities issued by the acquirer in exchange for control 

of the acquiree. Where a business combination not involving enterprises under common 

control is achieved in stages that involve multiple transactions, the cost of combination is 

the sum of the consideration paid at the acquisition date and the fair value at the acquisition 

date of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree. The intermediary expenses 

incurred by the acquirer in respect of auditing, legal services, valuation and consultancy 

services, etc. and other associated administrative expenses attributable to the business 

combination are recognized in profit or loss when they are incurred.
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6 The accounting treatment of business combinations involving enterprises under common 

control and business combinations not involving enterprises under common control 

(Continued)

6.2 Business combinations not involving enterprises under common control and goodwill 

(Continued)

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities, acquired by the 

acquirer in a business combination, that meet the recognition criteria shall be measured at 

fair value at the acquisition date.

Where the cost of combination exceeds the acquirer’s interest in the fair value of the 

acquiree’s identifiable net assets, the difference is treated as an asset and recognized as 

goodwill, which is measured at cost on initial recognition. Where the cost of combination is 

less than the acquirer’s interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets, the 

acquirer firstly reassesses the measurement of the fair values of the acquiree’s identifiable 

assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities and measurement of the cost of combination. If 

after that reassessment, the cost of combination is still less than the acquirer’s interest in 

the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets, the acquirer recognizes it in profit or 

loss for the current period.

Goodwill arising on a business combination is measured at cost less accumulated 

impairment losses, and is presented separately in the consolidated financial statements.

7 Judgment standard of control and preparation of consolidated financial statements

7.1 Judgment standard of control

Control exists when the investor has power over the investee; is exposed, or has rights, to 

variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and has the ability to use its power 

over the investee to affect its returns. Once there are any changes in relevant elements of 

the definition of control arising from changes in relevant facts or circumstances, the Group 

will make reassessment.
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7 Judgment standard of control and preparation of consolidated financial statements 

(Continued)

7.2 Preparation of consolidated financial statements

The scope of consolidation in the consolidated financial statements is determined on the 

basis of control.

A subsidiary is consolidated commencing from the obtaining of the control over such 

subsidiary by the Group and is ceased to be consolidated upon losing the control over 

such subsidiary by the Group.

For a subsidiary disposed of by the Group, the operating results and cash flows before the 

date of disposal (the date when control is lost) are included in the consolidated income 

statement and consolidated statement of cash flows, as appropriate.

For a subsidiary acquired through a business combination not involving enterprises under 

common control, the operating results and cash flows from the acquisition date (the 

date when control is obtained) are included in the consolidated income statement and 

consolidated statement of cash flows, as appropriate.

No matter when the business combination occurs in the reporting period, subsidiaries 

acquired through a business combination involving enterprises under common control are 

included in the Group’s scope of consolidation as if they had been included in the scope of 

consolidation from the date when they first came under the common control of the ultimate 

controlling party. Their operating results and cash flows from the beginning of the earliest 

reporting period are included in the consolidated income statement and consolidated 

statement of cash flows, as appropriate.

The significant accounting policies and accounting periods adopted by the subsidiaries 

are determined based on the uniform accounting policies and accounting periods set out 

by the Company.

The impacts of internal transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries and among 

the subsidiaries on the consolidated financial statements are eliminated on consolidation.
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7 Judgment standard of control and preparation of consolidated financial statements 

(Continued)

7.2 Preparation of consolidated financial statements (Continued)

The portion of subsidiaries’ equity that is not attributable to the Company is treated as 

non-controlling interests and presented as “non-controlling interests” in the consolidated 

balance sheet within shareholders’ equity. The portion of net profits or losses of subsidiaries 

for the period attributable to non-controlling shareholders are presented as “profit or loss 

attributable to non-controlling shareholders” in the consolidated income statement below 

the “net profit” line item.

When the amount of loss for the period attributable to the non-controlling shareholders of 

a subsidiary exceeds the non-controlling shareholders’ portion of the opening balance of 

owners’ equity of the subsidiary, the excess amount is still allocated against non-controlling 

interests.

Acquisition of non-controlling interests or disposal of interest in a subsidiary that does not 

result in the loss of control over the subsidiary is accounted for as equity transactions. 

The carrying amounts of the Company owners’ interests and non-controlling interests are 

adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. The difference 

between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value 

of the consideration paid/received is adjusted to capital reserve under owners’ equity. If 

the capital reserve is not sufficient to absorb the difference, the excess is adjusted against 

retained earnings.

Where equity interests in an acquiree are acquired in stages through multiple transactions 

ultimately constituting a business combination not involving enterprises under common 

control, the acquirer shall determine if these transactions are considered to be a “bundled 

transaction”. If yes, these transactions are accounted for as a single transaction where 

control is obtained. If no, these transactions are accounted for as multiple transactions 

where control is obtained at the acquisition date; in this case, the acquirer remeasures its 

previously-held equity interests in the acquiree at their fair value on the acquisition date 

and recognizes any differences between such fair value and carrying amounts in profit or 

loss for the period. Where equity interests in an acquiree held before the acquisition date 

involve changes in other comprehensive income or changes in other owners’ equity under 

equity method, they shall be transferred to income for the period that the acquisition date 

belongs to.
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7 Judgment standard of control and preparation of consolidated financial statements 

(Continued)

7.2 Preparation of consolidated financial statements (Continued)

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary due to disposal of certain equity interests 

or other reasons, any retained equity interests are re-measured at their fair value at the 

date when control is lost. The difference between the sum of the consideration obtained 

from the disposal of equity interests and the fair value of the remaining equity interests, and 

the share of the net assets of the original subsidiary calculated continuously from the date 

of acquisition based on the original shareholding ratio, shall be included in the investment 

income for the period when the control is lost, and the goodwill is reduced at the same 

time. Other comprehensive income associated with the equity investment in the original 

subsidiary shall be transferred to investment income for the period when the control is lost.

8 Classification of joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is classified into joint operation and joint venture, depending on the rights and 

obligations of the parties to the arrangement, which is assessed by considering the structure and 

the legal form of the arrangement, the terms agreed by the parties in the contractual arrangement 

and, when relevant, other facts and circumstances. A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby 

the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets, and obligations for 

the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties 

that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement.

The joint arrangement of the Group refers to the joint venture. The Group accounts for investments 

in joint ventures using equity method. Refer to Note III 18.3.2 “Long-term equity investment 

accounted for using the equity method” for details.

9 Recognition criteria of cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash on hand of the Group and its deposits that can be readily withdrawn on 

demand. Cash equivalents are the Group’s short-term (generally due within three months from 

the date of acquisition), highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts 

of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
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10 Transactions denominated in foreign currencies

A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on initial recognition, by applying the spot exchange 

rate on the date of the transaction.

At the balance sheet date, foreign currency monetary items are translated into the functional 

currency using the spot exchange rates at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising 

from the differences between the spot exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet date and 

those on initial recognition or at the previous balance sheet date are recognized in profit or loss 

for the period, save as: (1) exchange differences relating to a special borrowing denominated in 

foreign currency qualified for capitalization are capitalized as part of the cost of the relevant asset 

during the capitalization period; (2) exchange differences relating to hedging instruments for the 

purpose of hedging against foreign currency risks are accounted for using hedge accounting; (3) 

exchange differences arising from changes in the carrying amounts (other than amortized cost) 

of monetary items classified at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) are 

recognized in other comprehensive income.

Foreign currency non-monetary items measured at historical cost are translated to the amounts 

in functional currency at the spot exchange rates on the dates of the transactions.

11 Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Group becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions of the instrument.

For all regular way purchase or sale of financial assets, assets to be received and liabilities to be 

assumed therefrom shall be recognized on a trade date basis, or assets sold shall be derecognized 

on a trade date basis.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value (for the method of 

determining the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities, please refer to the relevant 

disclosures on the basis of accounting and principle of measurement in Note II). For financial 

assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs are immediately 

recognized in profit or loss. For other financial assets and financial liabilities, transaction costs 

are included in their initial recognized amounts. For accounts receivable excluding significant 

financing components or regardless of financing components of contracts less than on year initially 

recognized based on ASBE No. 14 – Revenue (the “Standard – Revenue”), accounts receivable 

recognized shall be measured at transaction price defined based on the Standard – Revenue on 

initial recognition.
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11 Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset or 

a financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over each accounting 

period.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash flows through the 

expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the net carrying amount of the financial 

asset or the amortized cost of financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the 

Group estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial asset or 

financial liability including earlier repayment, extension, call option or other similar options etc. 

without considering future credit losses.

The amortized cost of a financial asset or a financial liability is the amount of a financial asset or 

a financial liability initially recognized net of principal repaid, plus or less the cumulative amortized 

amount arising from amortization of the difference between the amount initially recognized and the 

amount at the maturity date using the effective interest method, net of cumulative loss allowance 

(only applicable to financial assets).

11.1 Classification, recognition and measurement of financial assets

Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group’s financial assets of various categories are 

subsequently measured at amortized cost, fair value through other comprehensive income 

or fair value through profit or loss.

If contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that 

are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, and the 

financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets 

in order to collect contractual cash flows, such asset is classified into financial asset 

measured at amortized cost. Such financial assets mainly include bank and cash, notes 

receivable, accounts receivable, other receivables, other current assets (time deposits), 

non-current assets due within one year, long-term receivables, other non-current assets 

(time deposits) and etc.
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11 Financial instruments (Continued)

11.1 Classification, recognition and measurement of financial assets (Continued)

The contract clauses of financial assets stipulate that cash flows generated on a specified 

date are only payments of principal and interest based on the amount of outstanding 

principal and the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved 

by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets. The financial 

assets that meet the above conditions are classified as at FVTOCI, among which those 

with maturities over one year upon acquisition are presented under other debt investments, 

those with maturities within one year (inclusive) since the balance sheet date are presented 

under non-current assets due within one year, those classified as accounts receivable and 

notes receivable at FVTOCI upon acquisition are presented under financing receivables, 

those remaining items with maturities within one year (inclusive) upon acquisition are 

presented under other current assets.

Upon initial recognition, the Group can irrevocably designate non-trading equity instrument 

investments other than contingent considerations recognized in the business combination 

not under common control as financial assets at FVTOCI based on an individual financial 

asset. Such financial assets are presented as other equity instrument investments.

Financial assets meeting one of the following requirements indicate that the financial assets 

are held by the Group for trading:

• The obtaining of relevant financial assets is mainly for the purpose of sale in the near 

future.

• Relevant financial assets are part of the identifiable financial instrument combination 

under centralized management upon initial recognition and there is objective 

evidence indicating that recently there exists a short-term profit model.

• Relevant financial assets are derivatives, excluding derivatives that meet the definition 

of financial guarantee contracts as well as derivatives designated as effective hedging 

instruments.
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11 Financial instruments (Continued)

11.1 Classification, recognition and measurement of financial assets (Continued)

The financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) include those classified as 

at FVTPL and those designated as at FVTPL:

• Financial assets that are unqualified for the classification as at amortized cost and 

at FVTOCI are classified as at FVTPL.

• Upon initial recognition, to eradicate or significantly reduce accounting mismatches, 

the Group can irrevocably designate financial assets as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are presented under held-for-trading financial assets. Those due 

over one year from the balance sheet date (or with no fixed term) and expected to be held 

for over one year are presented under other non-current financial assets.

11.1.1 Financial assets classified as at amortized cost

Financial assets measured at amortized cost are subsequently measured at 

amortized cost using the effective interest method. Gain or loss arising from 

impairment or derecognition is included in profit or loss for the current period.

Interest income from the Group’s financial assets measured at amortized cost is 

recognized based on the effective interest method. Interest income is determined by 

applying an effective interest rate to the book balance of the financial asset except 

for the following situations:

• For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, the Group 

recognizes their interest income based on amortized cost and credit-adjusted 

effective interest rate of such financial assets since initial recognition.
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11 Financial instruments (Continued)

11.1 Classification, recognition and measurement of financial assets (Continued)

11.1.1 Financial assets classified as at amortized cost (Continued)

• For purchased or originated financial assets without credit impairment but 

subsequently becoming credit-impaired, the Group subsequently recognizes 

their interest income based on amortized costs and effective interest rate of 

such financial assets. If there exists no credit impairment due to improvement 

in credit risk of the financial instruments subsequently, and such improvement 

can be associated with a particular event upon the application of the above 

rule, the Group recognizes interest income by applying effective interest rate 

to book balance of the financial assets.

11.1.2 Financial assets at FVTOCI

Gains or losses on impairment and interest income calculated using effective interest 

rate that relate to a financial asset classified as at FVTOCI are recognized in profit or 

loss for the period, otherwise fair value changes in the financial asset are included in 

other comprehensive income. The amount of the financial asset included in profit or 

loss for each period is equal to the amount as if it had been measured at amortized 

cost through profit or loss for each period. Upon derecognition of the financial asset, 

cumulative gains or losses previously recognized in other comprehensive income 

are transferred and included in profit or loss for the period.

The fair value change of non-trading equity instrument investments designated 

as at FVTOCI is recognized in other comprehensive income. Upon derecognition 

of the financial asset, cumulative gains or losses previously recognized in other 

comprehensive income are transferred and included in retained earnings. During 

the period for which the Group holds the investments in such non-trading equity 

instruments, dividend income is recognized and included in profit or loss for the 

period when the Group’s right to collect dividend has been established; it is probable 

that economic benefits associated with dividend will flow into the Group; and the 

amount of dividend can be reliably measured.

11.1.3 Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are subsequently measured at fair value, gains or losses 

arising from fair value changes and dividends and interest income in relation to such 

financial assets are included in profit or loss for the period.
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11 Financial instruments (Continued)

11.2 Impairment of financial instruments

The Group carries out impairment testing of and recognizes the loss allowance for financial 

assets measured at amortized cost, financial assets at FVTOCI and lease receivables based 

on expected credit loss (“ECL”).

The Group measures loss allowance for all contract assets, notes receivable and account 

receivables arising from transactions regulated by the Standard – Revenue and operating 

lease receivables arising from the transactions regulated by the ASBE No. 21 – Lease based 

on the amount of full lifetime ECL.

For other financial instruments, except for the purchased or internally generated 

credit-impaired financial assets, at each balance sheet date, the Group assesses changes 

in credit risk of relevant financial assets since initial recognition. If the credit risk of the 

above financial instruments has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group 

measures loss allowance based on the amount of full lifetime ECL; if credit risk of the 

financial instruments has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group 

recognizes loss allowance based on 12-month ECL of the financial instruments. Increase in 

or reversal of credit loss allowance is included in profit or loss as loss or gain on impairment 

except for financial assets classified as at FVTOCI. For the financial assets classified as at 

FVTOCI, the Group recognizes credit loss allowance in other comprehensive income and 

includes loss or gain on impairment in profit or loss, without reducing the carrying amount 

of the financial assets presented in the balance sheet.

The Group measured loss allowance at the full lifetime ECL of the financial instruments in 

the prior accounting period. However, as at the balance sheet date for the current period, 

for the above financial instruments, due to failure to qualify as significant increase in credit 

risk since initial recognition, the Group measures loss allowance for the financial instruments 

at 12-month ECL at the balance sheet date for the current period. Relevant reversal of loss 

allowance is included in profit or loss as gain on impairment.
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11 Financial instruments (Continued)

11.2 Impairment of financial instruments (Continued)

11.2.1 Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, 

the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as 

at the balance sheet date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial 

instrument as at the date of initial recognition by using reasonable and supportable 

forward-looking information available.

The following information is taken into account when the Group assesses whether 

credit risk has increased significantly:

(1) Whether expected adverse changes in business, financial and economic 

conditions of the borrower which will affect debtor’s ability to perform 

repayment obligation have changed significantly.

(2) Whether the actual or expected operating results of the debtor have changed 

significantly.

(3) Whether credit risk of other financial instruments issued by the same debtor 

has increased significantly.

(4) Whether regulatory, economic or technical environment for the debtor has 

significant adverse changes.

(5) Whether the debtor’s expected performance and repayment activities have 

changed significantly.

At the balance sheet date, the Group assumes that credit risk of the financial 

instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition when the Group 

determines that the financial instrument is only exposed to lower credit risk.
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11 Financial instruments (Continued)

11.2 Impairment of financial instruments (Continued)

11.2.2 Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is “credit-impaired” when one or more events that have an adverse 

impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. 

Evidence of credit-impairment includes observable data about the following events:

(1) Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or debtor;

(2) A breach of contract by the debtor, such as a default or delinquency in 

interest or principal payments;

(3) The creditor, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the debtor’s 

financial difficulty, having granted to the debtor a concession that the creditor 

would not otherwise consider;

(4) It becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial 

reorganizations;

(5) The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset due to financial 

difficulties of issuer or debtor;

(6) The purchase or origination of a financial asset at a significant discount that 

reflects the incurred credit losses.

11.2.3 Recognition of ECL

Based on ECL, the Group conducts impairment accounting for the following items 

and recognizes loss allowance:

– Financial assets measured at amortized cost;

– Contract assets;

– Lease receivables;
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11 Financial instruments (Continued)

11.2 Impairment of financial instruments (Continued)

11.2.3 Recognition of ECL (Continued)

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a weighted average of credit losses on financial instruments weighted at the 

risk of default. Credit losses are measured as the present value of all cash shortfalls 

(i.e. the difference between all the contractual cash flows discounted at the original 

actual interest rate and receivable in accordance with the contract and all the cash 

flows that the Group expects to receive).

The maximum period considered when measuring ECL is the maximum contractual 

period (including extension options) over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

Lifetime ECL is the ECL of a financial instrument that results from all possible default 

events over the expected life.

12-month ECL is the portion of lifetime ECL of a financial instrument that results 

from default events that are possible within the 12 months after the balance sheet 

date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the financial instrument is less than 

12 months).

For notes receivable, accounts receivable, financing receivables and contract assets 

generated from daily business activities such as sales of goods and provision of 

services, as well as lease receivables generated from leasing transactions, loss 

allowance is always measured at an amount equal to the lifetime ECL. Such ECL 

is estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss 

experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and an assessment 

of both the current and forecast general economic conditions at the balance sheet 

date.
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11 Financial instruments (Continued)

11.2 Impairment of financial instruments (Continued)

11.2.3 Recognition of ECL (Continued)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)

Save for notes receivable, accounts receivable, financing receivables, contract assets 

and lease receivables, the Group measures loss allowance at an amount equal to 

12-month ECL for the following financial instruments, and at an amount equal to 

lifetime ECL for all other financial instruments:

– If the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the balance 

sheet date; or

– If the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since 

initial recognition.

11.2.4 Reduction in financial assets

The Group directly reduces the carrying amount of financial assets when ceasing 

to reasonably expect that the contractual cash flow of such financial assets may 

be fully or partially recoverable. Such reduction comprises derecognition of relevant 

financial assets.

11.3 Transfer of financial assets

The Group derecognizes a financial asset if one of the following conditions is satisfied: (1) 

the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire; or (2) the financial 

asset has been transferred and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 

financial asset is transferred to the transferee; or (3) although the financial asset has been 

transferred, the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards 

of ownership of the financial asset but has not retained control of the financial asset.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 

of the financial asset, and it retains control of the financial asset, the Group continues to 

recognize the financial asset transferred to the extent of its continuing involvement and 

recognizes the relevant liabilities correspondingly. The Group measures the relevant liabilities 

in the following ways:
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11 Financial instruments (Continued)

11.3 Transfer of financial assets (Continued)

• If the financial asset transferred is measured at amortized cost, the carrying amount 

of the relevant liabilities is equal to the carrying amount of the financial asset 

transferred with continuing involvement less the amortized cost of the rights retained 

by the Group (if the Group retains relevant rights due to the transfer of financial 

assets) plus the amortized cost of the obligations undertaken by the Group (if the 

Group assumes relevant obligations due to the transfer of financial assets), and the 

relevant liabilities are not designated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit 

or loss.

• If the transferred financial asset is measured at fair value, the carrying amount of the 

relevant liabilities is equal to the carrying amount of the financial asset transferred 

with continuing involvement less the fair value of the rights retained by the Group 

(if the Group retains relevant rights due to the transfer of financial assets) plus the 

fair value of the obligations assumed by the Group (if the Group assumes relevant 

obligations due to the transfer of financial assets), and the fair value of the rights 

and obligations is measured on an individual basis.

For a transfer of a financial asset in its entirety that satisfies the derecognition criteria, the 

difference between the carrying amount of the transferred financial asset on the date of 

derecognition plus the consideration received from the transfer of financial asset and the 

sum of corresponding amounts derecognized in the accumulated changes in the fair value 

of other comprehensive income is recognized in profit or loss for the period. If the Group 

transfers a financial asset that belongs to non-trading equity instrument designated as at 

FVTOCI, cumulative gains or losses previously recognized in other comprehensive income 

are transferred and included in retained earnings.
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11 Financial instruments (Continued)

11.3 Transfer of financial assets (Continued)

For a partial transfer of a financial asset that satisfies the derecognition criteria, the carrying 

amount of the financial asset in its entirety before transfer shall be amortized between 

the part of financial asset derecognized and the part of financial asset continued to be 

recognized at their respective fair values on the transfer dates. The difference between 

the sum of the consideration received from the part of financial asset derecognized and 

the amount corresponding to derecognition in the cumulative gains or losses previously 

recognized in other comprehensive income and the carrying amount of the part of financial 

asset derecognized at the date of derecognition is included in the profit or loss for the 

period. If the financial asset transferred by the Group is a non-trading equity instrument 

investment designated at FVTOCI, cumulative gains or losses previously recognized in other 

comprehensive income are transferred and included in retained earnings.

For a transfer of a financial asset in its entirety that does not satisfy the derecognition 

criteria, the Group continues to recognize the transferred financial asset in its entirety. The 

consideration received is recognized as a financial liability.

11.4 Classification of financial liabilities and equity instruments

The Group’s financial instruments or their components are, on initial recognition, classified 

into financial liabilities or equity instruments on the basis of contractual terms for issuance 

and the economic substance reflected by such terms and in combination with definitions 

of financial liability and equity instrument, instead of only on the basis of the legal form.



70 Xinhua Winshare Publishing and Media Co., Ltd.     Interim Report 2025

For the period from 1 January to 30 June 2025

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

III SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 
(Continued)

11 Financial instruments (Continued)

11.4 Classification of financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

11.4.1 Classification, recognition and measurement of financial liabilities

On initial recognition, financial liabilities are classified into financial liabilities at fair 

value through profit or loss and other financial liabilities. The Group’s financial 

liabilities are all other financial liabilities, mainly including short-term borrowings, 

notes payable, accounts payable, other payables and etc.

11.4.1.1 Other financial liabilities

All other financial liabilities as measured at amortized cost, and gains or 

losses arising from derecognition or amortization are recognized in profit or 

loss for the period.

11.4.2 Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognizes a financial liability (or part of it) only when the underlying 

present obligation (or part of it) is discharged. An agreement between the Group 

(an existing borrower) and an existing lender to replace the original financial liability 

with a new financial liability with substantially different terms is accounted for as an 

extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial 

liability.

When the Group derecognizes a financial liability or a part of it, it recognizes the 

difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability (or part of the financial 

liability) derecognized and the consideration paid (including any non-cash assets 

transferred or new financial liabilities assumed) in profit or loss.

11.4.3 Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets 

of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued (including 

refinanced), repurchased, sold and cancelled by the Group are recognized as 

changes of equity. Change of fair value of equity instruments is not recognized by 

the Group. Transaction costs related to equity transactions are deducted from equity.

The Group recognizes the distribution to holders of the equity instruments as 

distribution of profits, and dividends paid do not affect total amount of shareholders 

equity.
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11.5 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

Where the Group has a legal right that is currently enforceable to set off the recognized 

financial assets and financial liabilities, and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to 

realize the financial asset and settle the financial liability simultaneously, a financial asset 

and a financial liability shall be offset and the net amount is presented in the balance 

sheet. Except for the above circumstances, financial assets and financial liabilities shall be 

presented separately in the balance sheet and shall not be offset.

12 Notes receivable

12.1 Recognition and accounting treatment of expected credit loss of notes receivable

The Group determines the credit losses of notes receivable on an individual basis. The 

increase or reversal of the provision for expected credit loss of notes receivable is included 

in the current profit or loss as credit impairment losses or gains.

12.2 Judgment criteria for credit loss provision on an individual basis

The Group assesses the credit risk of notes receivable individually as sufficient evidence can 

be obtained at a reasonable cost about whether there is a significant increase in credit risk.

13 Accounts receivable and long-term receivables

13.1 Accounts receivable

13.1.1 Determination and accounting treatment of expected credit loss of accounts 

receivable

The Group uses a provision matrix to determine the credit losses of accounts 

receivable on a collective basis. The increase or reversal of the provision for expected 

credit losses of accounts receivable is included in the current profit and loss as credit 

impairment losses or gains.

13.1.2 Group types and basis for determining credit loss provision based on credit risk 

characteristics

The Group classifies its accounts receivable into different groups based on shared 

credit risk characteristics.
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13 Accounts receivable and long-term receivables (Continued)

13.1 Accounts receivable (Continued)

13.1.3 Calculation of aging for credit risk characteristic group recognized based on aging

The Group adopts the aging of accounts receivable as the credit risk characteristic 

and uses an impairment matrix to determine their credit loss. The aging is counted 

from the date of initial recognition. If the modification of terms and conditions of 

accounts receivable does not result in the derecognition of accounts receivable, 

the aging is calculated continuously. When the contract assets are transferred to 

accounts receivable, the aging is continuously calculated from the initial recognition 

date of the corresponding contract assets.

13.1.4 Judgment criteria for credit loss provision on an individual basis

The Group assesses the credit risk of accounts receivable transferred from overdue 

long-term receivables individually as sufficient evidence can be obtained at a 

reasonable cost about whether there is a significant increase in credit risk.

13.2 Long-term receivables

13.2.1 Determination and accounting treatment of expected credit loss of long-term 

receivables

The Group determines the credit loss of long-term receivables on the basis of 

individual assets. The increase or reversal of the provision for expected credit 

losses of long-term receivables is included in the current profit and loss as credit 

impairment losses or gains.

13.2.2 Judgment criteria for credit loss provision on an individual basis

The Group assesses the credit loss of long-term receivables individually as sufficient 

evidence can be obtained at a reasonable cost about whether there is a significant 

increase in credit risk.
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14 Financing receivables

14.1 Determination and accounting treatment of expected credit loss of financing receivables

The Group determines the credit loss of financing receivables on the basis of individual 

assets. The Group determines the credit loss provision for financing receivables in other 

comprehensive income, and includes the credit impairment loss or gain in profit or loss for 

the current period, without reducing the carrying amount of financing receivables in the 

balance sheet.

14.2 Judgment criteria for credit loss provision on an individual basis

The Group assesses the credit loss of financing receivables individually as sufficient 

evidence can be obtained at a reasonable cost about whether there is a significant increase 

in credit risk.

15 Other receivables

15.1 Determination and accounting treatment of expected credit loss of other receivables

The Group determines the credit loss of deposits and security deposits, petty cash and 

dividends receivable on the basis of individual assets.

The increase or reversal of the provision for expected credit losses of other receivables is 

included in the current profit and loss as credit impairment losses or gains.

15.2 Group types and basis for determining credit loss provision based on credit risk 

characteristics

The Group classifies other receivables other than deposits and security deposits, petty cash 

and dividends receivable into different groups based on shared credit risk characteristics. 

Shared credit risk characteristics adopted by the Group include the date of initial 

recognition, remaining contractual maturity, overdue time, etc.
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15 Other receivables (Continued)

15.3 Calculation of aging for credit risk characteristic group recognized based on aging

The aging is counted from the date of initial recognition. If the modification of terms and 

conditions of other receivables does not result in the derecognition of other receivables, 

the aging is calculated continuously.

15.4 Judgment criteria for credit loss provision on an individual basis

The Group assesses the credit loss of deposits and security deposits, petty cash and 

dividends receivable individually as sufficient evidence can be obtained at a reasonable 

cost about whether there is a significant increase in credit risk.

16 Inventories

16.1 Categories of inventories, valuation method of inventories upon delivery, inventory 

count system, amortization method for low cost and short-lived consumable items and 

packaging materials

16.1.1 Categories of inventories

The Group’s inventories mainly include raw materials, packaging materials, low cost 

and short-lived materials, work in progress, finished products, goods on hand, etc. 

Inventories are initially measured at cost. Cost of inventories comprises all costs 

of purchase, costs of conversion and other expenditures incurred in bringing the 

inventories to their present location and condition.

16.1.2 Valuation method of inventories upon delivery

The actual cost of inventories upon delivery is calculated using the weighted average 

method.

16.1.3 Inventory count system

The perpetual inventory system is maintained for stock system.

16.1.4 Amortization method for low cost and short-lived consumable items and packaging 

materials

Low cost and short-lived consumable items and packaging materials are amortized 

using the immediate write-off method.
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16 Inventories (Continued)

16.2 Basis for recognizing and provision methods for impairment of inventories

At the balance sheet date, inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable 

value. If the net realizable value is below the cost of inventories, a provision for decline in 

value of inventories is made.

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price of inventories in the ordinary course of 

business less the estimated costs to be incurred up to completion, the estimated costs 

necessary to make the sale and relevant taxes. Net realizable value is determined on the 

basis of clear evidence obtained, and takes into consideration the purposes of holding 

inventories and effect of post balance sheet events.

After the provision for impairment of inventories is made, if the circumstances that previously 

caused inventories to be written down no longer exist so that the net realizable value of 

inventories is higher than their cost, the original provision for impairment is reversed and 

the reversal is included in profit or loss for the period.

16.3 Group types and basis for determining provision for inventories on a collective basis, 

basis for determining net realizable value for different categories of inventories

For large quantity and low value items of inventories of the Group, provision for impairment is 

made based on groups of general books, textbooks (textbooks and supplementary materials 

and relevant student books), paper and others (including newspapers, journals (including 

yearbooks), wall calendars (desk calendars), New Year pictures, electronic publications, 

education informatization and equipment, etc.), respectively. For items of inventories relating 

to a product line that are produced and marketed in the same geographical area, have the 

same or similar end uses or purposes, and cannot be practicably evaluated separately from 

other items in that product line, provision for impairment is determined on an aggregate 

basis. The respective basis for determining net realizable value for different categories of 

inventories is:

(1) General books: The net realizable value is determined based on the age in stock 

and according to the annual pricing regulations of the publishing industry.

(2) Textbooks: The Group makes impairment provisions for textbooks produced 

or purchased for teaching in prior years in full amount. For those produced or 

purchased for current year’s teaching, if the Group has a clear picture about the 

utilization for the next year, the Group will make impairment provision for the portion 

of textbooks that will not be used in the next year at full amount. For those whose 

utilization condition is unclear, the Group will make impairment provision for such 

portion at 50% of their inventory costs. No impairment provision for textbooks 

produced or purchased for teaching for next year will be made.
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16 Inventories (Continued)

16.3 Group types and basis for determining provision for inventories on a collective basis, 

basis for determining net realizable value for different categories of inventories 

(Continued)

(3) Paper: The net realizable value is determined based on the estimated selling price 

less the estimated sales expenses and related taxes.

(4) Newspapers, journals (including yearbooks), wall calendars (desk calendars) and 

New Year pictures: For expired newspapers, journals (including yearbooks), wall 

calendars (desk calendars) and New Year pictures, impairment provision is made in 

full amount based on their costs.

(5) Electronic publications: Provision is made at 10% of the actual cost. In the event of 

an upgrade, if there is still a market for the original publications after the upgrade, the 

provision ratio will remain at 10%; if there is no market for the original publications 

after the upgrade, impairment provision will be made in full amount based on their 

costs.

(6) Education informatization equipment and others: The net realizable value is 

determined based on the estimated selling price less the estimated sales expenses 

and related taxes.

16.4 Calculation method of and basis for determining net realizable value for each age group 

of inventories whose net realizable value is determined based on its age in stock

The Group recognizes net realizable value of self-owned and outsourcing (for underwriting 

part) general books based on the age in stock according to the annual pricing regulations 

of the publishing industry, which are classified into age groups of within one year, one 

to two years, two to three years, and more than three years. The basis for determining 

net realizable value for each group is: For those aging within one year, no provision for 

impairment is made; for those aging within one to two years, provision is made at 10% 

of total pricing of book inventory at year end; for those aging within two to three years, 

provision is made at 20% of total pricing of book inventory at year end; for those aging for 

more than 3 years, provision is made at 100% of actual costs of book inventories at year 

end. The provision for outsourcing (for returnable part) general books is made at 1%-3% 

of actual costs of book inventories at the year end.
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17 Contract assets

17.1 Recognition methods and criteria for contract assets

Contract assets refer to the rights to receive consideration for the transfer of goods or 

services by the Group to its customers, and that right depends on factors other than the 

passage of time. The Group’s unconditional right (only the passage of time is required) to 

consideration from customer is presented separately as receivables.

17.2 The determination method and accounting treatment for ECL of contract assets

The Group determines the credit losses of relevant contract assets on an individual asset 

basis.

17.3 Judgment criteria for credit loss provision on an individual basis

The Group assesses the credit risk of contract assets individually as sufficient evidence can 

be obtained at a reasonable cost about whether there is a significant increase in credit risk.

18 Long-term equity investments

18.1 Judgement criteria for joint control and significant influence

Control exists when the investor has power over the investee; is exposed, or has rights, 

to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and has the ability to use its 

power over the investee to affect its returns. Joint control is the contractually agreed 

sharing of control over an economic activity, and exists only when the strategic financial 

and operating policy decisions relating to the activity require the unanimous consent of 

the parties sharing control. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial 

and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those 

policies. When determining whether an investing enterprise is able to exercise control or 

significant influence over an investee, the effect of potential voting rights of the investee (for 

example, warrants and convertible debts) held by the investing enterprises or other parties 

that are currently exercisable or convertible shall be considered.
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18 Long-term equity investments (Continued)

18.2 Determination of initial investment cost

For a long-term equity investment acquired through a business combination involving 

enterprises under common control, the investment cost of the long-term equity investment 

is the attributable share of the carrying amount of the owners’ equity of the acquiree at 

the date of combination. The different between the initial investment cost of the long-term 

equity investment and the amount of cash paid, the carrying amounts of non-cash assets 

transferred and liabilities assumed is adjusted to capital reserve. If the capital reserve is not 

sufficient to absorb the difference, any excess shall be adjusted against retained earnings.

For a long-term equity investment acquired through business combination not involving 

enterprises under common control, the initial investment cost of the long-term equity 

investment is the aggregate cost on the date of acquisition. Where equity interests in an 

acquiree are acquired in stages through multiple transactions ultimately constituting a 

business combination not involving enterprises under common control, the acquirer shall 

determine if these transactions are considered to be a “bundled transaction”. If yes, these 

transactions are accounted for as a single transaction where control is obtained. If no, the 

sum of carrying amounts of equity investments previously held in the acquiree and the new 

investment cost is deemed as the initial investment cost of the long-term equity investment 

that was changed to be accounted for using cost method. If the equity interests previously 

held were accounted for using the equity method, the corresponding other comprehensive 

income is not subject to accounting treatment temporarily.

The expenses incurred by the acquirer or acquiree in respect of auditing, legal services, 

valuation and consultancy services, etc. and other associated administrative expenses 

attributable to the business combination are recognized in profit or loss when they are 

incurred.

The long-term equity investment acquired otherwise than through a business combination 

is initially measured at its cost.
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18 Long-term equity investments (Continued)

18.3 Subsequent measurement and recognition of profit or loss

18.3.1 Long-term equity investment accounted for using the cost method

Long-term equity investments in subsidiaries are accounted for using the cost 

method in the parent company’s separate financial statements. A subsidiary is an 

investee that is controlled by the Group.

Under the cost method, a long-term equity investment is measured at initial 

investment cost. The cost of the long-term equity investment is adjusted according 

to addition or disposal of investment. Investment income is recognized in the period 

in accordance with the attributable share of cash dividends or profit distributions 

declared by the investee.

18.3.2 Long-term equity investment accounted for using the equity method

The Group accounts for investment in associates and joint ventures using the equity 

method. An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and 

a joint venture refers to a joint arrangement whereby the Group has only the rights 

to the net assets of such arrangement.

Under the equity method, where the initial investment cost of a long-term equity 

investment exceeds the Group’s share of the fair value of the investee’s identifiable 

net assets at the time of acquisition, no adjustment is made to the initial investment 

cost. Where the initial investment cost is less than the Group’s share of the fair value 

of the investee’s identifiable net assets at the time of acquisition, the difference 

is recognized in profit or loss for the period, and the cost of the long-term equity 

investment is adjusted accordingly.
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18 Long-term equity investments (Continued)

18.3 Subsequent measurement and recognition of profit or loss (Continued)

18.3.2 Long-term equity investment accounted for using the equity method (Continued)

Under the equity method, the Group recognizes its share of the net profit or loss 

and other comprehensive income of the investee for the year as investment income 

and other comprehensive income respectively. Meanwhile, carrying amount of 

long-term equity investment is adjusted. The carrying amount of long-term equity 

investment is decreased in accordance with its share of the investee’s declared 

profit or cash dividends. Other changes in owners’ equity of the investee other than 

net profit or loss and other comprehensive income are correspondingly adjusted 

to the carrying amount of the long-term equity investment, and recognized in the 

capital reserve. The Group recognizes its share of the investee’s net profit or loss 

based on the fair value of the investee’s individual identifiable assets, etc. at the 

acquisition date after making appropriate adjustments. Where the accounting policies 

and accounting period adopted by the investee are not consistent with those of 

the Company, the Company shall adjust the financial statements of the investee to 

conform to the Company’s accounting policies and accounting period, and recognize 

investment income and other comprehensive income based on the adjusted financial 

statements. The Group’s transactions with its associates and joint ventures where 

assets contributed or sold do not constitute a business, unrealized internal profit or 

loss is recognized as investment profit or loss to the extent that those attributable to 

the Group’s proportionate shareholding are eliminated. However, unrealized losses 

resulting from the Group’s internal transactions with its investees which represent 

impairment losses on the transferred assets are not eliminated.

The Group discontinues recognizing its share of net losses of the investee after the 

carrying amount of the long-term equity investment together with any long-term 

interests that in substance form part of its net investment in the investee is reduced 

to zero. In addition, if the Group has incurred obligations to assume additional losses 

of the investee, a provision is recognized according to the expected obligation, and 

recorded as investment loss for the period. Where net profits are subsequently made 

by the investee, the Group resumes recognizing its share of those profits only after 

its share of the profits exceeds the share of losses previously not recognized.
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18 Long-term equity investments (Continued)

18.4 Disposal of long-term equity investments

On disposal of a long-term equity investment, the difference between its carrying amount 

and the proceeds actually received is recognized in profit or loss for the period.

19 Investment properties

An investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. The 

investment property of the Group is a building that is leased out.

An investment property is measured initially at cost. Subsequent expenditures incurred for 

such investment property are included in the cost of the investment property if it is probable 

that economic benefits associated with an investment property will flow to the Group and the 

subsequent expenditures can be measured reliably. Other subsequent expenditures are recognized 

in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

The Group uses the cost model for subsequent measurement of investment property, using 

the straight-line method to calculate depreciation over the useful life. The depreciation method, 

depreciation life, estimated residual value rate and annual depreciation rate of investment property 

are as follows:

Category Depreciation method

Depreciation

life (year)

Residual

value rate (%)

Annual

depreciation

rate (%)
     

Buildings Straight-line method 8-40 – 2.50-12.50
     

An investment property is derecognized upon disposal or when the investment property is 

permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal.

When an investment property is sold, transferred, retired or damaged, the Group recognizes the 

amount of any proceeds on disposal net of the carrying amount and related taxes in profit or loss 

for the period.
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20 Fixed assets

20.1 Recognition criteria

Fixed assets are tangible assets that are held for use in the production or supply of goods 

or services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes, and have useful lives of 

more than one accounting year. A fixed asset is recognized only when it is probable that 

economic benefits associated with the asset will flow to the Group and the cost of the asset 

can be measured reliably. Fixed assets are initially measured at cost.

Subsequent expenditures incurred for the fixed asset are included in the cost of the fixed 

asset and if it is probable that economic benefits associated with the asset will flow to 

the Group and the subsequent expenditures can be measured reliably. Meanwhile the 

carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. Other subsequent expenditures are 

recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

20.2 Depreciation method

A fixed asset is depreciated over its useful life using the straight-line method since the 

month subsequent to the one in which it is ready for intended use. The depreciation life, 

estimated residual value rate and annual depreciation rate of each category of fixed assets 

are as follows:

Category

Depreciation

life (year)

Residual

value rate (%)

Annual

depreciation

rate (%)
    

Buildings 8-40 – 2.50-12.50

Machinery and equipment 5-10 0-3 9.70-20.00

Electronic equipment and others 5-8 0-3 12.13-20.00

Transportation vehicles 5-8 0-3 12.13-20.00
    

Estimated net residual value of a fixed asset is the estimated amount that the Group would 

currently obtain from disposal of the asset, after deducting the estimated costs of disposal, 

if the asset were already of the age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life.
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20 Fixed assets (Continued)

20.3 Other explanations

If a fixed asset is upon disposal or no future economic benefits are expected to be 

generated from its use or disposal, the fixed asset is derecognized. When a fixed asset is 

sold, transferred, retired or damaged, the amount of any proceeds on disposal of the asset 

net of the carrying amount and related taxes is recognized in profit or loss for the period.

The Group reviews the useful life and estimated net residual value of a fixed asset and the 

depreciation method applied at least once at each financial year end, and accounts for any 

change as a change in an accounting estimate.

21 Construction in progress

Construction in progress is measured at its actual costs. The actual costs include various 

construction expenditures during the construction period and other relevant costs. Construction 

in progress is not depreciated. Construction in progress is transferred to a fixed asset when it is 

ready for intended use. The criteria and timing for transferring various categories of construction 

in progress to a fixed asset are as follows:

Categories

Criteria for transferring  

to a fixed asset

Point in time for transferring

to a fixed asset
   

Buildings When it is ready for intended use Completion acceptance passed

Machinery and equipment When it is ready for intended use Acceptance test passed

Electronic equipment and others When it is ready for intended use Acceptance test passed
   

22 Borrowing costs

The borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of assets 

eligible for capitalization begin to be capitalized when the asset expenditure has occurred, the 

borrowing costs have occurred, and the acquisition, construction or production activities necessary 

to make the asset ready for its intended use or sale have commenced. The capitalization shall 

cease when the assets eligible for capitalization acquired, constructed or produced become ready 

for their intended use or sale. The remaining borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which 

they are incurred.

The amount of interest expenses actually incurred in the current period for special borrowings 

less the interest income obtained by depositing the unutilized borrowing funds in the bank or the 

investment income obtained from temporary investment shall be capitalized. The capitalization 

amount of general borrowings shall be determined by multiplying the weighted average of the 

accumulated asset expenditures exceeding the special borrowings by the capitalization rate of such 

general borrowings. The capitalization rate is calculated and determined based on the weighted 

average interest rate of general borrowings.
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23 Intangible assets

23.1 Useful life and basis for determination, valuation, amortization method or review 

procedure

Intangible assets include land use rights, software, patents, etc.

An intangible asset is measured initially at cost. When an intangible asset with a finite useful 

life is available for use, its original cost is amortized over its estimated useful life using the 

straight-line method. An intangible asset with an uncertain useful life is not amortized. The 

estimated net residual value of intangible assets of the Group is zero. The amortization 

method, useful life and residual value rate for each category of intangible assets are as 

follows:

Category Amortization method

Useful life

(year)

Basis for

determination

of useful life

Residual

value rate

(%)
     

Land use rights Straight-line method 40 – 70 Legal useful life –

Patents Straight-line method 10 – 15

Expected economic

benefit period –

Software Straight-line method 5 – 10

Expected economic

benefit period –

Others Straight-line method 1 – 10

Expected economic

benefit period –
     

For an intangible asset with a finite useful life, the Group reviews the useful life and 

amortization method at the end of the year, and makes adjustments when necessary.
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23 Intangible assets (Continued)

23.2 Scope of research and development expenditure and related accounting treatment 

method

Expenditure during the research phase is recognized as an expense in the period in which 

it is incurred.

Expenditure during the development phase that meets all of the following conditions at 

the same time is recognized as intangible asset. Expenditure during development phase 

that does not meet the following conditions is recognized in profit or loss for the period:

(1) it is technically feasible to complete the intangible asset so that it will be available 

for use or sale;

(2) the Group has the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

(3) the Group can demonstrate the ways in which the intangible asset will generate 

economic benefits, including the evidence of the existence of a market for the output 

of the intangible asset or the intangible asset itself or, if it is to be used internally, 

the usefulness of the intangible asset;

(4) the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the 

development and the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

(5) the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development phase 

can be reliably measured.
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23 Intangible assets (Continued)

23.2 Scope of research and development expenditure and related accounting treatment 
method (Continued)

If the expenditures cannot be distinguished between the research phase and development 
phase, the Group recognizes all of them in profit or loss for the period. The costs of 
intangible assets incurred in internal development activities only include the gross 
expenditures incurred for bringing the intangible assets to expected usage from the point 
of time of satisfaction of capitalization conditions. The expenditures included in the profit or 
loss capitalized before the same intangible asset meets the capitalization conditions during 
the course of development are not adjusted.

The scope of research and development expenditure includes salary and welfare expenses 
for personnel directly engaged in research and development activities, materials, fuel and 
power expenses directly consumed in research and development activities, depreciation 
expenses of instruments and equipment for research and development activities, leasing 
and maintenance expenses of research and development sites, travel, transportation and 
communication expenses required for research and experimental development, etc. The 
Group adopts technical feasibility and economic feasibility studies as the specific criteria 
for distinguishing between the research stage and development stage.

24 Impairment of long-term assets

The Group reviews the long-term equity investments, investment properties measured by cost 
method, fixed assets, construction in progress, right-of-use assets and intangible assets with 
definite useful life at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any indication that 
they have suffered an impairment loss. If there is any indication that such assets may be impaired, 
the recoverable amounts are estimated for such assets.

Recoverable amount is estimated on individual basis. If it is not practical to estimate the 
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the recoverable amount of the asset group to which 
the asset belongs will be estimated. The recoverable amount of asset or asset group is the higher 
of fair value net of disposal expenses and the present value of estimated future cash flow.

If such recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, a provision for impairment losses in 
respect of the deficit is recognized in profit or loss for the period.

Goodwill is tested for impairment at least at the end of each year. For the purpose of impairment 
testing, goodwill is considered together with the related assets group(s), i.e., goodwill is reasonably 
allocated to the related assets group(s) or each of assets group(s) expected to benefit from the 
synergies of the combination. An impairment loss is recognized if the recoverable amount of the 
assets group or sets of assets groups (including goodwill) is less than its carrying amount. If the 
impairment loss is recognized, it is first deducted from the carrying amount of goodwill allocated 
to the asset group or sets of asset groups, and then deducted from the carrying amount of the 
remaining assets of the asset group or sets of asset groups excluding goodwill on a pro-rata basis.

An impairment loss once recognized shall not be reversed in a subsequent period.
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25 Long-term prepaid expenses

Long-term prepaid expenses represent expenses incurred that should be amortized over the 

current year and each of the subsequent periods (together of more than one year). Long-term 

prepaid expenses are amortized over the expected periods in which benefits are derived.

26 Contract liabilities

Contract liabilities refer to the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for 

which the Group has received or should receive consideration from the customer. Contract assets 

and contract liabilities under the same contract are presented in net amounts.

27 Employee benefits

27.1 Accounting treatment for short-term employee benefits

In the accounting period in which an employee has rendered services, the Group recognizes 

the actual short-term employee benefits payable for those services as a liability and the 

profit or loss for the period in which they are incurred or cost of related assets. The Group 

recognizes the employee welfare as profit or loss for the period in which they are incurred or 

cost of related assets. The non-monetary employee welfare shall be measured at fair value.

Payment made by the Group of social security contributions for employees such as 

premiums or contributions on medical insurance and work injury insurance, etc. and 

payments of housing funds, as well as union running costs and employee education costs 

provided in accordance with relevant requirements, are calculated according to prescribed 

bases and percentages in determining the amount of employee benefits and recognized 

as relevant liabilities, with a corresponding charge to the profit or loss for the period or 

the costs of relevant assets in the accounting period in which employees provide services.

27.2 Accounting treatment of post-employment benefits

The entire post-employment benefits of the Group are defined contribution plan, which 

are primarily the payments for basic pensions and unemployment insurance related to 

government mandated social welfare programs, as well as the annuity scheme established. 

The Group makes contributions to the annuity scheme at a certain percentage of the 

employees’ basic salaries for the previous year. If the employees left the enterprise annuity 

plan prior to vesting fully in the contributions, they are required to return part of their 

equity interests to the Group. The returned contributions shall not be used by the Group 

to reduce the existing level of contributions of the annuity scheme. The use of the returned 

contributions will be determined in the future.

In an accounting period of an employee rendering services to the Group, the Group 

recognizes the payable amount calculated based on the defined contribution plan as a 

liability and includes it in the current profit or loss or as cost of related asset.



88 Xinhua Winshare Publishing and Media Co., Ltd.     Interim Report 2025

For the period from 1 January to 30 June 2025

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

III SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 
(Continued)

27 Employee benefits (Continued)

27.3 Accounting treatment of termination benefits

When the Group provides termination benefits to employees, employee benefit liabilities 
are recognized for termination benefits, with a corresponding charge to the profit or loss 
for the period at the earlier of: when the Group cannot unilaterally withdraw the offer of 
termination benefits because of the termination plan or a curtailment proposal; and when 
the Group recognizes costs or expenses related to restructuring that involves the payment 
of termination benefits.

28 Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation related to a contingency, it 
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and the 
amount of the obligation can be measured reliably.

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to 
settle the present obligation at the balance sheet date, taking into account factors pertaining to 
a contingency such as the risks, uncertainties and time value of money. Where the effect of the 
time value of money is material, the best estimate of provision is determined by discounting the 
estimated future cash outflows.

29 Revenue

Disclosure of accounting policies adopted for revenue recognition and measurement by business 
type

Revenue of the Group is primarily from the following business categories:

(1) Sales of general books where books are mainly sold through wholesales and directly through 
retail (including Internet) to end clients.

(2) Sales of textbooks and supplementary materials where products are mainly sold through 
education system and primary and middle schools.

(3) Printing services and supply of materials, which mainly comprises the sales of all kinds of 
paper and small quantities of printing machinery.

(4) Education informatization and equipment business where the Group purchases software and 
hardware primarily from third parties, and integrates them to provide integrated solutions 
for the schools.

(5) Concessionaire sales, which mainly refers to the establishment of sales counters in the 
designated areas of the Group’s retail stores by commodity suppliers, and sales by the 
sales staff of the supplier or the business staff of the retail stores.

(6) Other operations are mainly logistics and warehousing services.
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29 Revenue (Continued)

The Group recognizes revenue based on the transaction price allocated to such performance 

obligation when a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services 

underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer. A performance 

obligation represents the commitment that a good and service that is distinct shall be transferred 

by the Group to the customer.

The Group assesses the contract on the contract commencement date, identifies each individual 

performance obligation included in the contract, and determines whether each individual 

performance obligation is satisfied over time or at a point in time. If one of the following criteria 

is met and it is a performance obligation performed over time, the Group recognizes the revenue 

within a certain period of time according to the progress of the performance: (1) the customer 

simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the 

Group performs; (2) the customer is able to control the goods under construction in the course 

of the Group’s performance; (3) the goods produced by the Group during the performance of 

the contract are irreplaceable and the Group has the right to charge for the accumulated part 

of the contract that has been performed so far during the whole contract period. Otherwise, the 

Group recognizes revenue at a certain point in time when “control” of the goods or services is 

transferred to the customer.

With respect to performance obligations performed overtime, the Group determines progress of 

performance by output method, i.e. determining the progress of performance in accordance with 

the value of merchandise or service already transferred to clients. Where the progress cannot be 

determined reasonably, the revenue is recognized based on the amount of cost that is expected 

to be compensated based on the cost already incurred, until the progress of performance is 

reasonably determined.

Transaction price refers to the consideration that the Group is expected to receive a consideration 

due to the transfer of goods or services to the customer, but it does not include payments received 

on behalf of third parties and amounts that the Group expects to return to the customer. When 

determining the transaction price, the Group considers the impact of variable consideration, 

significant financing components in the contract, non-cash consideration, consideration payable 

to customers and other factors.

Where the contract includes two or more performance obligations, at contract inception, the Group 

allocates the transaction price to each single performance obligation according to the relative 

proportion of the stand-alone selling prices of the goods or services promised by each single 

performance obligation. However, where there is conclusive evidence that the contract discount 

or variable consideration is only related to one or more (not all) performance obligations in the 

contract, the Group shall allocate the contract discount or variable consideration to the relevant 

one or more performance obligations. The stand-alone selling price is the price at which the Group 

would sell a good or service separately to a customer. If a stand-alone selling price is not directly 

observable, the Group shall consider all information that is reasonably available to the Group and 

maximize the use of observable inputs to estimate the stand-alone selling price.
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29 Revenue (Continued)

Variable consideration

If the contract includes variable consideration (such as sales rebate), the Group determines the 

best estimates of the variable consideration based on the expected value or the most likely amount. 

Transaction price comprising the variable consideration does not exceed the amount that it is 

highly probable that a significant reversal will not occur when relevant uncertainty is eliminated. 

At each balance sheet date, the Group re-estimates the amount of variable consideration which 

should be recognized in transaction price.

Sales with sales return terms attached

For sales with sales return terms attached, as the customer obtains ownership of related goods, 

the Group recognizes revenue in accordance with the consideration (excluding expected refund 

amounts due to sales returns) that the Group is expected to receive due to the transfer of goods 

or services to the customer, and recognizes expected liabilities in accordance with expected refund 

amounts due to sales returns. The remaining amount, subsequent to deduction of expected costs 

from collecting the goods (including the decrease in value of the returned goods), is recognized 

as an asset (other current assets or other non-current assets) in accordance with the carrying 

amount during the expected transfer of returned goods after deducting the costs of the above 

net assets carried forward.

Sales with quality assurance terms attached

For sales with quality assurance terms, if the quality assurance provides a separate service to the 

customer other than ensuring that the goods or services sold meet the established standards, the 

quality assurance constitutes a single performance obligation. Otherwise, the Group will account 

for the quality assurance responsibility in accordance with the ASBE No. 13 – Contingencies.

Additional purchase option

The additional purchase option of customers includes customer reward points. With respect to 

the additional purchase option with material rights provided to customers, the Group regards it as 

a single performance obligation, and recognizes relevant revenue upon obtaining the control over 

relevant goods or services by the customers who exercise the purchase option in future or upon 

lapse of such option. If a stand-alone selling price of the additional purchase option of customers 

is not directly observable, the Group shall consider all relevant information including the difference 

in discount obtained with and without the exercise of such option by customers and the possibility 

of exercising such option by customers during estimation.

The Group’s retail stores adopt a reward policy of membership loyalty cards for customers. For 

customers with consumption points exceeding a certain level, points can be converted into cash 

for purchase in the retail stores. The Group allocates sale consideration to the sold goods and 

issued points in accordance with corresponding respective selling prices. Sale consideration 

allocated to reward points is recognized as contract liabilities, and as revenue upon redemption.
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29 Revenue (Continued)

Significant financing component

If the contract includes significant financing component (including education informatization and 
equipment business), the Group determines the transaction price based on the amount payable 
under the assumption that the customer pays that amount payable in cash when control of the 
goods or services is obtained by the customer. The difference between the transaction price and 
the contract consideration shall be amortized within the contract period using effective interest rate. 
If the Group expects, at contract inception, that the period between when the Group transfers the 
good or service to a customer and when the customer pays for that good or service will be one 
year or less, the Group needs not to consider the significant financing component.

Principal and agent

The Group determines whether it is a principal or an agent at the time of the transaction based 
on whether it owns the “control” of the goods or services before the transfer of such goods or 
services to the customer. The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service before 
that good or service is transferred to a customer, and the revenue shall be recognized based on 
the total consideration received or receivable; otherwise, the Group is an agent, and the revenue 
shall be recognized based on the amount of commission or handling fee that is expected to be 
charged, and such amount is determined based on the net amount of the total consideration 
received or receivable after deducting the prices payable to other related parties.

Sales involving advance payment

For receipt in advance from customers for the provision of goods or services, the amount 
shall initially be recognized as liability, and transferred into revenue when relevant performance 
obligations are satisfied. When it is unnecessary for the Group to return the receipt in advance 
and the customer may forfeit all or part of his/her contractual rights, and that the Group is entitled 
to the amount in respect of the contractual rights forfeited by the customer, such amount shall 
be recognized as revenue in proportion to the pattern of contractual rights exercised by the 
customer. Otherwise, the Group only recognizes such balance of the above liability as revenue 
when it becomes highly unlikely that the customer would demand the fulfilling of the remaining 
performance obligation.

Specific revenue recognition methods and timing:

The Group’s general book sales business, textbooks and supplementary materials sales business, 
printing and supplies business, and concessionaire sales business generally only include 
performance obligations for transferred goods, which are performance obligations performed at 
a certain point in time. The Group recognizes revenue when the following conditions are met: the 
Group has delivered the goods to the customer in accordance with the contract and the customer 
has received the goods, the Group has collected payment or obtained proof of payment, and the 
consideration to which it is entitled is likely to be recovered, and the principal risks and benefits 
in relation to the ownership of the goods have been transferred.

The Group’s education informatization and equipment business recognizes revenue after 
the project is accepted, and significant financing components in the contract are handled in 
accordance with the above principle.

The Group’s concessionaire sales business recognizes revenue at the net amount of the total 
consideration received or receivable after deducting the price payable to other related parties 
when the Group, as an agent, meets the revenue recognition conditions.
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30 Contract costs

30.1 Cost of contract acquisition

If the incremental cost incurred by the Group in order to obtain a contract (i.e. costs 

that would not occur without a contract) is expected to be recoverable, such cost is 

recognized as an asset. The above asset is amortized on the same basis as that used 

for the recognition of revenue from the goods or services relating to such asset, and is 

recognized in profit or loss for the period. Other expenditures incurred by the Group in order 

to obtain the contract shall be included in the profit or loss for the period when incurred, 

except those clearly to be borne by the customer.

30.2 Cost of performance of contract

If the cost incurred by the Group for the performance of the contract does not fall within 

the scope of other ASBE other than the Standard – Revenue and meets the following 

conditions at the same time, it is recognized as an asset: (1) the cost is directly related to 

a current or expected contract; (2) the cost increases the resources that the Group will use 

to perform its obligations in the future; (3) the cost is expected to be recovered. The above 

asset is amortized on the same basis as that used for the recognition of revenue from the 

goods or services relating to such asset, and is recognized in profit or loss for the period.

30.3 Impairment losses on assets related to contract costs

In determining the impairment loss on an asset related to contract costs, the Group first 

determines the impairment losses on other assets related to the contract recognized in 

accordance with other relevant ASBE. Then, for the asset related to contract costs, if the 

carrying amount of the asset is higher than the difference between the following two items, 

the excess is provided for impairment loss and recognized as impairment loss on asset: (1) 

the remaining amount of consideration that the Group expects to receive in exchange for 

the goods or services to which the asset relates; and (2) the costs estimated to be incurred 

for the transfer of the relevant goods or services.

After the provision for impairment on asset related to contract costs is made, if the factors 

of impairment in the previous period change, so that the difference between the two items 

above is higher than the carrying amount of the asset, the original provision for impairment 

on asset shall be reversed and included in the current profit or loss, but the carrying amount 

of the asset after the reversal shall not exceed the carrying amount of the asset on the date 

of reversal assuming that no provision for impairment is made.
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31 Government grants

Government grants are transfer of monetary assets and non-monetary assets from the government 

to the Group at no consideration. A government grant is recognized only when the Group can 

comply with the conditions attaching to the grant and the Group will receive the grant.

If a government grant is in the form of a transfer of a monetary asset, it is measured at the amount 

received or receivable.

31.1 Basis for determination and accounting method of asset-related government grant

Included in the Group’s government grants, as the government grants other than the 

book subsidy obtained by the Group are used in acquisition and construction of long-term 

assets, or to form long-term assets in other ways, such government grants are asset-related 

government grants.

A government grant related to an asset is recognized as deferred income, and amortized 

to profit or loss for the period over the useful life of the related asset using the straight-line 

method.

31.2 Basis for determination and accounting method of income-related government grant

Included in the Group’s government grants, as the book subsidy is mainly used by the press 

to publish special books, such government grants are income-related government grants.

For a government grant related to income, if the grant is a compensation for related 

expenses or losses to be incurred in subsequent periods, the grant is recognized as 

deferred income, and recognized in profit or loss over the periods in which the related costs, 

expenses or losses are recognized. If the grant is a compensation for related expenses or 

losses already incurred, the grant is recognized immediately in profit or loss for the period.

Government grants related to the Group’s daily activities, based on the economic 

substance, are included in other income. Government grants not related to the Group’s 

daily activities are included in non-operating income.

When the recognized government grants need to be returned, if there is a balance of 

related deferred income, the book balance of related deferred income shall be offset, and 

the excess shall be included in the current profit or loss.

32 Lease

A lease refers to a contract assigning a lessor’s right to use an asset to a lessee for a certain 

period of time for consideration.

At the contract commencement date, the Group evaluates whether the contract is a lease or 

comprises a lease. The Group shall not reassess whether a contract is a lease or comprises a 

lease unless there are changes to the contract terms and conditions.
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32 Lease (Continued)

32.1 The Group as lessee

32.1.1 Right-of-use assets

Except for short-term leases, the Group recognizes right-of-use assets for leases 

on the commencement date of lease term. The commencement date of lease term 

refers to the date from which a leased asset is provided by the lessor for the Group’s 

use. Right-of-use assets are initially measured by their costs. These costs include:

• The initially measured amount of lease liabilities;

• For lease payments on or prior to the commencement date of lease term 

with lease incentives, the related amount of lease incentives enjoyed shall be 

deducted;

• Initial and direct expenses incurred to the Group;

• The expected costs incurred to the Group to demolish and remove leased 

assets, restore the premises where the leased assets are located, or restore 

the leased assets to the conditions bound by the lease terms.

The right-of-use assets are depreciated in accordance with the depreciation 

provisions under the ASBE No. 4 – Fixed Assets. For a leased asset which the 

ownership can be reasonably determined at the expiry of the lease term, its 

right-of-use asset is depreciated over its remaining useful life. A leased asset which 

the ownership cannot be reasonably determined at the expiry of the lease term is 

depreciated utilizing the shorter period between the lease term and the remaining 

useful life of the leased asset.

The Group determines whether a right-of-use asset has been impaired in accordance 

with the provisions under the ASBE No. 8 – Impairment of Assets and applies 

accounting treatment to the impairment loss identified accordingly.
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32 Lease (Continued)

32.1 The Group as lessee (Continued)

32.1.2 Lease liabilities

Except for short-term leases, the Group initially measures lease liabilities on the 

commencement date of lease term according to the present value of outstanding 

lease payments on that date. When calculating the present value of lease payments, 

the Group uses incremental borrowing rate as discount rate as the rate included in 

the lease cannot be determined.

Lease payments refer to the amount paid by the Group to a lessor which is related 

to the right to use lease assets during the lease term, including:

• Fixed payments and substantially fixed payments (deduct related lease 

incentive amount, if any);

• Variable lease payments which depend on an index or a rate;

• The exercise price of an option which the Group reasonably determines that 

the purchase option is to be exercised;

• The amount payable upon exercising an option to terminate a lease, provided 

that the exercising of such option by the Group can be reflected over the 

lease term;

• Estimated amount due based on the residual value of the guarantee provided 

by the Group.

Variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate are initially measured 

using the index or rate as at the commencement date of lease term. Variable lease 

payments not included in the measurement of lease liabilities are accounted in profit 

or loss for the period or as relevant asset costs when actually incurred.

Upon commencement date of the lease term, the Group accounts for interest 

expenses of lease liabilities for each period during the lease term according to fixed 

periodic rates and includes the same in profit or loss for the period or the cost of 

relevant assets.
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32 Lease (Continued)

32.1 The Group as lessee (Continued)

32.1.2 Lease liabilities (Continued)

For the following cases after the commencement date of lease term, the Group shall 

remeasure lease liabilities and adjust the right-of-use assets correspondingly. If the 

carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced to zero and there is a further 

reduction in the lease liability, the Group recognizes any difference in profit or loss 

for the period:

• If changes are caused by changes in lease term or assessment results of 

purchase option, the Group shall remeasure lease liabilities according to its 

present value calculated using the revised lease payments and discount rates;

• Should there be changes to the payable amounts estimated by residual value 

of the guarantee or the index or ratio used to determine lease payments, 

the Group shall remeasure lease liabilities according to its present value 

calculated using the revised lease payments and original discount rates.

32.1.3 Judgment criteria for simplified treatment of short-term leases as lessee and 

accounting treatment method

For short-term leases under office and operating buildings, the Group chooses 

not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. Short-term leases refer 

to those with lease term under 12 months and without purchase option as of the 

commencement date of lease term. Lease payments of short-term leases are 

included in profit or loss for the period within each period during lease term using 

the straight-line method.

32.1.4 Lease modification

If modification of lease occurs and meets the following conditions, the Group will 

conduct accounting treatment for the modification of lease as a separate lease:

• The modification of lease expands the scope of lease by increasing the right-

of-use of one or more leased assets;

• The increased consideration and the individual price of the expanded part of 

scope of lease are equivalent after adjustment is made in accordance with 

situation of the contract.
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III SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 
(Continued)

32 Lease (Continued)

32.1 The Group as lessee (Continued)

32.1.4 Lease modification (Continued)

If accounting treatment for the modification of lease as a separate lease is not 

conducted, the Group shall re-amortize the modified consideration of contract and 

redetermine the lease term on the effective date of modification of lease and discount 

the modified lease payments using the revised discount rate, in order to remeasure 

the lease liabilities.

If the modification of lease results in a narrower scope of lease or a shorter lease 

term, the Group reduces the carrying amount of the right-of-use assets accordingly 

and recognizes the gains or losses relevant to the partial or complete termination 

of the leases in profit or loss for the period. For other lease modifications resulting 

in the remeasurement of lease liabilities, the Group adjusts the carrying amount of 

the right-of-use assets accordingly.

32.2 The Group as lessor

32.2.1 Classification of leases and accounting treatment as lessor

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers practically substantially all the 

risks and rewards incidental to ownership of a leased asset. Other leases which are 

not finance leases are operating leases.

32.2.1.1 The Group as lessor accounting for operating lease business

During each period of the lease term, the Group recognizes rents of operating 

leases as rental income using the straight-line method. Initial direct expenses 

related to operating leases are capitalized when incurred, and are amortized 

to profit or loss in the period over the lease term using the same basis as for 

the recognition of rental income.

For the variable lease payments not included in lease payments but related 

to operating lease, the Group recognizes the amount in profit or loss during 

the period it is actually incurred.
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III SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 
(Continued)

33 Deferred tax assets/deferred tax liabilities

The income tax expenses include current income tax and deferred income tax.

33.1 Current income tax

At the balance sheet date, current income tax liabilities (or assets) for the current and prior 

periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid (or recovered) according to the 

requirements of tax laws.

33.2 Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities

For the differences between the carrying amounts of certain assets or liabilities and their 

tax base, or for the temporary differences between the carrying amount of those items 

that are not recognized as assets or liabilities and their tax base that can be determined 

according to tax laws, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized using the balance 

sheet liability method.

Deferred tax is generally recognized for all temporary differences. Deferred tax assets 

for deductible temporary differences are recognized to the extent that it is probable that 

taxable profits will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can 

be utilized. In addition, for temporary differences associated with the initial recognition of 

goodwill and the initial recognition of an asset or liability arising from a transaction (not 

a business combination) that affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profits (or 

deductible losses) and does not result in equal amount of taxable temporary difference 

and deductible temporary difference at the time of transaction, no deferred tax asset or 

liability is recognized.

For deductible losses and tax credits that can be carried forward, deferred tax assets are 

recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against 

which the deductible losses and tax credits can be utilized.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences associated with 

investments in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where 

the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is 

probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred 

tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments 

and interests are only recognized to the extent that it is probable that there will be taxable 

profits against which to utilize the benefits of the temporary differences and they are 

expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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III SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 
(Continued)

33 Deferred tax assets/deferred tax liabilities (Continued)

33.2 Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities (Continued)

At the balance sheet date, deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates, 

according to tax laws, that are expected to apply in the period in which the asset is realized 

or the liability is settled.

Current and deferred tax expenses or income are recognized in profit or loss for the period, 

except when they arise from transactions or events that are directly recognized in other 

comprehensive income or in shareholders’ equity, in which case they are recognized in 

other comprehensive income or in shareholders’ equity; and when they arise from business 

combinations, in which case they adjust the carrying amount of goodwill.

At the balance sheet date, the carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed and 

reduced if it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available in the 

future to allow the benefit of deferred tax assets to be utilized. Such reduction in amount 

is reversed when it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available.

33.3 Elimination of income tax

When the Group has a legal right to settle on a net basis and intends either to settle on a 

net basis or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, current tax assets 

and current tax liabilities are offset and presented on a net basis.

When the Group has a legal right to settle current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis, 

and deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the 

same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which 

intend either to settle current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis or to realize the assets 

and liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred 

tax assets or liabilities are expected to be reversed, deferred tax assets and deferred tax 

liabilities are offset and presented on a net basis.

34 Changes in significant accounting policies and accounting estimates

During the six months ended 30 June 2025, the Group had no changes in significant accounting 

policies and accounting estimates.
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IV KEY ASSUMPTIONS AND UNCERTAINTIES APPLIED IN ACCOUNTING 
ESTIMATES

In the application of accounting policies as set out in Note III, the Group is required to make judgements, 

estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of items in the financial statements that cannot 

be measured accurately, due to the internal uncertainties of the operating activities. These judgements, 

estimates and assumptions are based on historical experience of the Group’s management as well as 

other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates of the 

Group.

The aforementioned judgements, estimates and assumptions are reviewed regularly by the Group on a 

going concern basis. The effect of a change in accounting estimate is recognized in the period of the 

change, if the change affects that period only; or recognized in the period of the change and future 

periods, if the change affects both.

Key assumptions and uncertainties applied in accounting estimates

The following are the key assumptions and uncertainties in accounting estimates at the balance sheet 

date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities in future periods:

Credit loss provision

The Group determines credit loss provision on the basis of ECL rate of accounts receivable. At the end 

of the year, the Group made adjustments to the estimates of ECL rate and credit loss provision based on 

the historical data and forward-looking information of the existing customers. If the re-assessment results 

differ from the existing estimates, the difference shall affect carrying amount of accounts receivable and 

profit or loss for the period when estimates change.

Provisions for decline in value of inventories

The Group determines provisions for decline in value of inventories on the basis of the estimates of net 

realizable value of inventories. Judgements and estimates shall be applied in measuring provisions for 

decline in value of inventories. If the re-assessment results differ from the existing estimates, the difference 

shall affect carrying amount of inventories and profit or loss for the period when estimates change.
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IV KEY ASSUMPTIONS AND UNCERTAINTIES APPLIED IN ACCOUNTING 
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key assumptions and uncertainties applied in accounting estimates (Continued)

Impairment of goodwill

The Group tests whether goodwill is impaired at least at the end of every year and when circumstances 

indicate that goodwill may be impaired. This requires an estimation of the future cash flows that will be 

generated by the asset groups or groups of asset group to which the goodwill is allocated, and a choice 

of a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those future cash flows.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused deductible temporary differences and deductible 

losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 

temporary differences and deductible losses can be utilized. Significant management judgment is required 

to estimate the timing and amount of future taxable profits. Where the expectation is different from the 

original estimate, such differences will impact the recognition of deferred tax assets in the periods in 

which such estimate is modified.

Provisions

The Company estimates return rates, product quality assurance, etc. and makes corresponding provisions 

based on contract terms, existing knowledge and historical experience. When such contingencies have 

formed a current obligation, and the performance of such current obligation is likely to result in the 

outflow of economic benefits from the Company, the Company’s best estimate of the expenditures 

required to perform the relevant current obligation in relation to the contingencies shall be recognized as 

provision. The recognition and measurement of provisions rely heavily on the management’s judgment. 

In the process of making judgments, the Company needs to evaluate the risks, uncertainties, time value 

of money and other factors related to these contingencies.

Fair value of financial instruments

For financial instruments that do not have an active trading market, the Group determines their fair value 

through various valuation methods. These valuation methods include discounted cash flow model analysis, 

etc. During valuation, the Group needs to estimate future cash flow, credit risk, market volatility and 

correlation, and select an appropriate discount rate. The relevant assumptions are uncertain and their 

changes will have an impact on the fair value of financial instruments.
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V TAXES

1 Major categories of taxes and tax rates

Category of tax Basis of tax calculation Tax rate
   

Value-added tax Note 13%, 9%, 6%, 3%

City maintenance and

 construction tax

Turnover tax paid 7%, 5%

Education surcharges Turnover tax paid 3%

Local education surcharges Turnover tax paid 2%

Enterprise income tax Assessable income 25%, 15%

Property tax Residual value after deducting 10% 

 to 30% from the cost of the property/

 rental income of the property

1.2%, 12%

   

Note: Value-added tax is calculated at the amount of output tax net of deductible input tax. Output tax is calculated on 

the basis of sales volume as per relevant tax laws.

2 Tax incentives and official approvals

Enterprise income tax

In accordance with the Announcement on Tax Policies for the Transformation of Operating 

Cultural Institutions into Enterprises of Cultural System Reform (Announcement of the MoF, State 

Administration of Taxation and Publicity Department No. 20 of 2024) issued by the MoF, State 

Administration of Taxation and Publicity Department, the Company and its subsidiaries, Beijing 

Shuchuan Xinhua Bookstore Book Distribution Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Shuchuan”), Sichuan Xinhua 

Online Network Co., Ltd. (“Xinhua Online”), Sichuan Winshare Cultural Communication Co., Ltd. 

(“Sichuan Cultural Communication”) and the Company’s fourteen publishing units enjoyed 

enterprise income tax exemption from the registration date of transformation until 31 December 

2027.
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V TAXES (Continued)

2 Tax incentives and official approvals (Continued)

Enterprise income tax (Continued)

In accordance with the Notice on the Continuous Implementation of Several Tax Policies for 

the Transformation of Operating Cultural Institutions into Enterprises of Cultural System Reform 

(Announcement of the MoF, State Administration of Taxation and Publicity Department No. 71 of 

2023), the Announcement on the List of the First Batch of State-transformed Cultural Enterprises 

(Liang Cai Fa Shui [2021] No. 4) and the Announcement on Tax Policies for the Transformation of 

Operating Cultural Institutions into Enterprises of Cultural System Reform (Announcement of the 

MoF, State Administration of Taxation and Publicity Department No. 20 of 2024) issued by the 

MoF, State Administration of Taxation and Publicity Department, Liangshanzhou Xinhua Bookstore 

Co., Ltd. (“Liangshanzhou Xinhua Bookstore”), a subsidiary of the Company, was entitled to 

the enterprise income tax exemption policy from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2027.

In accordance with the Announcement on Renewing the Enterprise Income Tax Policy for Great 

Western Development (Announcement of the MoF, State Administration of Taxation and National 

Development and Reform Commission No. 23 of 2020) issued by the MoF, the State Administration 

of Taxation, and the National Development and Reform Commission, some of the Company’s 

subsidiaries were included in encouraged industries in Western China, which were subject to 

enterprise income tax calculated at the rate of 15% of the assessable income.

Value-added tax

Pursuant to Notice on Renewing the Implementation of Promoting Cultural Value-added Tax 

Preferential Policies (Announcement of MoF and the State Administration of Taxation No. 60 of 

2023) issued by the MoF and the State Administration of Taxation, for the period from 1 January 

2024 to 31 December 2027, the Group’s publications of newspapers and journals published for 

children and the elderly, textbooks for students in primary and secondary schools and publications 

for ethnic minorities were entitled to preferential policy of 100% reimbursement of value-added 

tax during publishing phase; apart from the above publications that were entitled to preferential 

policy of 100% reimbursement of value-added tax, other publications such as books, journals, 

audio-visual products and electronic publications were entitled to preferential policy of 50% 

reimbursement of value-added tax during publishing phase; and the book wholesale and retail 

business was entitled to exemption from value-added tax.
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VI NOTES TO ITEMS IN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 Cash and bank balances

30 June 2025 (Unaudited) 31 December 2024

Item

Amounts

of the original

currencies

Exchange

rate Amount in RMB

Amounts

of the original

currencies

Exchange

rate Amount in RMB

RMB RMB RMB RMB
       

Cash on hand:

RMB 99,147.05 1.0000 99,147.05 202,669.04 1.0000 202,669.04

Bank balances:

RMB (Note 1) 9,182,126,351.24 1.0000 9,182,126,351.24 9,133,000,046.19 1.0000 9,133,000,046.19

USD 19,578.05 7.1586 140,151.43 19,573.09 7.1884 140,699.20

EUR – – – 68.69 7.5257 516.94

HKD 73,148.14 0.9119 66,707.45 73,144.44 0.9260 67,734.67

Other currency funds:

RMB (Note 2) 36,053,866.93 1.0000 36,053,866.93 46,266,458.64 1.0000 46,266,458.64
       

Total 9,218,486,224.10 9,179,678,124.68
       

Note 1: On 30 June 2025, the bank balances include 3-month above time deposits amounting to RMB6,260,239,136.98 (31 

December 2024: RMB4,874,193,671.25). The management held the term deposits for the Period with the intention 

of flexible arrangement of funds and withdrew funds at any time depending on the capital needs. The bank balances 

include time deposits with a term exceeding 3 months and maturing within 1 year, which the management intended 

to hold to maturity with a principal of RMB685,000,000.00, and accrued interest calculated based on the effective 

interest rate method of RMB49,973,316.30.

Note 2: On 30 June 2025, other currency funds include the balances with Alipay App account, WeChat App account, 

E-commerce platform online store account and securities account of RMB4,841,452.43 (31 December 2024: 

RMB6,066,712.58), and the remaining are restricted currency funds. For details, please refer to Note VI.55.
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VI NOTES TO ITEMS IN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Continued)

2 Notes receivable

Categories of notes receivable

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Category (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Commercial acceptance bills – 933,791.30
   

On 30 June 2025, there were no commercial acceptance bills pledged by the Group, and there 

were no commercial acceptance bills endorsed by the Group not yet due as at the balance sheet 

date (31 December 2024: nil).

3 Accounts receivable

(1) Disclosure by aging

Carrying

balance as at

30 June 2025

Carrying

balance as at

31 December 

2024

Aging (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Within 1 year 1,475,306,976.10 1,322,268,524.78

More than 1 year but not exceeding 2 years 307,542,172.25 340,665,693.99

More than 2 years but not exceeding 3 years 185,568,599.64 300,967,987.68

More than 3 years 565,865,196.65 425,031,451.14
   

Subtotal 2,534,282,944.64 2,388,933,657.59

Less: Provision for credit loss 818,661,216.68 862,123,401.06
   

Total 1,715,621,727.96 1,526,810,256.53
   

The aging analysis of accounts receivable above is based on the date on which the 

customer gains control over the relevant goods or services.
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3 Accounts receivable (Continued)

(2) Disclosure by provision method of credit loss

30 June 2025 (unaudited) 31 December 2024

Carrying amount Credit loss provision Carrying amount Credit loss provision

Category Amount

Percentage

(%) Amount

Provision

percentage

(%) Carrying value Amount

Percentage

(%) Amount

Provision

percentage

(%) Carrying value

RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
           

Provision for credit loss on

 an individual basis 463,496,392.12 18.29 241,874,624.96 52.18 221,621,767.16 460,346,993.09 19.27 242,157,920.27 52.60 218,189,072.82

Provision for credit loss on

 a collective basis 2,070,786,552.52 81.71 576,786,591.72 27.85 1,493,999,960.80 1,928,586,664.50 80.73 619,965,480.79 32.15 1,308,621,183.71

Total 2,534,282,944.64 100.00 818,661,216.68 1,715,621,727.96 2,388,933,657.59 100.00 862,123,401.06 1,526,810,256.53
           

Provision for credit loss on an individual basis

30 June 2025 (unaudited)

Name of entity Carrying balance

Provision for

credit loss

Provision

percentage (%)

Reason

for provision

RMB RMB
     

Customer A 136,915,740.31 123,421,945.66 90.14 Poor solvency

Customer D 79,297,275.50 10,633,764.64 13.41 Slow recovery speed

Others 247,283,376.31 107,818,914.66 43.60 Slow recovery speed, etc.
    

Total 463,496,392.12 241,874,624.96 52.18
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VI NOTES TO ITEMS IN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Continued)

3 Accounts receivable (Continued)

(2) Disclosure by provision method of credit loss (Continued)

Provision for credit loss on a collective basis

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group uses an impairment matrix to 

determine the expected credit losses of accounts receivable formed by various businesses 

based on the aging of accounts receivable. These businesses involve a large number of 

small customers with the same risk characteristics, and the aging information can reflect 

the solvency of such customers as the accounts receivable fall due.

30 June 2025 (unaudited)

Aging

Carrying

balance

Provision for

credit loss

Provision

percentage (%) Carrying value

RMB RMB RMB
     

Within 1 year 1,414,879,690.62 97,640,401.42 6.90 1,317,239,289.20

More than 1 year but not

 exceeding 2 years 256,500,895.17 97,916,827.57 38.17 158,584,067.60

More than 2 years but not

 exceeding 3 years 123,294,487.35 108,693,480.70 88.16 14,601,006.65

More than 3 years 276,111,479.38 272,535,882.03 98.71 3,575,597.35
     

Total 2,070,786,552.52 576,786,591.72 27.85 1,493,999,960.80
     

(3) Credit loss provision made or reversed in the Period

See Note X for details of recognition of credit loss.

(4) Accounts receivable actually written off for the Period

See Note X for details of accounts receivable actually written off for the Period.
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VI NOTES TO ITEMS IN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Continued)

3 Accounts receivable (Continued)

(5) Top five debtors with the largest balances of accounts receivable at the end of the 

Period

Name of

entity

Balance of 

accounts 

receivable as 

at 30 June 2025

Balance of 

contract 

assets as at

30 June 2025

Closing 

balance of 

accounts 

receivable and 

contract 

assets as at 

30 June 2025

As a 

percentage 

of the total 

balance of 

accounts 

receivable 

and contract 

assets (%)

Balance of bad 

debt provision 

as at 30 June 

2025

(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

RMB RMB RMB RMB
      

Customer A 136,915,740.31 670,000.00 137,585,740.31 5.41 123,421,945.66

Customer D 79,297,275.50 – 79,297,275.50 3.12 10,633,764.64

Customer B 75,696,274.19 – 75,696,274.19 2.97 1,922,922.42

Customer E 41,293,002.40 – 41,293,002.40 1.62 31,980,367.49

Customer O 29,103,522.64 – 29,103,522.64 1.14 14,047,293.35
      

Total 362,305,815.04 670,000.00 362,975,815.04 14.26 182,006,293.56
      

The total transaction volume between the above-mentioned customers and the Group in 

the period from 1 January to 30 June 2025 accounted for less than 1% of the Group’s 

operating income.

4 Financing receivables

(1) Classification of financing receivables

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Item (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Bank acceptance bills measured 

 at fair value (Note 1) 12,315,749.24 15,232,141.87
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4 Financing receivables (Continued)

(2) Financing receivables endorsed by the Group as at 30 June 2025 and not yet due as 

at the balance sheet date

Amounts

derecognized as at

30 June 2025

Amounts not yet

derecognized as at

30 June 2025

Item (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Bank acceptance bills measured

 at fair value (Note 2) 9,630,399.93 –
   

Note 1: In the process of managing corporate liquidity, the Group would endorse the transfer of some of its bank 

acceptance bills, and derecognize endorsed bank acceptance bills given that substantially all risks and 

rewards have been transferred to the relevant counterparties. The business model of some of the Group’s 

subsidiaries in managing bank acceptance bills aims at both receiving contract cash flows and selling the 

financial assets. Therefore, the bank acceptance bills receivable under such business model are classified 

as financial assets at FVTOCI. Please refer to Note XI.1 for the determination of fair value.

During the Period, the Group did not make provision for credit impairment loss with respect to its financing 

receivables.

Note 2: As at 30 June 2025, the Group had derecognized bank acceptance bills endorsed and not yet due of 

RMB9,630,399.93 (31 December 2024: RMB41,512,566.59). Please refer to Note X.2 for details.
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(Continued)

5 Prepayments

(1) Aging analysis of prepayments

30 June 2025 (Unaudited) 31 December 2024

Aging Amount

Proportion

(%) Amount

Proportion

(%)

RMB RMB
     

Within 1 year 66,623,622.71 72.25 39,438,582.68 60.85

More than 1 year but not

 exceeding 2 years 6,014,407.77 6.52 6,266,157.71 9.67

More than 2 years but not

 exceeding 3 years 5,594,719.32 6.07 3,968,486.16 6.12

More than 3 years 13,978,613.11 15.16 15,141,875.45 23.36
     

Total 92,211,362.91 100.00 64,815,102.00 100.00
     

The prepayment aged more than one year is mainly outstanding payments for goods 

prepaid to the supplier.

(2) Top five entities with the largest balances of prepayments at the end of the Period

Name of entity

Relationship

with the

Company 30 June 2025

As a

percentage

of the total

prepayments

(%)

(Unaudited)

RMB
    

Chengdu Quyoumi Network 

 Technology Co., Ltd. Third party 19,887,578.07 21.57

Mikekailun (Shenzhen) Culture 

 Media Co., Ltd. Third party 2,500,110.00 2.71

Sichuan Runze Haoyu Technology 

 Co., Ltd. Third party 2,483,176.50 2.69

Chengdu Dongji Six Senses 

 Information Technology Co., Ltd Third party 2,475,247.52 2.68

Sichuan Yanjin Culture 

 Communication Co., Ltd. Third party 2,368,254.04 2.57
    

Total 29,714,366.13 32.22
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6 Other receivables

6.1 Presentation of items

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Item (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Dividend receivables 83,852,000.00 1,578,000.00

Other receivables 188,790,132.02 259,859,606.97
   

Total 272,642,132.02 261,437,606.97
   

6.2 Dividend receivables

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Item (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Bank of Chengdu Co., Ltd. 

 (“Bank of Chengdu”) 71,280,000.00 –

Anhui Xinhua Media Co., Ltd. 

 (“Wan Xin Media”) 12,464,000.00 –

The Commercial Press (Chengdu) 

 Co., Ltd. (“The Commercial Press”) – 1,470,000.00

Sichuan Education and Science 

 Forum Magazine Press Co., Ltd. 

 (“Education Forum”) 108,000.00 108,000.00
   

Total 83,852,000.00 1,578,000.00
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6 Other receivables (Continued)

6.3 Other receivables

(1) Other receivables by aging

Carrying

balance as at

30 June 2025

Carrying

balance as at

31 December 2024

Aging (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Within 1 year 102,529,374.06 175,539,251.01

More than 1 year but not

 exceeding 2 years 17,726,184.20 5,784,103.73

More than 2 years but not

 exceeding 3 years 16,519,226.10 22,332,274.48

More than 3 years 61,726,358.43 70,227,643.87
   

Subtotal 198,501,142.79 273,883,273.09

Less: Provision for credit loss 9,711,010.77 14,023,666.12
   

Total 188,790,132.02 259,859,606.97
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VI NOTES TO ITEMS IN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Continued)

6 Other receivables (Continued)

6.3 Other receivables (Continued)

(2) Disclosure by provision method of credit loss

30 June 2025 (Unaudited) 31 December 2024

Carrying amount Credit loss provision Carrying amount Credit loss provision

Category Amount

Percentage

(%) Amount

Provision

percentage

(%) Carrying value Amount

Percentage

(%) Amount

Provision

percentage

(%) Carrying value

RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
           

Provision for credit loss on

 an individual basis 108,204,671.58 54.51 – – 108,204,671.58 90,620,695.85 33.09 – – 90,620,695.85

Provision for credit loss on

 a collective basis 90,296,471.21 45.49 9,711,010.77 10.75 80,585,460.44 183,262,577.24 66.91 14,023,666.12 7.65 169,238,911.12

Total 198,501,142.79 100.00 9,711,010.77 188,790,132.02 273,883,273.09 100.00 14,023,666.12 259,859,606.97
           

Provision for credit loss on an individual basis

30 June 2025 (Unaudited)

Name of entity

Carrying 

balance

Provision for 

credit loss

Provision 

percentage 

(%)

Reason for 

provision

RMB RMB
     

Deposit/security deposit/

 petty cash 108,204,671.58 – – N/A
     

Provision for credit loss on a collective basis

30 June 2025 (Unaudited)

Aging

Carrying

balance

Provision for

credit loss

Provision

percentage

(%)

Carrying

value

RMB RMB RMB
     

Within 1 year 68,179,469.19 468,189.66 0.69 67,711,279.53

More than 1 year but not

 exceeding 2 years 13,345,414.63 471,233.72 3.53 12,874,180.91

More than 2 years but not

 exceeding 3 years 250,769.79 250,769.79 100.00 –

More than 3 years 8,520,817.60 8,520,817.60 100.00 –
     

Total 90,296,471.21 9,711,010.77 10.75 80,585,460.44
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VI NOTES TO ITEMS IN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Continued)

6 Other receivables (Continued)

6.3 Other receivables (Continued)

(3) Credit loss provision made or reversed in the Period

See Note X for details of recognition of credit loss.

(4) Other accounts receivable actually written off in the Period

See Note X for details of other accounts receivable actually written off in the current 
period.

(5) Other receivables presented by nature

30 June 2025 31 December 2024
Nature of other receivables (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Amount due from related parties 228,163.23 116,478.80
Deposit and guarantee deposit 106,686,948.58 89,353,221.45
Petty cash 1,517,723.00 1,267,474.40
Enterprise income tax refund 
 receivable – 129,627,012.70
VAT refund receivable 32,785,026.16 –
Others 57,283,281.82 53,519,085.74
   

Total 198,501,142.79 273,883,273.09
   

(6) Top five debtors with the largest balances of other receivables at the end of the 
Period

Name of entity Nature

Balance as at
30 June 2025

(Unaudited) Aging

As a percentage
of total other

receivables (%)

Balance
of credit loss

provision as at
30 June 2025

(Unaudited)
RMB RMB

      

Sichuan Supervision Bureau 
 of the MoF

VAT refund receivable 32,785,026.16 Less than 1 year 16.52 –

Higher Education Press 
 Co., Ltd.

Deposit/security 
 deposit

30,000,000.00 Less than 1 year, 
 1-2 years, 
 2-3 years, 
 more than 
 3 years

15.11 –

Hubei Ocean Engine 
 Technology Co., Ltd.

Deposit/security 
 deposit

5,509,550.22 Less than 1 year 2.78 –

Education Department of 
 Tibet Autonomous Region

Deposit/security 
 deposit

5,230,000.00 More than 3 years 2.63 –

Dazhou Senior High 
 School Peiwen School

Deposit/security 
 deposit

3,158,938.20 More than 3 years 1.59 –

      

Total 76,683,514.58 38.63
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VI NOTES TO ITEMS IN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Continued)

7 Inventories

(1) Categories of inventories

30 June 2025 (Unaudited) 31 December 2024

Item Book balance

Provision for 

decline in value

Carrying 

amount Book balance

Provision for 

decline in value

Carrying 

amount

RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
       

Goods on hand 2,520,402,162.84 262,121,951.47 2,258,280,211.37 2,450,567,885.32 224,290,040.35 2,226,277,844.97

Work-in-progress 125,288,295.65 – 125,288,295.65 167,871,078.11 – 167,871,078.11

Raw materials 23,546,750.19 3,488,665.51 20,058,084.68 31,926,748.45 3,486,948.05 28,439,800.40
       

Total 2,669,237,208.68 265,610,616.98 2,403,626,591.70 2,650,365,711.88 227,776,988.40 2,422,588,723.48
       

There were no inventories pledged as at the end of the Period.

(2) Provision for decline in value of inventories

Category of

inventories 1 January 2025

Decrease in the current period

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

Provision for the 

current period

Reversal or 

reallocation

Write-off for the 

current period

Other 

decreases

RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
       

Goods on hand 224,290,040.35 40,257,470.98 158,830.56 2,266,729.30 – 262,121,951.47

Raw materials 3,486,948.05 1,717.46 – – – 3,488,665.51
       

Total 227,776,988.40 40,259,188.44 158,830.56 2,266,729.30 – 265,610,616.98
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VI NOTES TO ITEMS IN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Continued)

7 Inventories (Continued)

(2) Provision for decline in value of inventories (Continued)

Provision for decline in value of inventories on a collective basis

30 June 2025 (Unaudited) 31 December 2024

Name of group

Carrying 

balance

Provision for

decline in value

Provision

percentage (%)

Carrying 

balance

Provision for

decline in value

Provision

percentage (%)

RMB RMB RMB RMB
       

Goods on hand – General books 2,081,819,233.93 161,839,130.79 7.77 1,859,579,869.21 139,478,045.50 7.50

Goods on hand – Textbooks 276,128,191.75 50,880,903.78 18.43 445,352,428.98 35,581,319.76 7.99

Goods on hand – Paper 54,650,871.07 2,983,770.82 5.46 28,917,136.02 2,983,770.82 10.32

Goods on hand – Others 107,803,866.09 46,418,146.08 43.06 116,718,451.11 46,246,904.27 39.62

Work-in-progress 125,288,295.65 – – 167,871,078.11 – –

Raw materials 23,546,750.19 3,488,665.51 14.82 31,926,748.45 3,486,948.05 10.92
       

Total 2,669,237,208.68 265,610,616.98 2,650,365,711.88 227,776,988.40
       

8 Contract assets

(1) Details of contract assets

30 June 2025 (Unaudited) 31 December 2024

Item Book balance

Provision for

impairment

Carrying 

amount Book balance

Provision for

impairment

Carrying 

amount

RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
       

Contract assets arising from 

 contracts with customers 11,176,898.51 – 11,176,898.51 5,584,567.76 – 5,584,567.76
       

Total 11,176,898.51 – 11,176,898.51 5,584,567.76 – 5,584,567.76
       

Contract assets are security deposit recognized under contractual agreements that will 

expire in less than one year, and the Group presents contract assets that expire in more 

than one year as other non-current assets. See Note VI.22 for details.
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VI NOTES TO ITEMS IN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Continued)

8 Contract assets (Continued)

(2) Qualitative and quantitative analysis of contract assets

Contract assets refer to the rights to receive consideration for the transfer of goods by the 

Group to its customers, and that right depends on factors other than the passage of time. 

The Group’s unconditional right (only the passage of time is required) to consideration from 

customer is presented separately as receivables. The Group expects to transfer contract 

assets into accounts receivable within one year.

9 Other current assets

(1) Details of other current assets

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Item (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Refund costs receivable (Note 1) 40,416,398.15 49,946,368.86

VAT input tax to be deducted (Note 2) 28,297,913.85 26,874,390.21

Others – 296,166.19
   

Total 68,714,312.00 77,116,925.26
   

Note 1: As at 30 June 2025, the refund costs receivable was RMB40,416,398.15 (31 December 2024: 

RMB49,946,368.86), including the original value of the refund costs receivable of RMB57,021,543.78 (31 

December 2024: RMB65,540,063.61), and the provision for asset impairment of RMB16,605,145.63 (31 

December 2024: RMB15,593,694.75).

Note 2: VAT input tax to be deducted represents VAT input tax to be deducted by the Group within one year in the 

future.

(2) Details of impairment provision

Item 1 January 2025

Provision for the 

current period

Reversal for the 

current period

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

RMB RMB RMB RMB
     

Refund costs receivable 15,593,694.75 1,011,450.88 – 16,605,145.63
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VI NOTES TO ITEMS IN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Continued)

10 Long-term receivables

(1) Details of long-term receivables

30 June 2025 (Unaudited) 31 December 2024

Range of

discount rateItem

Book

balance

Provision for

impairment

Carrying

amount

Book

balance

Provision for

impairment

Carrying

amount

RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
        

Goods sold by instalments 

 (Note) 64,366,836.91 2,055,321.30 62,311,515.61 91,589,834.55 3,133,647.19 88,456,187.36 3.10% – 4.75%

Less: Long-term receivables 

 included in non-current 

 assets due within 

 one year 38,419,105.76 1,289,245.37 37,129,860.39 51,068,383.73 1,805,075.26 49,263,308.47 3.10% – 4.75%
        

Net 25,947,731.15 766,075.93 25,181,655.22 40,521,450.82 1,328,571.93 39,192,878.89
        

Note: Receivables of goods sold by instalments are the Group’s receivables for education informatization and 

equipment business, which shall be collected by instalments in accordance with the contract. The agreed 

period in the contract is 2-5 years and the Group has discounted the instalments at a discount rate of 

3.10%-4.75% (31 December 2024: 3.45%-5%).

(2) Details of provision for credit loss

See Note X for details of recognition of credit loss.

11 Long-term equity investments

(1) Summary of long-term equity investments:

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Item (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Book balance of long-term equity

 investments 828,204,071.14 812,969,446.27

Less: Provision for impairment of

 long-term equity investments 6,647,345.57 6,647,345.57
   

Carrying amount of long-term equity

 investments 821,556,725.57 806,322,100.70
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VI NOTES TO ITEMS IN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Continued)

11 Long-term equity investments (Continued)

(2) Details of long-term equity investments are as follows: (Continued)

Note 3: As a limited partner, Winshare Investment, a subsidiary of the Company, contributed 56.34% of the total 
subscribed capital to Fuzhou Winshare. According to the partnership agreement of Fuzhou Winshare, the 
investment decision-making committee is responsible for the decision of fund projects. Winshare Investment 
holds 25% of the voting rights in the investment decision-making committee, by which it can exert significant 
influence on Fuzhou Winshare. Therefore, Fuzhou Winshare is an associate of the Group.

Note 4: In July 2019, Sichuan Tiandi Publishing House Co., Ltd. (“Tiandi Publishing House”), a subsidiary of the 
Company, and Shanghai Ximalaya Network Technology Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Ximalaya”) entered into an 
investment agreement, jointly establishing Tianxi Zhongda, with a shareholding proportion of 40% and 60% 
respectively. In 2020, Shanghai Ximalaya transferred 5% of the equity interests of Tianxi Zhongda it held to 
Huang Wenhua. In June 2021, Shanghai Ximalaya transferred 55% of the equity interests of Tianxi Zhongda 
it held to Shanghai Xizhao Network Technology Co., Ltd. According to the latest articles of association of 
Tianxi Zhongda, the resolutions of Tianxi Zhongda on the events such as annual financial budget plan, final 
accounting plan, profit distribution and making up losses plans etc. must be approved by the shareholders 
representing more than 50% of the voting power. Therefore, Tianxi Zhongda is an associate of the Group.

Note 5: In August 2019, the Company entered into an investment agreement with Beijing Guoling Smart Health 
and Elderly Care Industry Development Centre and Fenglinhong (Beijing) Cultural Communication Co., Ltd., 
jointly establishing Winshare Yinshi, with a shareholding proportion of 40%, 30% and 30% respectively. 
According to the articles of association, the resolutions of Winshare Yinshi on the events such as annual 
financial budget plan, final accounting plan, profit distribution and making up losses plans etc. must be 
approved by the shareholders representing more than 50% of the voting power. Therefore, Winshare Yinshi 
is an associate of the Group.

Note 6: On 30 December 2020, Hainan Xinhua Bookstore Group Co., Ltd. transferred 25% equity interests in Hainan 
Phoenix to the Company by way of transfer under an agreement. According to the articles of association 
of Hainan Phoenix, the Company has appointed two directors to Hainan Phoenix and is able to exercise 
significant influence over Hainan Phoenix. Therefore, Hainan Phoenix is an associate of the Group.

Note 7: On 14 July 2021, the Company entered into an investment agreement with Sichuan Magic Cloud Technology 
Co., Ltd., Sichuan Daily Newspaper Network Media Development Company Limited, Sichuan Lianxiang 
Future Technology Partnership (Limited Partnership), Sichuan Cable Radio and Television Network Co., 
Ltd. and Sichuan Rennixue Education Technology Co., Ltd., jointly establishing Cuiya Education, with a 
shareholding proportion of 18%, 34%, 18%, 15%, 11% and 4% respectively. According to the articles of 
association of Cuiya Education, the Company has appointed one director to Cuiya Education. The chairman 
of the board of directors shall be recommended by the Company and elected and removed by more than 
half of the directors of the board of directors. As the Company is able to exercise significant influence over 
Cuiya Education, Cuiya Education is an associate of the Group.

Note 8: On 12 March 2023, Sichuan Digital Publishing Co., Ltd. (“Digital Publishing”), a subsidiary of the Company, 
and Sichuan New Media Group Co., Ltd. jointly established Sichuan Digital World Culture Technology 
Co., Ltd., with the shareholding ratios of the two parties being 49% and 51%, respectively. According to 
the articles of association of Digital World, the Group appoints a director to Digital World, and can exert 
significant influence on Digital World. Therefore, Digital World is an associate of the Group.

(3) Details of unrecognized investment losses are as follows:

30 June 2025 (Unaudited) 31 December 2024

Item

Unrecognized
investment

losses for the
Period

Accumulated
unrecognized

investment
losses

Unrecognized
investment

losses for the
prior year

Accumulated
unrecognized

investment
losses

RMB RMB RMB RMB
     

Guizhou Winshare – 5,557,990.70 – 5,557,990.70
Fudou Technology 139,101.01 4,520,834.37 273,977.79 4,381,733.36
Cuiya Education – – (2,737.51) –
Xinhua Yingxuan 763,623.72 31,879,595.22 14,996,970.24 31,115,971.50
     

Total 902,724.73 41,958,420.29 15,268,210.52 41,055,695.56
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VI NOTES TO ITEMS IN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Continued)

12 Other equity instrument investments (Continued)

(2) Information on the derecognition of HGZN in the current period:

Item

Accumulated gains 
transferred 
to retained 

earnings due to 
derecognition

Accumulated 
losses transferred 

to retained 
earnings due to

 derecognition
Reason for 

derecognition
RMB

    

HGZN – 246,833.59
Exit according to the 

target situation
    

13 Other non-current financial assets

30 June 2025 31 December 2024
Item (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

CITIC Buyout Investment Fund (Shenzhen) 
Partnership (Limited Partnership) (Note 1) 50,245,142.70 54,735,996.10

Winshare Hengxin (Shenzhen) Equity Investment 
Fund Partnership (Limited Partnership) 
(“Winshare Hengxin”) (Note 2) 13,930,352.24 37,271,655.94

Qingdao Goldstone Zhixin Investment Center 
(Limited Partnership) (“Qingdao Goldstone”) 
(Note 3) 110,359.16 110,225.19

Ningbo Meishan Free Trade Port Winshare 
Dingsheng Equity Investment Partnership 
(Limited Partnership) (Note 4) 75,410,057.53 77,397,665.02

Xinhua Internet E-commerce Co., Ltd. (“Xinhua 
Internet”) (Note 5) 1,055,422.24 1,055,422.24

Sichuan Culture Investment Jinwen Equity 
Investment Fund Partnership (Limited 
Partnership) (Note 6) 39,877,936.13 39,898,387.42

Goldstone Growth Equity Investment (Hangzhou) 
Partnership (Limited Partnership) (Note 7) 51,559,200.90 31,263,184.99

CICC Qichen Phase II (Wuxi) Emerging Industry 
Equity Investment Fund Partnership (Limited 
Partnership) (“CICC Qichen”) (Note 8) 147,786,077.33 119,730,029.16

Sinopec Marketing Co., Ltd. (“Sinopec 
Marketing Company”) (Note 9) 64,501,647.23 61,365,524.00

   

Total 444,476,195.46 422,828,090.06
   

Note 1: Losses from changes in fair values for the current period were RMB1,379,732.29 (prior period: loss of 

RMB14,268,909.56), and the recovery of the exit money due to liquidation of investment project totaled 

RMB3,111,121.11 (prior period: RMB356,071.40).
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VI NOTES TO ITEMS IN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Continued)

13 Other non-current financial assets (Continued)

Note 2: Losses from changes in fair values for the current period were RMB10,342,081.40 (prior period: loss of 

RMB17,478,615.49, and the recovery of the exit money due to liquidation of investment project totaled 

RMB33,683,385.10 (prior period: RMB0).

Note 3: The fund was in liquidation. In 2023, the fund transferred the equity interest it held in Sinopec Marketing Company 

to Winshare Investment. Gains from changes in fair values for the current period were RMB133.97 (prior period: 

losses of RMB183,612.75).

Note 4: Gains from changes in fair values for the current period were RMB421,697.58 (prior period: losses of RMB2,863,874.03), 

and the recovery of the exit money due to liquidation of investment project totaled RMB2,409,305.07 (prior period: 

RMB0).

Note 5: In November 2020, the Company entered into an investment agreement with Xinhua Bookstore Headquarters Co., 

Ltd. and Wan Xin Media to make an investment of RMB3,000,000.00 in Xinhua Internet. The shareholding of the 

Company was 1.39%.

Note 6: Losses from changes in fair values for the current period were RMB20,451.29 (prior period: losses of RMB21,356.38).

Note 7: In the current period, gains from changes in fair values for the current period were RMB296,015.91 (prior period: 

gains of RMB52,880.45), and increase in investment was RMB20,000,000.00 (prior period: RMB0).

Note 8: In the current period, losses from changes in fair value were RMB1,943,951.83 (prior period: losses of 

RMB1,947,859.64), increase in investment was RMB30,000,000.00 (prior period: RMB0), the recovery of investment 

amounted to RMB0 (prior period: RMB1,092,357.55), and the dividends received amounted to RMB0 (prior period: 

RMB695,043.37).

Note 9: Gains from changes in fair values for the current period were RMB3,136,123.23 (prior period: RMB0).

Details of measurement of the above non-current financial assets at fair value are set out in Note XI.
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VI NOTES TO ITEMS IN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Continued)

14 Investment properties

Investment properties measured at cost

Item Buildings
RMB

  

I. Cost
 1 January 2025 120,091,888.37
 Increase in the Period 3,854,320.78
  (1) Acquisition 1,054,606.39
  (2) Transfer from fixed assets 2,799,714.39
 Decrease in the Period 369,000.00
  (1) Disposal 369,000.00
  

 30 June 2025 (Unaudited) 123,577,209.15
  

II. Accumulated depreciation
 1 January 2025 43,490,201.26
 Increase in the Period 3,603,898.17
  (1) Provision 1,745,341.94
  (2) Transfer from fixed assets 1,858,556.23
 Decrease in the Period 336,311.01
  (1) Disposal 336,311.01
  

 30 June 2025 (Unaudited) 46,757,788.42
  

III. Carrying amount
  30 June 2025 (Unaudited) 76,819,420.73
  31 December 2024 76,601,687.11
  

Investment properties of which certificates of title have not been obtained as at the end of 
the current period

Item Carrying amount

Reasons why
certificates of
title have not

been obtained
RMB

   

Buildings of Zhonggulou under Mianning Branch 
 of Liangshanzhou Xinhua Bookstore 10,218,658.80 In process
   

The above investment properties of which certificates of title have not been obtained have no 
significant influence on the Group’s operations.
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VI NOTES TO ITEMS IN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Continued)

15 Fixed assets

(1) Fixed assets

Item Buildings

Machinery and

equipment

Electronic

equipment and

others

Transportation

vehicles Total

RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
      

I. Cost

1 January 2025 3,109,175,860.92 369,163,859.86 220,236,037.74 124,719,000.82 3,823,294,759.34

 Increase in the Period 4,408,645.16 30,800,058.33 3,786,501.73 693,274.34 39,688,479.56

  (1) Acquisition 4,408,645.16 30,800,058.33 3,786,501.73 693,274.34 39,688,479.56

 Decrease in the Period 2,799,714.39 1,184,114.56 5,736,222.45 1,297,257.50 11,017,308.90

  (1) Disposal – 1,184,114.56 5,736,222.45 1,297,257.50 8,217,594.51

  (2) Transfer to investment properties 2,799,714.39 – – – 2,799,714.39
      

 30 June 2025 (Unaudited) 3,110,784,791.69 398,779,803.63 218,286,317.02 124,115,017.66 3,851,965,930.00
      

II. Accumulated depreciation

 1 January 2025 929,678,037.97 280,291,095.84 168,210,352.58 85,383,776.91 1,463,563,263.30

 Increase in the Period 49,241,532.66 7,445,917.90 12,492,639.36 5,819,935.40 75,000,025.32

  (1) Provision 49,241,532.66 7,445,917.90 12,492,639.36 5,819,935.40 75,000,025.32

 Decrease in the Period 1,858,556.23 1,142,584.57 5,667,576.74 1,258,340.44 9,927,057.98

  (1) Disposal – 1,142,584.57 5,667,576.74 1,258,340.44 8,068,501.75

  (2) Transfer to investment properties 1,858,556.23 – – – 1,858,556.23
      

 30 June 2025 (Unaudited) 977,061,014.40 286,594,429.17 175,035,415.20 89,945,371.87 1,528,636,230.64
      

III. Provision for impairment of fixed assets

 1 January 2025 15,996.52 – – – 15,996.52

 Increase in the Period – – – – –
      

 30 June 2025 (Unaudited) 15,996.52 – – – 15,996.52
      

IV. Carrying amount

 30 June 2025 (Unaudited) 2,133,707,780.77 112,185,374.46 43,250,901.82 34,169,645.79 2,323,313,702.84
      

 31 December 2024 2,179,481,826.43 88,872,764.02 52,025,685.16 39,335,223.91 2,359,715,499.52
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15 Fixed assets (Continued)

(2) Fixed assets of which certificates of title have not been obtained by the end of the 

current period

Item Carrying amount

Reasons why

certificates of title

have not been

obtained

RMB
   

Office building (Beijing Branch) 49,921,507.96 In process

Warehouse and office building (Suining) 20,642,829.57 In process

Warehouse and office building (Yingshan) 16,982,112.54 In process

Warehouse and office building (Bazhong) 12,956,132.38 In process

Warehouse and office building (Yilong) 12,341,184.21 In process

Warehouse and office building (Sichuan 

 Guang’an) 7,490,179.36 In process

Warehouse and office building (Sichuan 

 Longquan) 6,679,069.20 In process

Warehouse and office building (Sichuan 

 Peng’an) 4,070,080.07 In process
   

Total 131,083,095.29
   

The above fixed assets of which certificates of title not yet obtained had no material impacts 

on the Group’s operations.

(3) There were no temporary idle fixed assets included in the Group’s major operational 

fixed assets at the end of the current period.
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16 Construction in progress

Details of construction in progress are as follows:

30 June 2025 (Unaudited) 31 December 2024

Item

Book

balance

Provision for

impairment

Carrying

amount

Book

balance

Provision for

impairment

Carrying

amount

RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
       

Yuexi County Xinhua Bookstore 

 comprehensive building construction 

 project 5,132,768.21 – 5,132,768.21 3,555,482.36 – 3,555,482.36

Xichang Xinhua Bookstore storage and 

 logistics base construction project 35,345,590.98 – 35,345,590.98 30,909,699.44 – 30,909,699.44

Liangshanzhou Xinhua Bookstore 

 Co., Ltd. Yanyuan County Branch’s 

 textbook warehouse and business 

 comprehensive room project 37,111,982.62 – 37,111,982.62 35,735,835.83 – 35,735,835.83

Xinhua Winshare Bazhong Study and 

 Practice Education Camp 3,311,372.47 – 3,311,372.47 1,657,461.28 – 1,657,461.28

Others 2,036,893.24 – 2,036,893.24 1,812,393.24 – 1,812,393.24
       

Total 82,938,607.52 – 82,938,607.52 73,670,872.15 – 73,670,872.15
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VI NOTES TO ITEMS IN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Continued)

17 Right-of-use assets

(1) Details of right-of-use assets

Item Buildings

RMB
  

I. Cost:

 1 January 2025 587,564,121.19

 Increase in the Period 179,946,313.79

 Decrease in the Period 10,686,209.11
  

 30 June 2025 (Unaudited) 756,824,225.87
  

II. Accumulated depreciation

 1 January 2025 352,991,154.85

 Provision in the Period 43,830,040.91

 Decrease in the Period 6,178,123.70
  

 30 June 2025 (Unaudited) 390,643,072.06
  

III. Carrying amount

 30 June 2025 (Unaudited) 366,181,153.81
  

 31 December 2024 234,572,966.34
  

The lease term of buildings of the Group mainly ranged from 1 to 15 years.
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VI NOTES TO ITEMS IN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Continued)

17 Right-of-use assets (Continued)

(2) Amount recognized in the profit or loss

Item Building

RMB
  

Depreciation expense for right-of-use assets (Note 1) 43,830,040.91

Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note 2) 7,601,817.95

Short-term lease expenses 5,248,025.71

Variable lease payments not included in the measurement 

 of lease liabilities 665,213.68
  

Note 1: During the Period, there was no depreciation expense for right-of-use assets capitalized (Same Period of 

Last Year: nil).

Note 2: During the Period, there was no interest expense on lease liabilities capitalized (Same Period of Last Year: 

nil).

(3) The total cash outflow for leases in the Period was RMB58,680,574.19 (Same Period of 

Last Year: RMB46,903,908.85).
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18 Intangible assets

Intangible assets

Item Land use rights Patent Software Others Total

RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
      

I. Cost

 1 January 2025 409,991,434.62 13,499,343.36 285,473,618.37 11,628,600.19 720,592,996.54

 Increase in the Period – 474,500.00 1,788,051.15 – 2,262,551.15

  (1) Acquisition – 182,000.00 1,533,051.15 – 1,715,051.15

  (2) Transfer from development expenses – 292,500.00 255,000.00 – 547,500.00

 Decrease in the Period – – – – –
      

 30 June 2025 (Unaudited) 409,991,434.62 13,973,843.36 287,261,669.52 11,628,600.19 722,855,547.69
      

II. Accumulated amortization

 1 January 2025 137,725,468.92 10,610,598.88 227,445,171.00 6,363,930.45 382,145,169.25

 Increase in the Period 4,746,312.08 725,848.00 11,801,629.18 437,287.72 17,711,076.98

  (1) Provision 4,746,312.08 725,848.00 11,801,629.18 437,287.72 17,711,076.98

 Decrease in the Period – – – – –
      

 30 June 2025 (Unaudited) 142,471,781.00 11,336,446.88 239,246,800.18 6,801,218.17 399,856,246.23
      

III. Provision for impairment

 1 January 2025 – 1,339,595.45 1,089,946.58 – 2,429,542.03

 Increase in the Period – – – – –

 Decrease in the Period – – – – –
      

 30 June 2025 (Unaudited) – 1,339,595.45 1,089,946.58 – 2,429,542.03
      

IV. Carrying amount

 30 June 2025 (Unaudited) 267,519,653.62 1,297,801.03 46,924,922.76 4,827,382.02 320,569,759.43
      

 31 December 2024 272,265,965.70 1,549,149.03 56,938,500.79 5,264,669.74 336,018,285.26
      

At the end of Period, intangible assets developed as a result of internal research and development as a 

percentage of the balance of intangible assets were 10.80% (31 December 2024: 7.57%).
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19 Goodwill

(1) Cost of goodwill

Name of the investee or

item resulting in goodwill

1 January

2025

Increase in

the current

period

Incurred

by business

combination

Decrease in

the current

period

Changes

in scope of

consolidation

30 June

2025

(Unaudited)

RMB RMB RMB RMB
     

Acquisitions of fifteen publishing companies 500,571,581.14 – – 500,571,581.14

Acquisition of Liangshanzhou Xinhua Bookstore 122,081,326.10 – – 122,081,326.10

Others 544,629.46 – – 544,629.46
     

Total 623,197,536.70 – – 623,197,536.70
     

(2) Provision for impairment of goodwill

Name of the investee or

item resulting in goodwill

1 January

2025

Increase in

the current

period

Incurred

by business

combination

Decrease in

the current

period

Changes

in scope of

consolidation

30 June

2025

(Unaudited)

RMB RMB RMB RMB
     

Acquisitions of fifteen publishing companies – – – –

Acquisition of Liangshanzhou Xinhua Bookstore – – – –

Others 544,629.46 – – 544,629.46
     

Total 544,629.46 – – 544,629.46
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19 Goodwill (Continued)

(3) Information related to the asset group or asset group combination where goodwill is 

located

Name

Composition and basis 

of asset group or asset 

group combination

Business segment 

and basis

Consistent 

with previous 

year
    

Three of the 

 fifteen publishing 

 companies

The Group acquired fifteen 

publishing companies 

on 31 August 2010, 

resulting in goodwill of 

RMB500,571,581.14, which 

was allocated to the relevant 

asset group, namely three 

of the fifteen publishing 

companies in the publication 

segment.

The business type is publishing 

business, so it belongs to the 

publication segment.

Yes

Liangshanzhou 

 Xinhua Bookstore

The Group acquired 

Liangshanzhou Xinhua 

Bookstore on 31 December 

2022, resulting in goodwill 

of RMB122,081,326.10, 

which was allocated to the 

relevant asset group, namely 

Liangshanzhou Xinhua 

Bookstore.

The business type is textbooks 

and supplementary materials 

distribution and general books 

sale business, so it belongs to the 

distribution segment.

Yes

Others N/A N/A Yes

20 Long-term prepaid expenses

Item

1 January

2025

Increase in

the current

period

Amortization

for the current

period

30 June

2025

(Unaudited)

RMB RMB RMB RMB
     

Leasehold improvement 25,443,168.96 11,317,465.49 10,990,090.92 25,770,543.53

Others 1,016,595.47 – 135,595.00 881,000.47
     

Total 26,459,764.43 11,317,465.49 11,125,685.92 26,651,544.00
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21 Deferred tax assets/deferred tax liabilities

(1) Deferred tax assets not yet offset

30 June 2025 (Unaudited) 31 December 2024

Item

Deductible

temporary

differences

Deferred

tax assets

Deductible

temporary

differences

Deferred

tax assets

RMB RMB RMB RMB
     

Provision for impairment of assets 31,838,714.76 7,216,320.41 31,818,343.56 7,215,301.85

Lease liabilities 35,677,052.60 5,351,557.89 37,429,271.34 5,614,390.70
     

Total 67,515,767.36 12,567,878.30 69,247,614.90 12,829,692.55
     

(2) Deferred tax liabilities not yet offset

30 June 2025 (Unaudited) 31 December 2024

Item

Taxable

temporary

differences

Deferred tax

liabilities

Taxable

temporary

differences

Deferred tax

liabilities

RMB RMB RMB RMB
     

Asset valuation appreciation due to

 business combination not involving

 enterprises under common control 59,760,131.59 14,940,032.90 61,260,903.66 15,315,225.91

Changes in fair value of other equity

 instrument investments – – 138,879.88 34,719.97

Changes in fair value of other

 non-current financial assets 17,856,986.84 4,464,246.71 5,604,886.57 1,401,221.64

Asset valuation appreciation 

 of subsidiaries due to restructuring 

 (Note 1) 192,399,633.76 48,099,908.44 192,399,633.76 48,099,908.44

Right-of-use assets 35,677,052.60 5,351,557.89 37,429,271.34 5,614,390.70

Others 41,593.64 10,398.41 41,593.64 10,398.41
     

Total 305,735,398.43 72,866,144.35 296,875,168.85 70,475,865.07
     

Note 1: The item refers to the deferred tax liabilities recognized as a result of the asset appreciation during the 

restructuring of Liangshanzhou Xinhua Bookstore.
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21 Deferred tax assets/deferred tax liabilities (Continued)

(3) Deferred tax assets or liabilities, net of offsetting amount

Item

Offsetting

amount of

deferred tax

assets and

liabilities at the

end of the

current period

Balance of

deferred tax

assets or

liabilities, net of

offsetting

amount, at the

end of the

current period

Offsetting

amount of

deferred tax

assets and

liabilities at the

beginning of the

current period

Balance of

deferred tax

assets or

liabilities, net of

offsetting

amount, at the

beginning of the

current period

RMB RMB RMB RMB
     

Deferred tax assets 5,351,557.89 7,216,320.41 5,614,390.70 7,215,301.85

Deferred tax liabilities 5,351,557.89 67,514,586.46 5,614,390.70 64,861,474.37
     

(4) The following deductible temporary differences and deductible taxable losses were not 

recognized as deferred tax assets

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Item (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Deductible temporary differences 705,922,756.82 704,437,478.80

Deductible taxable losses 117,826,256.13 112,939,364.59
   

Total 823,749,012.95 817,376,843.39
   

The Group believes that it is not probable that taxable profits will be available in future 

periods to offset the aforementioned deductible temporary differences and deductible 

taxable losses, therefore, deferred tax assets are not recognized on above items.
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21 Deferred tax assets/deferred tax liabilities (Continued)

(5) Deductible losses, for which no deferred tax assets are recognized, will expire in the 

following years

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Year (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

2025 7,238,077.78 13,721,486.61

2026 16,444,629.82 18,151,489.04

2027 19,894,932.07 19,894,932.07

2028 36,415,561.03 37,475,222.98

2029 21,807,213.79 23,696,233.89

2030 16,025,841.64 –
   

Total 117,826,256.13 112,939,364.59
   

22 Other non-current assets

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Item (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Time deposits and bank certificates

 of large amount deposit (Note 1) 2,091,463,587.88 1,930,007,651.28

Quality guarantee money 4,159,431.61 11,067,468.46

Prepaid price for equipment – 19,554,798.00

Prepaid purchase price for property 10,363,000.00 –

Others 40,537,213.55 41,085,829.79
   

Total 2,146,523,233.04 2,001,715,747.53
   

Note 1: Time deposits and bank certificates of large amount deposit and interests that the Group does not intend to withdraw 

in advance within one year, with corresponding interest rates ranging 2.30% to 3.55% (31 December 2024: 2.15% 

to 3.55%).
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23 Short-term borrowings

30 June 2025 31 December 2024
Item (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Credit borrowings 10,000,000.00 10,000,000.00
   

Total 10,000,000.00 10,000,000.00
   

Short-term borrowing was a “Tianfu Wenchandai” borrowing by Winshare International Cultural 
Communication Co., Ltd. (“Winshare International”), a subsidiary of the Group, from 
Bank of Chengdu Co., Ltd. Qintai Sub-branch in 2024. The principal of the borrowing was 
RMB10,000,000.00, and the loan period was from 5 December 2024 to 4 December 2025. The 
contractual interest rate was the 1-year loan prime rate announced by the National Interbank 
Funding Center on the working day before the contract signing date.

24 Notes payable

30 June 2025 31 December 2024
Item (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Bank acceptance bills 73,800.00 4,486,667.50
   

Total 73,800.00 4,486,667.50
   

As at 30 June 2025, the Group’s deposit for the above-mentioned bank acceptance bills was 
RMB22,140.00 (31 December 2024: RMB1,143,195.20).

At the end of the current period, the Group’s bank acceptance bills were due within three months.

25 Accounts payable

Details of aging analysis of accounts payable are as follows:

30 June 2025 31 December 2024
Item (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Within 1 year 4,286,355,711.22 4,281,192,649.53
More than 1 year but not exceeding 2 years 504,870,601.96 529,920,928.25
More than 2 years but not exceeding 3 years 176,544,946.69 186,994,251.27
More than 3 years 506,141,574.45 454,924,646.54
   

Total 5,473,912,834.32 5,453,032,475.59
   

The above aging analysis of accounts payable is carried out based on the time of purchasing 
goods or receiving services. Accounts payable aged more than one year are mainly payments 
due to the suppliers.
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26 Contract liabilities

(1) Presentation of contract liabilities:

30 June 2025 31 December 2024
Item (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Advanced receipts for sold goods 583,425,020.82 603,137,849.05
Membership card points 1,026,837.93 730,016.64
   

Total 584,451,858.75 603,867,865.69
   

(2) The important contract liabilities aged over 1 year were mainly pre-stored recharge 
cards amounted to RMB338,051,906.01.

(3) The significant changes in the balance of the Group’s contract liabilities this year were 
as follows:

Balance of changes
Item (Unaudited) Reason for change

RMB
   

Advanced receipts for sold goods (165,375,324.58) Revenue recognized 
 for the amount 
 included in the 
 opening carrying 
 amount of contract 
 liabilities

Advanced receipts for sold goods 145,662,496.35 Amount increased 
 due to cash 
 received

   

(4) Analysis on contract liabilities

The Group’s receipts in advance for goods sold are mainly advanced receipts from books 
sold to customers such as students and presale of book purchase cards in retail stores, 
and these transaction funds are recognized as contract liabilities upon receipt. For advanced 
receipts from book sales, revenue is recognized upon transfer of control of related goods 
to customers.

The Group’s retail stores adopt a reward policy of membership loyalty cards for customers. 
For customers with consumption points reaching a certain level, points can be converted 
into cash for purchase in the retail stores. The Group allocates sale consideration to the 
sold goods and issued points in accordance with the respective stand-alone selling prices. 
Sale consideration allocated to reward points is recognized as contract liabilities, and as 
revenue upon redemption.
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27 Employee benefits payable

(1) Presentation of employee benefits payable

Item

1 January

2025

Increase in the

current period

Decrease in the

current period

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

RMB RMB RMB RMB
     

I. Short-term benefits 902,572,874.58 892,879,356.36 1,064,111,808.13 731,340,422.81

II. Post-employment benefit

  – defined contribution plan 6,246,989.86 130,701,116.53 129,622,570.11 7,325,536.28

III. Termination benefits – 338,144.85 338,144.85 –
     

Total 908,819,864.44 1,023,918,617.74 1,194,072,523.09 738,665,959.09
     

(2) Presentation of short-term benefits

Item 1 January 2025

Increase in the

current period

Decrease in the

current period

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

RMB RMB RMB RMB
     

I. Wages or salaries, bonuses, allowances 

  and subsidies 770,554,776.46 748,034,624.08 922,322,747.69 596,266,652.85

II. Staff welfare – 10,540,272.76 10,540,272.76 –

III. Social security contributions 571,882.11 45,250,304.84 45,210,334.68 611,852.27

 Including: Medical insurance 370,972.81 43,456,165.33 43,417,011.63 410,126.51

      Work injury insurance 16,859.30 1,516,626.12 1,515,809.66 17,675.76

      Other insurances 184,050.00 277,513.39 277,513.39 184,050.00

IV. Housing funds 1,859,738.03 62,393,939.52 62,446,844.76 1,806,832.79

V. Union running costs and employee

   education costs 129,483,341.08 25,877,988.43 22,809,997.91 132,551,331.60

VI. Others 103,136.90 782,226.73 781,610.33 103,753.30
     

Total 902,572,874.58 892,879,356.36 1,064,111,808.13 731,340,422.81
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27 Employee benefits payable (Continued)

(3) Defined contribution plan

Item

1 January

2025

Increase in the

current period

Decrease in the

current period

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

RMB RMB RMB RMB
     

I. Basic pension insurance expense 550,429.31 84,162,052.65 84,094,821.67 617,660.29

II. Unemployment insurance expense 21,928.28 3,071,016.40 3,068,622.43 24,322.25

III. Enterprise annuity 5,674,632.27 43,468,047.48 42,459,126.01 6,683,553.74
     

Total 6,246,989.86 130,701,116.53 129,622,570.11 7,325,536.28
     

The Group participates in pension insurance and unemployment insurance plans established 

by government in accordance with the relevant requirements. According to the plans, the 

Group makes a monthly contribution equivalent to 16% and 0.6% (31 December 2024: 16% 

and 0.6%) of the employee’s monthly basic wage and performance-linked compensation, 

respectively, to the plans. Save as the monthly contribution above, the Group has not 

undertaken further payment obligation. The corresponding expenses are included in profit 

or loss for the period or the cost of the relevant asset when incurred.

During the Period, the Group’s contributions of RMB84,162,052.65 and RMB3,071,016.40 

(Same Period of Last Year: RMB77,381,889.76 and RMB2,930,314.83) were payable to 

pension insurance and unemployment insurance plans respectively. As at 30 June 2025, 

the outstanding contributions of RMB617,660.29 and RMB24,322.25 (31 December 2024: 

RMB550,429.31 and RMB21,928.28) payable by the Group were contributions due during 

the Reporting Period and yet to be paid to the pension insurance and unemployment 

insurance plans.
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28 Taxes payable

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Item (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Enterprise income tax 1,118,609.36 6,228,024.72

Value added tax 19,874,440.66 25,714,163.17

City construction and maintenance tax 652,425.17 982,185.43

Education surcharges 466,940.74 711,527.04

Individual income tax 1,928,817.28 7,279,895.15

Others 898,014.10 1,108,506.99
   

Total 24,939,247.31 42,024,302.50
   

29 Other payables

29.1 Total other payables

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Item (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Dividend payables 181,194,211.00 –

Other payables 299,800,273.41 308,454,407.85
   

Total 480,994,484.41 308,454,407.85
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29 Other payables (Continued)

29.2 Dividend payables

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Item (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Dividend payables – H Shareholders 181,194,211.00 –
   

Total 181,194,211.00 –
   

29.3 Other payables by nature of payments

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Item (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Amounts due to related parties 6,017,240.15 5,828,100.16

Security deposit/deposit/quality 

 warranty/performance security 72,036,774.00 74,788,528.47

Construction and infrastructure

 construction expenses 37,202,094.01 41,613,253.23

Amounts due to/from other entities 2,790,331.90 4,193,341.42

Others 181,753,833.35 182,031,184.57
   

Total 299,800,273.41 308,454,407.85
   

Other payables aged more than one year are mainly security deposit and deposit.
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30 Other current liabilities

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Item (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Government grants (Note VI 32) 48,214,948.62 57,650,674.10

Expected sales returns (Note 1) 110,104,661.29 118,313,791.52

Output tax to be transferred 2,293,943.85 7,030,668.33

Others 1,330,668.00 1,330,668.00
   

Total 161,944,221.76 184,325,801.95
   

Note 1: Expected sales returns are related to the customer’s right of refund subsequent to purchase of books. On the basis 

of accumulated historical experiences, the Group assesses the quantity of sales returns using the expected-value 

method on an organization level.

31 Lease liabilities

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

(Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Rents 386,927,971.69 256,801,496.36

Less: Lease liabilities included in non-current 

 liabilities due within one year 82,030,271.59 76,862,500.83
   

Net 304,897,700.10 179,938,995.53
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32 Deferred income

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Item (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Government grants 54,214,950.11 53,436,961.20
   

Items related to government grants:

Item 1 January 2025

New grants

for the current

period

Amount charged

to other income

for the current

period

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

Related to an 

asset/related 

to income

RMB RMB RMB RMB
      

Government grants 15,620,861.49 4,421,312.54 2,800,247.31 17,241,926.72 Related to an asset

Government grants 37,816,099.71 200,000.00 1,043,076.32 36,973,023.39 Related to income
      

Total 53,436,961.20 4,621,312.54 3,843,323.63 54,214,950.11
      

33 Share capital

Item 1 January 2025

Changes for the Period

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

 

Issue of

new shares

Bonus

issue

Capitalization

of surplus

reserve Others Subtotal

RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
        

Total number of shares 1,233,841,000.00 – – – – – 1,233,841,000.00
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34 Capital reserve

Item 1 January 2025

Increase in the

current period

Decrease in the

current period

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

RMB RMB RMB RMB
     

Share capital premium 2,492,540,724.83 – – 2,492,540,724.83

Including: Capital contributed by investors 2,623,214,037.85 – – 2,623,214,037.85

Differences arising from business combination 

 involving enterprises under common control (24,511,900.00) – – (24,511,900.00)

Difference arising from acquisition or disposal 

 of non-controlling shareholders (106,161,413.02) – – (106,161,413.02)

Other capital reserve 32,103,244.62 – – 32,103,244.62

Including: Transfer from capital reserve under 

 the previous accounting system 23,281,007.10 – – 23,281,007.10

Treasury shares (998,378.51) – – (998,378.51)

Others 9,820,616.03 – – 9,820,616.03
     

Total 2,524,643,969.45 – – 2,524,643,969.45
     

35 Other comprehensive income

Item 1 January 2025

Changes for the current period

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

     

Amount

before income

tax for the

current period

Less: Amount 

previously 

recorded in other

 comprehensive 

income 

transferred to 

retained earnings

 for the current 

period

Less:

Income tax

expenses

Post-tax amount

attributable to

the owner of

the parent

Post-tax amount

attributable to the

non-controlling

shareholders

RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
        

Changes in fair value of other

 equity instrument 

 investments 1,855,336,515.47 175,649,898.12 (246,833.59) 4,074.53 175,892,657.18 – 2,031,229,172.65
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36 Surplus reserve

Item 1 January 2025

Increase in the

current period

Decrease in the

current period

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

RMB RMB RMB RMB
     

Statutory surplus reserve 1,431,148,312.43 – – 1,431,148,312.43
     

37 Undistributed profits

Item

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

31 December 

2024 Note

RMB RMB
    

Undistributed profits at the beginning of the 

 period/year 7,561,485,821.67 6,881,030,888.86

Add:  Net profit attributable to shareholders of  

 the parent company for the period/year 856,544,756.92 1,544,856,196.33

      Other equity instrument investment  

 previously recorded in other  

 comprehensive income transferred to  

 retained earnings for the current period (246,833.59) –

Less: Appropriation to statutory surplus reserve – 136,435,073.52 (1)

     Dividends payable on ordinary shares 505,874,810.00 727,966,190.00 (2)
    

Undistributed profits at the end of the 

 period/year 7,911,908,935.00 7,561,485,821.67 (3)
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37 Undistributed profits (Continued)

(1) Appropriation to statutory surplus reserve

According to the Articles of Association, the Company is required to transfer 10% of its 

net profit to the statutory surplus reserve. The transfer may be ceased if the balance 

of the statutory surplus reserve has reached 50% of the Company’s registered capital. 

The statutory surplus reserve can be used to offset the loss of the Company, expanding 

production and operation or transferring to paid-in capital, but the retained statutory surplus 

reserve shall not be lower than 25% of the registered capital.

(2) Cash dividends approved at shareholders’ meeting

On 20 May 2025, the resolution regarding the Company’s 2024 Annual Profit Distribution 

Proposal was approved at 2024 annual general meeting of the Company. The profit 

distribution was based on the Company’s total share capital of 1,233,841,000 shares 

before the implementation of the proposal. The cash dividend per share was RMB0.41 

(tax-inclusive).

(3) Appropriation to surplus reserve by subsidiaries

At the end of the current period, the balance of the Group’s undistributed profits included 

appropriation to surplus reserve by subsidiaries amounting to RMB182,982,907.55 (31 

December 2024: RMB182,982,907.55).
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38 Operating income and operating costs

(1) Classification

For the period

from 1 January

to 30 June 2025

For the period

from 1 January

to 30 June 2024

Item (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Principal operating income 5,439,042,898.58 5,708,283,455.50

Other operating income (Note 1) 88,386,528.35 79,532,820.21
   

Total operating income 5,527,429,426.93 5,787,816,275.71
   

Principal operating cost 3,353,937,901.50 3,554,773,609.97

Other operating cost 14,927,697.21 7,268,626.13
   

Total operating costs 3,368,865,598.71 3,562,042,236.10
   

Note 1: Included in other operating income was net income from concessionaire sales of RMB13,541,800.04. Among 

which, revenue from concessionaire sales was RMB103,776,249.68 and cost from concessionaire sales 

was RMB90,234,449.64 (for the period from 1 January to 30 June 2024: net income from concessionaire 

sales of RMB13,263,788.62. Among which, revenue from concessionaire sales was RMB93,014,222.15 

and cost from concessionaire sales was RMB79,750,433.53).
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38 Operating income and operating costs (Continued)

(2) Details of income from contracts

Principal operating income Principal operating costs

For the period

from 1 January

to 30 June 2025

For the period

from 1 January

to 30 June 2024

For the period

from 1 January

to 30 June 2025

For the period

from 1 January

to 30 June 2024

Product (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

RMB RMB RMB RMB
     

I. Publication segment

Textbooks and supplementary materials 649,368,813.52 571,986,860.56 356,616,773.57 328,407,318.58

General book 460,921,431.75 496,655,976.41 352,089,913.10 368,200,746.38

Printing and supplies 109,187,085.91 107,483,622.93 90,438,387.38 89,600,963.55

Newspapers and journals 21,916,429.82 27,178,733.23 13,074,629.36 15,293,536.70

Others 38,498,832.54 8,317,538.36 30,737,445.56 4,521,873.76
     

Subtotal 1,279,892,593.54 1,211,622,731.49 842,957,148.97 806,024,438.97
     

II. Distribution segment

Textbooks and supplementary materials 1,916,414,493.72 2,262,673,037.52 1,179,309,545.70 1,374,393,457.35

General book 2,804,387,769.51 2,647,793,258.31 1,989,758,835.27 1,922,372,786.47

Education informatization and others 143,024,639.12 241,910,547.98 118,327,914.19 191,704,835.58
     

Subtotal 4,863,826,902.35 5,152,376,843.81 3,287,396,295.16 3,488,471,079.40
     

III. Others 206,104,572.74 182,953,577.12 174,085,258.33 159,623,102.23

Less: Inter-segment elimination 910,781,170.05 838,669,696.92 950,500,800.96 899,345,010.63
     

Total 5,439,042,898.58 5,708,283,455.50 3,353,937,901.50 3,554,773,609.97
     

Division of publication segment and distribution segment and other details are set out in 

Note XVI.2.
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38 Operating income and operating costs (Continued)

(3) Details of performance obligation

Item

Time of obligation 

performance

Important 

payment

term

Nature of goods 

transferred as 

committed by the 

Company

Main 

responsible 

person? 

Amounts 

borne by the 

Company that 

are expected 

to be returned 

to customers

Types of quality 

assurance provided 

by the Company and 

related obligation
       

Sales of books and

 printing supplies

At the time of 

 delivery

Nil Self-owned,

stenciling-rent or 

outsourcing

Yes – Providing guarantee-type 

quality assurance does 

not form a separate 

performance obligation

Education informatization

 and equipment

 business

At the time of 

 delivery

2-5 years by 

installments

Self-developed or 

outsourcing

Yes – Providing guarantee-type 

quality assurance does 

not form a separate 

performance obligation

In addition to the education informatization and equipment business, the Group’s principal 

operating income mainly comes from the sales of general books and textbooks and 

supplementary materials, sales of printing and supplies, etc. The Group, as the main 

responsible person, performs the performance business at the time of delivery. The 

contracts do not contain important payment terms and important amounts expected to be 

returned to customers, and providing guarantee-type quality assurance does not form a 

separate performance obligation.

For revenue from the education informatization and equipment business, the Group, as 

the main responsible person, performs the performance business at the time of delivery. 

The contracts stipulate that payments shall be collected in installments over 2-5 years. 

The contracts do not contain important amounts expected to be returned to customers, 

and providing guarantee-type quality assurance does not form a separate performance 

obligation.

The Group has adopted a simplified practical expedient for service contracts originally 

expected to have a contract term of no more than one year, and therefore the information 

disclosed above does not include the transaction price allocated to the remaining 

performance obligations under such contracts.
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39 Taxes and surcharges

For the period

from 1 January

to 30 June 2025

For the period

from 1 January

to 30 June 2024

Item (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

City construction and maintenance tax 3,034,457.44 3,729,482.68

Education surcharges 2,188,979.19 2,705,209.86

Property tax 14,502,922.56 14,547,724.56

Land use tax 2,623,177.80 2,461,592.96

Stamp duty 1,666,657.12 1,833,375.85

Vessel and vehicle tax 113,995.16 118,716.10

Others 126,588.61 155,654.03
   

Total 24,256,777.88 25,551,756.04
   

40 Selling expenses

For the period

from 1 January

to 30 June 2025

For the period

from 1 January

to 30 June 2024

Item (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Wages and other labor costs 461,163,562.31 441,287,801.39

Logistics and transportation costs 47,712,207.37 54,039,698.01

Business conference fees 874,021.76 1,329,113.52

Vehicle fees 4,473,742.25 5,963,194.54

Travel expenses 8,290,282.82 9,439,960.17

Advertising and promotion fees 102,723,566.60 124,422,587.02

Distribution commission 8,350,950.01 8,811,769.99

E-commerce platform service fees 40,018,120.79 42,452,889.78

Packaging expenses 15,242,314.21 14,975,860.37

Others 10,045,247.01 12,912,505.91
   

Total 698,894,015.13 715,635,380.70
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41 Administrative expenses

For the period

from 1 January

to 30 June 2025

For the period

from 1 January

to 30 June 2024

Item (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Wages and other labor costs 516,099,946.10 484,180,136.20

Business entertainment fees 12,610,693.29 18,546,800.47

Lease payments 5,913,239.39 6,760,670.49

Depreciation and amortization expenses 125,874,309.63 131,521,474.72

Conference fees 2,074,346.00 3,415,225.41

Property management fees 34,571,386.03 35,976,429.50

Travel expenses 5,260,130.92 6,030,988.12

Energy costs 10,035,568.89 9,678,264.17

Office expenses 2,707,746.07 3,736,728.24

Repair charges 1,565,203.41 7,314,038.56

Remuneration of accounting firm – audit services 707,547.17 707,547.17

Others 31,137,746.53 41,241,574.35
   

Total 748,557,863.43 749,109,877.40
   

42 Finance expenses

For the period

from 1 January

to 30 June 2025

For the period

from 1 January

to 30 June 2024

Item (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Interest expense 170,499.98 175,374.99

Interest expense on lease liabilities 7,601,817.95 6,501,379.65

Less: Interest income 76,891,949.88 95,350,124.61

Less: Interest income of long-term receivables 989,083.42 1,033,347.51

Others 895,255.67 4,572,089.74
   

Total (69,213,459.70) (85,134,627.74)
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VI NOTES TO ITEMS IN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Continued)

43 Other income

For the period

from 1 January

to 30 June 2025

For the period

from 1 January

to 30 June 2024

Item (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Book publishing subsidies 9,135,669.06 12,665,630.38

VAT first levied then returned 33,568,446.51 345,661.34

Other financial subsidies 5,463,889.96 17,036,240.64
   

Total 48,168,005.53 30,047,532.36
   

44 Investment income

For the period

from 1 January

to 30 June 2025

For the period

from 1 January

to 30 June 2024

Item (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Income from long-term equity investments

 under equity method 18,119,131.91 9,268,834.02

Investment income during the holding of other 

 non-current financial assets – 3,529,234.40

Dividend income during the holding of other

 equity instrument investments 83,749,585.40 109,759,200.00

Investment income from disposal of

 held-for-trading financial assets 307,414.81 193,481.05
   

Total 102,176,132.12 122,750,749.47
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VI NOTES TO ITEMS IN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Continued)

45 Gains from fair value change

For the period

from 1 January

to 30 June 2025

For the period

from 1 January

to 30 June 2024

Source of gains from fair value change (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Financial assets at FVTPL 10,859,065.07 (36,709,633.98)

Including: Other non-current financial assets 10,851,916.68 (36,711,347.40)

         Held-for-trading financial assets 7,148.39 1,713.42
   

Total 10,859,065.07 (36,709,633.98)
   

46 Losses on credit impairment

For the period

from 1 January

to 30 June 2025

For the period

from 1 January

to 30 June 2024

Item (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Credit impairment losses of accounts receivable 43,317,157.15 (24,460,963.40)

Bad debt losses of other receivables 4,299,655.35 4,031,274.36

Bad debt losses of long-term receivables 1,078,325.89 (25,606,119.53)
   

Total 48,695,138.39 (46,035,808.57)
   

47 Impairment losses of assets

For the period

from 1 January

to 30 June 2025

For the period

from 1 January

to 30 June 2024

Item (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Losses from decline in value for inventories (40,259,188.44) (22,083,389.49)

Others (1,011,450.88) 1,055,701.30
   

Total (41,270,639.32) (21,027,688.19)
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48 Gains on asset disposal

For the period
from 1 January

to 30 June 2025

For the period
from 1 January

to 30 June 2024
Item (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Gains on fixed asset disposal 19,616.48 789,145.09
Gains on right-of-use asset disposal (193,904.57) 339,184.48
   

Total (174,288.09) 1,128,329.57
   

49 Non-operating income

Item

For the period
from 1 January

to 30 June 2025
(Unaudited)

For the period
from 1 January

to 30 June 2024
(Unaudited)

Amount included
in non-recurring
profit or loss for

the current period
RMB RMB RMB

    

Total gains on retirement of
 non-current assets 60,862.45 157,523.66 60,862.45
Including: Gains on retirement of 
 fixed assets 60,862.45 157,523.66 60,862.45
Others 2,862,657.20 892,765.38 2,862,657.20
    

Total 2,923,519.65 1,050,289.04 2,923,519.65
    

50 Non-operating expenses

Item

For the period
from 1 January

to 30 June 2025
(Unaudited)

For the period
from 1 January

to 30 June 2024
(Unaudited)

Amount included
in non-recurring
profit or loss for

the current period
RMB RMB RMB

    

Total losses on disposal of
 non-current assets 53,792.71 26,659.77 53,792.71
Including: Losses on disposal of 
 fixed assets 53,792.71 26,659.77 53,792.71
Donations 5,033,404.01 13,082,595.65 5,033,404.01
Penalties 40,018.65 4,733.99 40,018.65
Others 734,896.17 1,067,653.31 734,896.17
    

Total 5,862,111.54 14,181,642.72 5,862,111.54
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VI NOTES TO ITEMS IN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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51 Income tax expenses

For the period

from 1 January

to 30 June 2025

For the period

from 1 January

to 30 June 2024

Item (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Current income tax calculated according to

 tax laws and relevant requirements 4,743,460.25 121,636,058.97

Tax filing differences 7,793.58 954,164.35

Deferred income tax expenses 2,686,813.50 (26,669,600.76)
   

Total 7,438,067.33 95,920,622.56
   

Reconciliation of income tax expenses to the accounting profit is as follows:

For the period

from 1 January

to 30 June 2025

For the period

from 1 January

to 30 June 2024

Item (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Accounting profit 907,472,994.48 848,269,211.29

Income tax expenses calculated at 25% 226,868,248.62 212,067,302.82

Tax concessions (199,460,909.88) (108,774,182.03)

Effect of expenses that are not deductible 

 for tax purposes 2,107,199.13 3,101,063.79

Effect of tax-free income (21,713,780.28) (17,261,445.61)

Effect of utilization of deductible losses for 

 which no deferred income tax asset was 

 recognized in the prior period (1,256,816.57) (1,639,982.45)

Effect of utilization of deductible temporary 

 differences for which no deferred income tax 

 asset was recognized in the prior period (3,555,204.18) (3,832,031.81)

Effect of deductible temporary differences or 

 deductible losses for which no deferred 

 income tax asset was recognized during the 

 current period 4,441,536.91 10,566,490.97

Tax filing differences 7,793.58 954,164.35

Tax effect of tax rate adjustment on the balance 

 of deferred tax assets at the beginning of 

 the period – 739,242.53
   

Total 7,438,067.33 95,920,622.56
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VI NOTES TO ITEMS IN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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52 Calculation process of basic earnings per share

For the purpose of calculating basic earnings per share, net profit for the current period attributable 
to ordinary shareholders is as follows:

For the period
from 1 January

to 30 June 2025

For the period
from 1 January

to 30 June 2024
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Net profit for the current period attributable to
 ordinary shareholders 856,544,756.92 715,785,632.02
Including: Net profit from continuing operations 856,544,756.92 715,785,632.02
   

For the purpose of calculating basic earnings per share, the denominator is the weighted average 
number of outstanding ordinary shares and its calculation process is as follows:

For the period
from 1 January

to 30 June 2025

For the period
from 1 January

to 30 June 2024
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Number of shares Number of shares
   

Number of ordinary shares outstanding at the
 beginning of the period 1,233,841,000.00 1,233,841,000.00
   

Weighted number of ordinary shares 
 outstanding at the end of the period 1,233,841,000.00 1,233,841,000.00
   

Earnings per share:

For the period
from 1 January

to 30 June 2025

For the period
from 1 January

to 30 June 2024
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Net profit for the current period attributable to
 ordinary shareholders divided by weighted
 number of ordinary shares outstanding
 at the end of period 0.69 0.58
Net profit for the current period attributable to
 ordinary shareholders and attributable to
 continuing operation divided by weighted
 number of ordinary shares outstanding
 at the end of period 0.69 0.58
   

The Company has no dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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53 Notes to items in the cash flow statement

(1) Other cash receipts relating to operating activities

For the period

from 1 January

to 30 June 2025

For the period

from 1 January

to 30 June 2024

Item (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Interest income 44,708,996.26 73,046,320.29

Government grants 6,241,878.87 23,960,367.45

Others 42,026,463.58 27,539,332.60
   

Total 92,977,338.71 124,546,020.34
   

(2) Other cash payments relating to operating activities

For the period

from 1 January

to 30 June 2025

For the period

from 1 January

to 30 June 2024

Item (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Selling expenses 237,730,452.82 274,343,439.59

Including: Logistics and transportation 

      costs 47,712,207.37 54,039,698.01

     Business conference fees 874,021.76 1,329,113.52

     Vehicles fees 4,549,284.81 5,963,194.54

     Travel expenses 8,290,282.82 9,439,960.17

     Advertising and promotion fees 102,732,218.76 124,422,587.02

     E-commerce platform service 

      fees 40,018,120.79 42,452,889.78

Administrative expenses 106,323,173.11 133,408,266.48

Including: Business entertainment fees 12,610,693.29 18,546,800.47

     Lease payment 5,971,525.10 6,760,670.49

     Conference fees 2,068,007.98 3,415,225.41

     Property management fees 34,571,386.03 35,976,429.50

     Energy costs 10,022,350.99 9,678,264.17

     Repair charges 1,565,203.41 7,314,038.56

Others 29,151,016.86 55,953,449.36
   

Total 373,204,642.79 463,705,155.43
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53 Notes to items in the cash flow statement (Continued)

(3) Material cash payments relating to investing activities

Item

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2024

(Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Investment in CICC Qichen fund 30,000,000.00 –

Investment in Goldstone Growth fund 20,000,000.00 –

Subscription of large deposit

 certificate of Shanghai Pudong

 Development Bank – 206,222,222.22
   

Total 50,000,000.00 206,222,222.22
   

(4) Other cash receipts relating to investing activities

Item

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2024

(Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Receipt of time deposit over 3 months 60,000,000.00 300,000,000.00
   

(5) Other cash payments relating to investing activities

Item

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2024

(Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Increase of time deposit over 3 months 748,741,826.49 810,000,000.00
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53 Notes to items in the cash flow statement (Continued)

(6) Other cash payments relating to financing activities

Item

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2024

(Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Payment for lease payments 52,767,334.80 40,143,238.36
   

(7) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

Item

Balance as at

1 January 2025

Increase in the current period Decrease in the current period Balance as at

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

  

Change

in cash

Change in

non-cash

Change

in cash

Change in

non-cash

RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
       

Short-term borrowings 10,000,000.00 – – – – 10,000,000.00

Dividends payable – – 505,874,810.00 324,680,599.00 – 181,194,211.00

Interests payable – – 170,500.01 170,500.01 – –

Lease liabilities (Note) 256,801,496.36 – 187,459,931.74 52,767,334.80 4,566,121.61 386,927,971.69
       

Total 266,801,496.36 – 693,505,241.75 377,618,433.81 4,566,121.61 578,122,182.69
       

Note: Including lease liabilities included in non-current liabilities due within one year.
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54 Supplementary information to the cash flow statement

(1) Supplementary information to the cash flow statement

Supplementary information

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2024

(Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

1. Reconciliation of net profit to cash flow from operating activities:

 Net profit 900,034,927.15 752,348,588.73

 Add: Impairment losses of assets 41,270,639.32 21,027,688.19

    Loss on credit impairment (48,695,138.39) 46,035,808.57

    Depreciation of fixed assets 75,000,025.32 72,530,622.58

    Depreciation of right-of-use assets 43,830,040.91 49,441,901.67

    Depreciation of investment properties 1,745,341.94 2,079,197.01

    Amortization of intangible assets 17,711,076.98 20,828,879.07

    Amortization of long-term prepaid expenses 11,125,685.92 10,476,245.78

    Losses from disposal of fixed assets, intangible assets and other 

     long-term assets (gain represented by “( )”) 174,288.09 (1,128,329.57)

    Asset retirement losses (gain represented by “( )”) (7,069.74) (130,863.89)

    Losses from fair value changes (gain represented by “( )”) (10,859,065.07) 36,709,633.98

    Finance expenses (gain represented by “( )”) (25,399,719.11) (16,660,397.19)

    Investment loss (gain represented by “( )”) (102,176,132.12) (122,750,749.47)

    Decrease in deferred income tax assets (increase represented by “( )”) (1,018.56) (15,022,792.47)

    Increase in deferred income tax liabilities (decrease represented by “( )”) 2,687,832.06 (11,646,808.29)

    Decrease in inventories (increase represented by “( )”) (21,297,056.66) 266,409,556.29

    Decrease in receivables from operating activities 

     (increase represented by “( )”) (51,319,984.11) (335,790,019.08)

    Increase in payables from operating activities 

     (decrease represented by “( )”) (213,094,780.89) (394,920,804.81)
   

    Net cash flow from operating activities 620,729,893.04 379,837,357.10
   

2. Material investment and financing activities not involving 

  cash receipts and payments:

 Right-of-use assets recognized for leased fixed assets 179,946,313.79 30,216,505.03
   

3. Net changes in cash and cash equivalents:

  Closing balance of cash and cash equivalent for the period 8,452,300,493.30 8,144,865,146.62

  Less: Opening balance of cash and cash equivalent for the period 8,962,582,856.29 9,078,342,824.79
   

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (510,282,362.99) (933,477,678.17)
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54 Supplementary information to the cash flow statement (Continued)

(2) Cash and cash equivalents

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Item (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Cash 8,452,300,493.30 8,962,582,856.29

Including: Cash on hand 99,147.05 202,669.04

          Bank deposits readily  

 available for payment 8,447,359,893.82 8,956,313,474.67

          Other cash and bank balances  

 readily available for payment 4,841,452.43 6,066,712.58
   

Closing balance of cash and cash 

 equivalents 8,452,300,493.30 8,962,582,856.29
   

(3) Cash and bank balances not belonging to cash and cash equivalents

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Item (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Time deposits over 3 months 734,973,316.30 176,895,522.33

Restricted cash and bank balances 31,212,414.50 40,199,746.06
   

Total 766,185,730.80 217,095,268.39
   

55 Assets with restricted ownership or right-of-use

30 June 2025 (Unaudited) 31 December 2024

Item

Carrying

balance

Carrying

value

Type of

restriction

Condition of

restriction

Carrying

balance

Carrying

value

Type of

restriction

Condition of

restriction

RMB RMB RMB RMB
         

Cash and bank 

 balances

29,996,130.50 29,996,130.50 Other Note 38,983,462.06 38,983,462.06 Other

1,216,284.00 1,216,284.00 Frozen Note 1,216,284.00 1,216,284.00 Frozen
         

Total 31,212,414.50 31,212,414.50 – – 40,199,746.06 40,199,746.06
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55 Assets with restricted ownership or right-of-use (Continued)

Note: At the end of the Period, of the Group’s cash and bank balances with restricted ownership, there were:

(1) security deposit for the issuance of bank acceptance bills of RMB22,140.00;

(2) security deposit placed in bank for the issuance of guarantee letter of RMB3,804,229.95;

(3) security deposit for travel service quality of Sichuan Winshare Xingzhi Study Tour Travel Agency Co., Ltd. 

(“Xingzhi Study Tour Travel Agency”), a subsidiary of the Group, of RMB1,100,000.00;

(4) special fund for housing reform and housing repair of RMB25,069,760.55;

(5) bank deposits frozen as a result of the litigation of a subsidiary of the Group of RMB1,216,284.00.

56 Net current assets

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Item (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Current assets 13,831,963,446.95 13,603,520,670.99

Less: Current liabilities 7,558,924,746.98 7,593,536,880.76
   

Net current assets 6,273,038,699.97 6,009,983,790.23
   

57 Total assets less current liabilities

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Item (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Total assets 23,562,286,972.80 22,898,703,360.27

Less: Current liabilities 7,558,924,746.98 7,593,536,880.76
   

Total assets less current liabilities 16,003,362,225.82 15,305,166,479.51
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VII CHANGES IN CONSOLIDATION SCOPE
There is no related matter regarding change in the scope of consolidation for the current period.

VIII INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES
1 Subsidiaries:

(1) Subsidiaries incorporated by investments

Name of subsidiary
Type of the 
subsidiary

Principal place 
of business 
and place of 
incorporation

Nature of 
business

Registered
capital Business scope

Proportion
of direct

shareholding
(%)

Proportion
of indirect

shareholding
(%)

Consolidated
statements
or not

RMB
         

Sichuan Xinhua Winshare Media
 Co., Ltd. (“Winshare Media”)

LLC Chengdu Periodicals 3,990,000.00 Sales of books and
 periodicals, etc.

– 100.00 Y

Winshare Education Technology LLC Chengdu Technical 
 Services

330,000,000.00 Software development
 and sales of electronic
 equipment

100.00 – Y

Winshare Logistics LLC Chengdu Storage and
 distribution

350,000,000.00 Storage and distribution
 of goods

100.00 – Y

Sichuan Winshare Arts 
 Investment and 
 Management Co., Ltd.
(“Arts Investment”)

LLC Chengdu Exhibition of
 artwork

20,000,000.00 Project investment and
 management, 
 exhibition of artwork

100.00 – Y

Winshare Online LLC Chengdu Sales of
 publications

60,000,000.00 Online sales of various
 products

92.00 – Y

Sichuan Watch Panda Magazine
 Co., Ltd. (“Watch Panda”)

LLC Chengdu Periodicals 12,000,000.00 Sales of periodicals – 100.00 Y

Winshare Investment LLC Chengdu Investment 300,000,000.00 Venture investment,
 business investment

100.00 – Y

Winshare International LLC Chengdu Business
 advisory
 services

50,000,000.00 Organization and 
 planning of cultural 
 and art exchange
 activities, business
 consulting, conference
 and exhibition services

100.00 – Y

Xingzhi Study Tour Travel Agency LLC Chengdu Business
services

5,000,000.00 Travel agency and 
 related services, study 
 tour event planning, 
 conference, exhibition 
 and related services

– 100.00 Y

Winshare Quan Media (Beijing)
Culture Communication Co., Ltd.
(“Winshare Quan Media”)

LLC Beijing Business
advisory
services

10,000,000.00 Organization of cultural 
 and art exchange 
 activities

– 100.00 Y

Beijing Aerospace Cloud 
 Education Technology Co., Ltd.
 (“Beijing Aerospace Cloud”)

LLC Beijing Technical
Services

41,783,300.00 Computer software
 development and
 system services

70.00 – Y
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Name of subsidiary
Type of the 
subsidiary

Principal place 
of business 
and place of 
incorporation

Nature of 
business

Registered
capital Business scope

Proportion
of direct

shareholding
(%)

Proportion
of indirect

shareholding
(%)

Consolidated
statements
or not

RMB
         

Beijing Huaxia Shengxuan Book
 Co., Ltd. (“Huaxia Shengxuan”)

LLC Beijing Sales of
publications

15,000,000.00 Sales of publications, 
etc.

– 100.00 Y

Sichuan Winshare Xuankehui
 Cultural Development Co., Ltd.
 (“Stackway”)

LLC Chengdu Wholesale
and retail

50,000,000.00 Book wholesale and 
retail

100.00 – Y

Chengdu Cangqiong Online
 Technology Co., Ltd.

LLC Chengdu Technical
Services

30,000.00 Computer system 
 services; 
 manufacturing, 
 agency, etc.

– 100.00 Y

Sichuan Moyuan Cultural
 Communication Co., Ltd.

LLC Chengdu Sales 1,000,000.00 Sales of books – 100.00 Y

Sichuan Xinyaxuan Cultural
 Communication Co., Ltd.

LLC Chengdu Sales 1,000,000.00 Sales of books – 100.00 Y

Sichuan Aiyuecheng Cultural
 Communication Co., Ltd.

LLC Chengdu Sales 1,000,000.00 Sales of publications – 100.00 Y

Sichuan Xingyueyue Cultural
 Communication Co., Ltd.

LLC Chengdu Sales 1,000,000.00 Sales of publications – 100.00 Y

Sichuan Tianyuge Cultural
 Communication Co., Ltd.

LLC Chengdu Sales 1,000,000.00 Sales of publications – 100.00 Y

Sichuan Xuehaizhizhou Cultural
 Communication Co., Ltd.

LLC Chengdu Sales 1,000,000.00 Sales of publications – 100.00 Y

         

(2) Subsidiaries acquired in business combination involving enterprises under common 
control

Name of subsidiary
Type of the 
subsidiary

Principal place 
of business 
and place of 
incorporation

Nature of 
business

Registered
capital Business scope

Proportion
of direct

shareholding
(%)

Proportion
of indirect

shareholding
(%)

Consolidated
statements
or not

RMB
         

Xinhua Online LLC Chengdu Sales of
publications

50,000,000.00 Internet publishing,
 wholesale and retail
 of goods

100.00 – Y

Beijing Shuchuan LLC Beijing Sales of
publications

2,000,000.00 Sales of publications – 100.00 Y

Sichuan Cultural Communication LLC Chengdu Advertising
agency and
leasing

20,520,000.00 Advertising agency
 and leasing

– 100.00 Y

         

(VIII) INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES (Continued)
1. Subsidiaries: (Continued)

(1) Subsidiaries incorporated by investments (Continued)
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VIII INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES (Continued)
1 Subsidiaries: (Continued)

(3) Subsidiaries acquired in business combination not involving enterprises under common 
control

Name of subsidiary
Type of the 
subsidiary

Principal place 
of business 
and place of 
incorporation

Nature of 
business

Registered
capital Business scope

Proportion
of direct

shareholding
(%)

Proportion
of indirect

shareholding
(%)

Consolidated
statements
or not

RMB
         

Winshare Sports Cultural
 Development Co., Ltd.
 (“Winshare Sports”)

LLC Chengdu Venue rental 100,000,000.00 Venue management
 services, advertising,
 self-owned housing 
 rental

100.00 – Y

Sichuan People’s Publishing
 House Co., Ltd.(“People’s 
 Publishing House”)

LLC Chengdu Publication 34,000,000.00 Publication of books 100.00 – Y

Sichuan Publication Printing 
 Co., Ltd. (“Publication 
 Printing”)

LLC Chengdu Publication 50,000,000.00 Plate-leased printing 
 and supply of 
 textbooks

100.00 – Y

Sichuan Education Publishing
 House Co., Ltd. (“Education
 Publishing House”)

LLC Chengdu Publication 10,000,000.00 Publication of books 100.00 – Y

Youth and Children’s 
 Publishing House

LLC Chengdu Publication 110,000,000.00 Publication of books 
 and periodicals

100.00 – Y

Sichuan Science & Technology
 Publishing House Co., Ltd. 
 (“Science & Technology 
 Publishing House”)

LLC Chengdu Publication 13,000,000.00 Publication of books 100.00 – Y

Sichuan Discovery of Nature
 Magazine Press Co., Ltd.

LLC Chengdu Publication 300,000.00 Publication of 
 periodicals

– 100.00 Y

Sichuan Fine Arts Publishing
 House Co., Ltd. (“Fine Arts
 Publishing House”)

LLC Chengdu Publication 16,250,000.00 Sales of arts and 
 crafts and publication 
 of books

100.00 – Y

Sichuan Lexicographical
 Publishing House Co., Ltd.
 (“Lexicographical Publishing
 House”)

LLC Chengdu Publication 20,000,000.00 Publication of books 100.00 – Y

Sichuan Literature & Art
 Publishing House Co., Ltd.
 (“Literature & Art Publishing
 House”)

LLC Chengdu Publication 62,300,000.00 Publication of books 100.00 – Y

Tiandi Publishing House LLC Chengdu Publication 230,634,700.00 Publication of books 100.00 – Y

Sichuan Times English Cultural
 Communication Co., Ltd.

LLC Chengdu Publication 600,000.00 Publication of domestic 
 books, newspapers 
 and journals

– 51.00 Y



169Xinhua Winshare Publishing and Media Co., Ltd.     Interim Report 2025

For the period from 1 January to 30 June 2025

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

Name of subsidiary
Type of the 
subsidiary

Principal place 
of business 
and place of 
incorporation

Nature of 
business

Registered
capital Business scope

Proportion
of direct

shareholding
(%)

Proportion
of indirect

shareholding
(%)

Consolidated
statements
or not

RMB
         

Sichuan Bashu Publishing
 House Co., Ltd. (“Bashu
 Publishing House”)

LLC Chengdu Publication 42,000,000.00 Publication of books 100.00 – Y

Sichuan Printing Materials Co.,
 Ltd. (“Printing Materials”)

LLC Chengdu Wholesale and 
 retail

30,000,000.00 Wholesale and retail 
 of goods

100.00 – Y

Digital Publishing LLC Chengdu Publication 39,800,000.00 Publication of audio 
 and video
 product, Internet 
 publishing

100.00 – Y

Sichuan Reader’s Journal Press
 Co., Ltd. (“Reader’s Journal
 Press”)

LLC Chengdu Publication 1,500,000.00 Reader’s Journal 
 Press-related
 publishing, 
 advertising, 
 wholesale and retail of 
 goods, software and 
 information
 technology services

– 100.00 Y

Sichuan Pictorial Co., Ltd.
 (“Pictorial”)

LLC Chengdu Publication 58,607,000.00 Publication of periodicals 100.00 – Y

Sichuan Xinhua Printing Co., Ltd.
 (“Sichuan Xinhua Printing”)

LLC Chengdu Publication 100,160,000.00 Printing of publications 100.00 – Y

Sichuan Yunhan Internet and
 Media Co., Ltd.
 (“Sichuan Yunhan”)

LLC Chengdu Wholesale 50,000,000.00 Wholesale of 
 publications

– 100.00 Y

Liangshanzhou Xinhua Bookstore LLC Liangshanzhou Sales 683,000,000.00 Sales of books 51.00 – Y

Liangshan Xinhua Winshare
 Education Technology Co., Ltd.
 (“Liangshan Winshare
 Education Technology”)

LLC Liangshanzhou Technology 
 service

40,000,000.00 Sales of software and
 electronic equipment

– 100.00 Y

Liangshan Yuntu Xunjie Logistics
 Co., Ltd.

LLC Liangshanzhou Storage and 
 distribution

10,000,000.00 Storage and distribution
 of goods

– 100.00 Y

         

VIII INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES (Continued)
1 Subsidiaries: (Continued)

(3) Subsidiaries acquired in business combination not involving enterprises under common 
control (Continued)
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VIII INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES (Continued)

2 Key financial information of the Group’s significant non-wholly owned subsidiaries is as 

follows:

Name of subsidiary

Proportion

of ownership

interests held by

non-controlling

shareholders (%)

Proportion of voting

power held by

non-controlling

shareholders (%)

Gains or losses attributable to 

non-controlling shareholders Non-controlling interests

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2025

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2024 30 June 2025 31 December 2024

(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

RMB RMB RMB RMB
       

Liangshanzhou Xinhua Bookstore 49.00 49.00 43,825,283.93 36,460,231.33 450,698,125.98 406,872,842.05

Winshare Online 8.00 8.00 427,682.97 336,385.40 (5,958,509.89) (6,386,192.86)
       

The following tables set out the main financial information of the above subsidiaries, which 

represents the amounts before inter-segment elimination of the Group, but the same has been 

adjusted by the fair value on the consolidation date and the unified accounting policies:

a Liangshanzhou Xinhua Bookstore

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

(Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Current assets 625,292,543.97 563,814,004.94

Non-current assets 403,448,610.28 403,053,607.20

Current liabilities 51,420,563.56 78,740,774.74

Non-current liabilities 57,528,496.85 57,774,098.52
   

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2024

(Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Operating income 239,445,906.51 218,733,504.55

Net profit 89,439,354.95 74,408,635.37

Total comprehensive income 89,439,354.95 74,408,635.37

Net cash flow from operating activities 26,977,613.36 (5,175,326.07)
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VIII INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES (Continued)

2 Key financial information of the Group’s significant non-wholly owned subsidiaries is as 

follows: (Continued)

b Winshare Online

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

(Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Current assets 3,006,959,545.38 2,446,553,533.76

Non-current assets 325,582,420.17 712,714,390.68

Current liabilities 3,406,394,339.21 3,238,466,335.17

Non-current liabilities 629,000.00 629,000.00
   

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2024

(Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Operating income 1,542,231,787.13 1,585,195,171.68

Net profit 5,346,037.08 4,204,817.47

Total comprehensive income 5,346,037.08 4,204,817.47

Net cash flow from operating activities (69,524,978.09) (105,374,666.79)
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VIII INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES (Continued)

3 Interests in joint ventures or associates

(1) Summarized financial information of joint ventures and associates

30 June 2025/

For the period from

1 January to

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

31 December 2024/

For the period from

1 January to

30 June 2024

(Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Joint ventures

Total carrying amount of investments 351,465,597.41 341,150,967.99

Sum of net profit calculated according

 to proportion of investment 10,314,629.42 7,529,104.98

Sum of total comprehensive income

 calculated according to proportion of

 investment 10,314,629.42 7,529,104.98

Associates

Total carrying amount of investments 470,091,128.16 465,171,132.71

Sum of net profit calculated according

 to proportion of investment 7,804,502.49 1,739,729.04

Sum of total comprehensive income

 calculated according to proportion

 of investment 7,804,502.49 1,739,729.04
   

IX GOVERNMENT GRANTS

1 Liability items involving government grants

Liability item 1 January 2025

Amount of new

grants for the

current period

Amount included

in other income for

the current period

Other decrease for 

the current period

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

Related to an

asset/related

to income

RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
       

Other current liabilities 57,650,674.10 – 9,135,669.06 300,056.42 48,214,948.62 Related to income

Deferred income 15,620,861.49 4,421,312.54 2,800,247.31 – 17,241,926.72 Related to an asset

Deferred income 37,816,099.71 200,000.00 1,043,076.32 – 36,973,023.39 Related to income
       

Total 111,087,635.30 4,621,312.54 12,978,992.69 300,056.42 102,429,898.73
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IX GOVERNMENT GRANTS (Continued)

2 Government grants included in profit or loss for the current period

Grant item

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2024

(Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Related to an asset 2,800,247.31 2,334,770.39

Related to income 10,178,745.38 25,940,433.18

100% reimbursement of value-added tax 33,568,446.51 345,661.34

Others 1,620,566.33 1,426,667.45
   

Total 48,168,005.53 30,047,532.36
   

X RISK EXPOSURES ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s major financial instruments consist of financial assets measured at amortized cost, financing 

receivables, financial assets at FVTPL, other equity instrument investments, short-term borrowings, 

notes payable, accounts payable and other payables. Risk exposures associated with these financial 

instruments and the risk management strategy adopted by the Group to reduce the risk is set out 

below. The management of the Group manages and monitors the risk exposures to ensure the risks are 

controlled at a certain level.

The Group adopts sensitivity analysis method to analyze the potential impact of reasonable and possible 

changes in risk variables on current profit and loss or on the owners’ equity. As a risk variable seldom 

changes alone and correlation between variables greatly accounts for the final amount influenced by 

change of a certain risk variable, the following content is conducted on the assumption that change of 

each variable is independent.

1 Risk management objectives, policies and procedures, and changes in the current period

The Group’s risk management objectives are to achieve a proper balance between risks and yield, 

minimize the adverse impacts of risks on the Group’s operation performance, and maximize the 

benefits of the shareholders. Based on these risk management objectives, the Group’s basic risk 

management strategy is to identify and analyze the Group’s exposure to various risks, establish 

an appropriate maximum tolerance to risk, implement risk management, and monitor regularly and 

effectively these exposures to ensure the risks are monitored at a certain level.
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X RISK EXPOSURES ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(Continued)

1 Risk management objectives, policies and procedures, and changes in the current period 

(Continued)

1.1 Market risk

1.1.1 Currency risk

The Group mainly operates in the PRC, and the sales and purchases of the Group 

are mainly denominated and settled in RMB. At each balance sheet date, the 

balance of the Group’s assets and liabilities are both denominated in RMB except 

that the assets and liabilities set out below. The management believes that the 

foreign exchange rates may have no significant impact on the net profit and the 

shareholders’ equity of the Group.

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Item (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Cash and bank balances

USD 140,151.43 140,699.20

EUR – 516.94

HKD 66,707.45 67,734.67
   

1.1.2 Interest rate risk

Fixed-rate interest-bearing financial instruments expose the Group to fair value 

interest rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk. The Group determines the 

proportion of fixed-rate instruments based on market conditions and maintains an 

appropriate fixed-rate instrument portfolio through regular review and monitoring.
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X RISK EXPOSURES ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(Continued)

1 Risk management objectives, policies and procedures, and changes in the current period 

(Continued)

1.1 Market risk (Continued)

1.1.2 Interest rate risk (Continued)

The interest-bearing financial instruments held by the Group as at 30 June are as 

follows:

Fixed-rate financial instruments:

30 June 2025 2024

Effective

interest rate Amount

Effective

interest rate Amount

Item (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
     

Financial assets

– Cash and bank balances 0.1% 2,223,273,770.82 0.2% 4,128,588,931.10

– Cash and bank balances 1.60% – 3.50% 6,995,212,453.28 2.00% – 3.55% 5,051,089,193.58

– Other non-current assets 2.30% – 3.55% 2,091,463,587.88 2.15% – 3.55% 1,930,007,651.28

– Non-current assets due within one year 3.10% – 4.75% 37,129,860.39 3.45% – 5.00% 49,263,308.47

– Long-term receivables 3.10% – 4.75% 25,181,655.22 3.45% – 5.00% 39,192,878.89

Financial liabilities

– Short-term borrowings 3.45% 10,000,000.00 3.45% 10,000,000.00

– Non-current liabilities due within one year 3.10% – 4.90% 82,030,271.59 3.45% – 4.90% 76,862,500.83

– Lease liabilities 3.10% – 4.90% 304,897,700.10 3.45% – 4.90% 179,938,995.53

1.1.3 Other price risk

The Group measured the investment in listed shares of Wan Xin Media, HGZN and 

Bank of Chengdu at fair value, which was exposed to the stock price risk as the 

fair value is determined based on the quoted prices from the active market (Note 

VI 12). The directors of the Company regularly monitor the share prices of Wan Xin 

Media, HGZN and Bank of Chengdu. For the current period, the direct investments 

in the shares of Wan Xin Media, HGZN and Bank of Chengdu recognized in other 

comprehensive income by the Group were loss before tax of RMB63,566,400, 

income before tax of RMB16,298.12 and income before tax of RMB239,200,000, 

respectively.
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X RISK EXPOSURES ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(Continued)

1 Risk management objectives, policies and procedures, and changes in the current period 

(Continued)

1.1 Market risk (Continued)

1.1.3 Other price risk (Continued)

Assuming that other variables remain constant, the pre-tax effects of other reasonable 

changes in stock prices in other comprehensive income and shareholders’ equity 

during the period are as follows:

Item Price fluctuation

Effects on other comprehensive

income and shareholders’ equity

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2025

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2024

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
    

Other equity instrument investments

 Wan Xin Media Stock prices rise 5% 42,564,560.00 43,187,760.00

 HGZN Stock prices rise 5% – 7,728.06

 Bank of Chengdu Stock prices rise 5% 80,400,000.00 60,760,000.00

Other equity instrument investments

 Wan Xin Media Stock prices fall 5% (42,564,560.00) (43,187,760.00)

 HGZN Stock prices fall 5% – (7,728.06)

 Bank of Chengdu Stock prices fall 5% (80,400,000.00) (60,760,000.00)
    

1.2 Credit risk

As at 30 June 2025, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a 

financial loss to the Group is due to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties, 

including: the carrying amounts of financial assets such as cash and bank balances, 

accounts receivable, notes receivable, financing receivables, other receivables, other current 

assets (time deposits), non-current assets due within one year, long-term receivables and 

other non-current assets (time deposits), etc.

In order to minimize the credit risk, the management of the Group has established 

policies to ensure that sales are only limited to customers with a good credit history 

and has continually examined the credit risk exposures. In accordance with the relevant 

regulations and requirements, subsidiaries of the Group have set up a team responsible 

for determination of credit limits, credit approvals as well as execution of other monitoring 

procedures to ensure the overdue debts are able to collect by necessary actions. Therefore, 

the management of the Group considers that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.
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X RISK EXPOSURES ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(Continued)

1 Risk management objectives, policies and procedures, and changes in the current period 

(Continued)

1.2 Credit risk (Continued)

Details such as the Group’s specific method of assessing credit risk since initial recognition, 

evidence for determination of credit impairment of financial assets, method of assessing 

expected credit loss on the basis of categorization, and accounting policies on direct 

write-down of financial assets are set out in Note III 11.2, 13 and 15.

As the Group’s cash and bank balances, other current assets (time deposits) and other 

non-current assets (time deposits) are deposited with banks with high credit ratings, and 

the Group’s financing receivables are bank acceptance bills due from banks with high 

credit ratings, the management considers the credit risk on these financial assets is limited.

The following table shows the exposure to credit risk of the Group’s financial assets:

Item

Future 12-month/

full lifetime ECL

Carrying amount

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

RMB
   

Financial assets measured at amortized cost:

Cash and bank balances Future 12-month ECL 9,218,486,224.10

Contract assets Full lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 11,176,898.51

Full lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) –

Accounts receivable Full lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 1,414,879,690.62

Full lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 1,119,403,254.02

Notes receivable Full lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) –

Full lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) –

Other receivables Future 12-month ECL 260,236,140.77

Full lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) –

Full lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 22,117,002.02

Long-term receivables (including those expected to be recovered 

 within one year)

Full lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 37,211,134.25

Full lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 27,155,702.66

Other non-current assets (time deposits and bank certificates of large 

 amount deposit)

Future 12-month ECL 2,091,463,587.88

Financial assets at FVTOCI:

Financing receivables Full lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 12,315,749.24
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X RISK EXPOSURES ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(Continued)

1 Risk management objectives, policies and procedures, and changes in the current period 

(Continued)

1.2 Credit risk (Continued)

Accounts receivable

Credit loss provision for accounts receivable:

Full lifetime

expected credit

loss (not credit-

impaired)

Full lifetime

expected credit

loss (credit-

impaired) Total

RMB RMB RMB
    

Balance as at 1 January 2025 114,587,498.51 747,535,902.55 862,123,401.06

Balance as at 1 January 2025 during the current 

 period – Transfer to full lifetime (25,128,482.14) 25,128,482.14 –

Provision for the current period 8,181,385.05 3,374,441.02 11,555,826.07

Reversal for the current period – (54,872,983.22) (54,872,983.22)

Write-off for the current period – (145,027.23) (145,027.23)
    

Balance as at 30 June 2025 (Unaudited) 97,640,401.42 721,020,815.26 818,661,216.68
    

Other receivables

Credit loss provision for other receivables:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

TotalCredit loss provision

Future 12-month

expected

credit losses

Full lifetime

expected credit

losses (not

credit-impaired)

Full lifetime

expected credit

losses (credit-

impaired)

RMB RMB RMB RMB
     

Balance as at 1 January 2025 204,260.47 – 13,819,405.65 14,023,666.12

Provision for the current period 306,939.57 – – 306,939.57

Reversal for the current period (43,010.38) – (4,563,584.54) (4,606,594.92)

Write-off for the current period – – (13,000.00) (13,000.00)
     

Balance as at 30 June 2025 (Unaudited) 468,189.66 – 9,242,821.11 9,711,010.77
     



179Xinhua Winshare Publishing and Media Co., Ltd.     Interim Report 2025

For the period from 1 January to 30 June 2025

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

X RISK EXPOSURES ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(Continued)

1 Risk management objectives, policies and procedures, and changes in the current period 

(Continued)

1.2 Credit risk (Continued)

Long-term receivables (including those expected to be recovered within one year)

The Group’s balances of long-term receivables (including those expected to be recovered 

within one year) are receivables from governmental institutions and schools. The 

management performs risk assessment on each customer and makes allowance for credit 

losses. Credit loss provision for long-term receivables is as follows:

Full lifetime

expected credit

losses (not credit-

impaired)

Full lifetime

expected credit

losses (credit-

impaired)

(Note) Total

RMB RMB RMB
    

Balance as at 1 January 2025 – 3,133,647.19 3,133,647.19

Provision for the current period – 960,632.94 960,632.94

Reversal for the current period – (2,038,958.83) (2,038,958.83)
    

Balance as at 30 June 2025 (Unaudited) – 2,055,321.30 2,055,321.30
    

Note: For the long-term receivables of education informatization and equipment business, the Group adopts the 

method of provision for credit losses on individual assets. If the customer defaults the principal at the point 

in time of contract payment, it indicates that the long-term receivables have been credit-impaired.

1.3 Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash 

and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s 

operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The Group aims at maintaining a balance between capital return and flexibility through 

operating activities and the issuance of other interest-bearing borrowings as the main 

source of funding. The Group manages the financing activities by maintaining adequate 

cash so as to finance the Group’s operations. The Group also ensures that bank credit 

facilities are available to meet any short-term funding needs.
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X RISK EXPOSURES ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(Continued)

1 Risk management objectives, policies and procedures, and changes in the current period 

(Continued)

1.3 Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following is the maturity analysis for financial liabilities and lease liabilities held by the 

Group which is based on undiscounted remaining contractual obligations:

30 June 2025 (Unaudited)

Item Within 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years

More

than 5 years Total

Carrying

amount

RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
       

Short-term borrowings 10,133,342.47 – – – 10,133,342.47 10,000,000.00

Notes payable 73,800.00 – – – 73,800.00 73,800.00

Accounts payable 5,473,912,834.32 – – – 5,473,912,834.32 5,473,912,834.32

Other payables 299,800,273.41 – – – 299,800,273.41 299,800,273.41

Dividends payable 181,194,211.00 – – – 181,194,211.00 181,194,211.00

Lease liabilities 94,434,554.15 84,273,384.23 191,979,046.81 59,076,858.05 429,763,843.24 386,927,971.69
       

Total 6,059,549,015.35 84,273,384.23 191,979,046.81 59,076,858.05 6,394,878,304.44 6,351,909,090.42
       

31 December 2024

Item Within 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years

More

than 5 years Total

Carrying

amount

RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
       

Short-term borrowings 10,309,150.68 – – – 10,309,150.68 10,000,000.00

Notes payable 4,486,667.50 – – – 4,486,667.50 4,486,667.50

Accounts payable 5,453,032,475.59 – – – 5,453,032,475.59 5,453,032,475.59

Other payables 308,454,407.85 – – – 308,454,407.85 308,454,407.85

Lease liabilities 85,688,956.67 75,031,581.15 82,297,223.54 42,574,838.75 285,592,600.11 256,801,496.36
       

Total 5,861,971,658.29 75,031,581.15 82,297,223.54 42,574,838.75 6,061,875,301.73 6,032,775,047.30
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X RISK EXPOSURES ASSOCIATED WITH FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(Continued)

2 Transfer of financial assets

(1) By transfer method

Transfer

method

Nature of

financial assets

transferred

Amount of

financial assets

transferred Derecognition

Judgment basis

of derecognition

RMB
     

Note endorsement

Financing

receivables 9,630,399.93 Derecognized

Almost all risks and

rewards have been

transferred
     

(2) Financial assets derecognized due to transfer

Item

Transfer method of 

financial assets

Amount of

financial assets

derecognized

Gain or

loss from

derecognition

RMB
    

Financing receivables Endorsement 9,630,399.93 –
    

As at 30 June 2025, the amount of bank acceptance bills that the Group had endorsed but 

not yet due was RMB9,630,399.93 (2024: RMB41,512,566.59), which was the accounts 

payable to the suppliers. The Group believes that substantially all the risks and rewards 

of the endorsed bank acceptance bills have been transferred to the suppliers. Therefore, 

these endorsed bank acceptance bills were derecognized. In the event that the accepting 

bank fails to accept the notes due, the Group is jointly and severally liable for the bank 

acceptance bills in accordance with the relevant PRC laws and regulations. The Group 

considers that the accepting bank of these bank acceptance bills is of sound reputation 

and the risk of non-payment by the accepting bank on due date is remote.

As at 30 June 2025, if the accepting bank fails to accept the notes due, the maximum 

loss which may be incurred by the Group is equivalent to the same amount payable by the 

Group to the suppliers for such endorsed notes.

As at 30 June 2025, all financing receivables endorsed to suppliers will be due within twelve 

months from the balance sheet date.
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XI DISCLOSURE OF FAIR VALUE (Continued)

1 Fair value (Continued)

1.1 Financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

1.1.1 Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

30 June 2025 31 December 2024
(Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Opening balance of financial assets 
 measured at Level 3 fair value 438,435,625.74 453,903,818.79
Included in gains or losses on fair value 
 change in the current period/year 10,851,916.68 (9,955,441.95)
Purchases in the current period/year 89,282,582.95 66,625,647.57
Disposals in the current period/year (81,402,786.86) (72,138,398.67)
   

Closing balance of financial assets 
 measured at Level 3 fair value 457,167,338.51 438,435,625.74
   

1.2 Financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The management of the Group considers that the carrying amounts of financial assets 
and financial liabilities measured at amortized cost in the financial statements approximate 
their fair values.

XII RELATED PARTY RELATIONSHIPS AND TRANSACTIONS

1 Parent company of the Company

Name of the
parent company

Type of
the entity

Place of
incorporation

Legal
representative

Nature of
business

Registered
capital

Proportion
of ownership
interest held

by the parent
(%)

Proportion
of the

Company’s
voting power

held by
the parent

(%)

Ultimate 
controlling
party of the 
Company

Unified social
credit code

RMB
          

Sichuan Xinhua
 Publishing and
 Distribution Group

LLC Chengdu Zhou Qing Goods wholesale
 and retail,
 house lease,
 real estate,
 project
 investment

59,382.20 39.84 (Note) 39.84 (Note) SASAC of
Sichuan

915100007089237087

Note: As at 30 June 2025, Sichuan Xinhua Publishing and Distribution Group holds 400,843,465 promoter’s shares of the 

Company, accounting for 32.48% of the total share capital of the Company, and holds 90,780,000 H shares of the 

Company, accounting for 7.36% of the total share capital of the Company, resulting in an aggregate shareholding 

of 39.84% of the total share capital of the Company.
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XII RELATED PARTY RELATIONSHIPS AND TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

2 Subsidiaries of the Company

Please refer to Note VIII “Interests in Other Entities” for details of the subsidiaries of the Company.

3 Joint ventures and associates of the Company

Please refer to Note VIII.3 for details of the significant joint ventures or associates of the Company.

Information of other joint ventures or associates which have had balances through related party 

transactions with the Group for the Period or for last year is as follows:

Name of joint ventures or associates Relationship with the Company
  

The Commercial Press Associate

Shanghai Jingjie Information Technology Co., Ltd. 

 (“Shanghai Jingjie”) Associate

Deyuan Gewu Fund Associate

Ren Min Eastern Associate

Ming Bo Education Associate

Xinhua Yingxuan Associate

Tianxi Zhongda Associate

Wenbao Company Associate

Hainan Phoenix Associate

Huaxuan Yinshi Associate

Education Forum Associate

Hainan Publishing House Joint venture
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XII RELATED PARTY RELATIONSHIPS AND TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

4 Other related party relationships

Name of other related parties

Relationship between other

related parties and the Company
  

Sichuan Xinhua International Hotel Co., Ltd.

 (“Xinhua International Hotel”)

Controlling shareholder’s subsidiary

Sichuan Guanghan Sanxingdui Qushanyuan Cultural 

 Ltd. (“Sanxingdui Qushanyuan Cultural”)

Controlling shareholder’s subsidiary

Sichuan Xinhua Cultural Property Service Co., Ltd.

 (“Xinhua Cultural”)

Controlling shareholder’s subsidiary

Sichuan Xinhua Haiyi Cultural Development Co., Ltd.

 (“Xinhua Haiyi”)

Controlling shareholder’s subsidiary

Sichuan Xinhua Haiyi Hotel Co., Ltd. (“Haiyi Hotel”) Controlling shareholder’s subsidiary

Sichuan Xinhua Fanyue Culture Media Co., Ltd.

 (“Xinhua Fanyue”)

Controlling shareholder’s subsidiary

Sichuan Xinhua Wanyun Technology Co., Ltd.

 (“Xinhua Wanyun”)

Controlling shareholder’s subsidiary

Sichuan Minzu Publishing House Co., Ltd.

 (“Sichuan Minzu Publishing House”)

Controlling shareholder’s subsidiary

Chengdu Xinhua Chuangzhi Cultural Industry Investment Co., Ltd. 

 (“Xinhua Chuangzhi”)

Controlling shareholder’s subsidiary

Sichuan Xinhua Lezhi Cultural Technology Co., Ltd. (“Xinhua Lezhi”) Controlling shareholder’s subsidiary

Sichuan Cultural Investment Group Shareholder which exerts significant influence 

 on the Company

Sichuan Cultural Investment Hengxi Property Management Co., Ltd. 

 (“Hengxi Property”)

Subsidiary of shareholder which exerts 

 significant influence on the Company

Sichuan Cultural Investment Tianguang Yueying Hotel Co., Ltd. 

 (“Tianguang Yueying Hotel”)

Subsidiary of shareholder which exerts 

 significant influence on the Company

Sichuan Cultural Investment Huiwen Asset Management Co., Ltd. 

 (“Cultural Investment Huiwen”)

Subsidiary of shareholder which exerts 

 significant influence on the Company

Bank of Chengdu Other enterprise over which the senior 

 management of the Company has 

 significant influence

Chengdu Qijia Advertising Media Co., Ltd.

 (“Qijia Advertising”)

Other enterprise over which the senior 

 management of the Company has 

 significant influence

Sichuan Development Asset Management

 Investment Management Co., Ltd.

 (“Sichuan Development Asset Management”)

Controlling shareholder’s subsidiary

Ke Jiming Non-executive director of the Company
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XII RELATED PARTY RELATIONSHIPS AND TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

5 Related party transactions

(1) Sales and purchase of goods, provision and receipt of services

Purchase of goods/receipt of services

Related party

Type of
related party 
transaction

Details of related
party transaction

Pricing and
decision-making
procedures of
related party
transactions

1 January to
30 June 2025

(Unaudited)
Transaction

limit approved
Transaction limit 
exceeded? 

1 January to
30 June 2024

(Unaudited)
RMB RMB

        

Xinhua International Hotel Receipt of services Receipt of hotel
 and conference
 services

Price negotiated
 by both parties

38,926.11 N/A N 19,170.75

Sanxingdui Qushanyuan Cultural Receipt of services Receipt of hotel
 and conference
 services

Price negotiated
 by both parties

– N/A N 14,669.00

Xinhua Cultural Receipt of services Receipt of property
 management and
 other services

Price negotiated
 by both parties

19,772,980.17 50,000,000.00 N 19,622,955.43

Ming Bo Education Purchase of goods Purchase of software
 and hardware

Price negotiated
 by both parties

– N/A N 4,136,223.12

Ming Bo Education Purchase of services Purchase of books Price negotiated
 by both parties

14,379,985.40 N/A N 650,000.00

Ke Jiming Purchase of goods Purchase of copyright Price negotiated
 by both parties

– N/A N 29,400.00

The Commercial Press Purchase of goods Purchase of books Price negotiated
 by both parties

5,291,753.53 N/A N 11,441,835.41

Ren Min Eastern Purchase of goods Purchase of books Price negotiated
 by both parties

– N/A N 3,665,783.62

Hainan Publishing House Purchase of goods Purchase of books Price negotiated
 by both parties

10,690,906.94 N/A N 2,688,437.91

Haiyi Hotel Receipt of services Receipt of hotel and
 conference services

Price negotiated
 by both parties

38,690.00 N/A N 229,217.54

Wenbao Company Purchase of goods Purchase of goods Price negotiated
 by both parties

– N/A N 38,282.30

Wenbao Company Receipt of services Receipt of logistics
 services

Price negotiated
 by both parties

– N/A N 168,726.13

Sichuan Minzu Publishing House Purchase of goods Purchase of books Price negotiated
 by both parties

39,863,100.33 130,000,000.00 N 23,669,707.41

Tianxi Zhongda Purchase of goods Purchase of books Price negotiated
 by both parties

19,892,651.25 N/A N 19,889,863.34

Tianxi Zhongda Purchase of goods Purchase of copyright Price negotiated
 by both parties

225,490.66 N/A N 143,811.41

Qijia Advertising Receipt of
services

Receipt of advertising
 services

Price negotiated
 by both parties

– N/A N 5,694.34

        

Total 110,194,484.39 86,413,777.71
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XII RELATED PARTY RELATIONSHIPS AND TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

5 Related party transactions (Continued)

(1) Sales and purchase of goods, provision and receipt of services (Continued)

Sales of goods/provision of services

Related party

Type of
related party 
transaction

Details of related
party transaction

Pricing and
decision-making
procedures of
related party
transactions

1 January to
30 June 2025

(Unaudited)
Transaction

limit approved
Transaction limit 
exceeded? 

1 January to
30 June 2024

(Unaudited)
RMB RMB

        

Sichuan Xinhua Publishing and
 Distribution Group

Sales of goods Sales of books and
 provision of services

Price negotiated
 by both parties

101,309.83 N/A N 20,684.22

Sichuan Xinhua Publishing and
 Distribution Group

Provision of
 services

Provision of advertising
 design and production
 services

Price negotiated
 by both parties

53,026.54 N/A N 80,049.24

Hainan Phoenix Sales of goods Sales of books Price negotiated
 by both parties

1,258,673.63 N/A N 454,687.63

Sichuan Minzu Publishing 
 House

Sales of goods Sales of paper Price negotiated
 by both parties

1,445,214.43 44,000,000.00 N 6,933,893.74

Sichuan Minzu Publishing 
 House

Provision of
 services

Provision of services Price negotiated
 by both parties

428,595.95 N/A N 333,994.14

Tianxi Zhongda Sales of goods Provision of copyright Price negotiated
 by both parties

18,873.09 N/A N –

Wenbao Company Provision of
 services

Provision of storage
 services

Price negotiated
 by both parties

95,692.80 N/A N –

Haiyi Hotel Provision of
 services

Provision of services Price negotiated
 by both parties

– N/A N 16,582.30

Xinhua Internet Sales of goods Sales of goods Price negotiated
 by both parties

301,551.27 N/A N –

        

Total 3,702,937.54 7,839,891.27
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XII RELATED PARTY RELATIONSHIPS AND TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

5 Related party transactions (Continued)

(2) Leases with related parties

The Group as lessor:

Name of

lessor Name of lessee Type of leased assets

Commencement 

date of leases

Expiration 

date of

leases

Basis of 

determining

the rent

Lease income

recognized in

the period from

1 January to

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

Lease income

recognized in

the period from

1 January to

30 June 2024

(Unaudited)

RMB RMB
        

The Company Sichuan Xinhua

 Publishing and

 Distribution Group

Buildings 2024.1.1 2026.12.31 Contractual price

 negotiated by

 both parties

622,000.00 622,000.00

The Company Sichuan Xinhua

 Publishing and

 Distribution Group

Buildings 2024.1.1 2026.12.31 Contractual price

 negotiated by

 both parties

629,523.81 629,523.81

The Company Sichuan Minzu 

 Publishing House

Buildings 2024.1.1 2026.12.31 Contractual price

 negotiated by

 both parties

323,291.42 323,291.42

        

Total 1,574,815.23 1,574,815.23
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XII RELATED PARTY RELATIONSHIPS AND TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

5 Related party transactions (Continued)

(3) Compensation for key management personnel

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2025

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2024

Item (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Compensation for key management 

 personnel 2,261,440.48 7,673,514.77
   

Key management personnel are those personnel having the authority and responsibility for 

planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, including director, supervisor 

and other personnel who perform similar strategic functions. Compensation for key 

management personnel includes basic salaries, bonuses and various subsidies.

6 Accounts receivable and payable from/to related parties and other unsettled items

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Item Related party (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
    

Accounts receivable Shanghai Jinjie – 195,984.00

Sichuan Minzu Publishing House 329,409.37 13,382,022.40

Hainan Phoenix 429,812.50 208,429.85

Sichuan Xinhua Publishing and

 Distribution Group 124,512.33 45,306.45

Xinhua Internet 434,119.21 599,440.34

Huaxuan Yinshi 112,496.00 533,139.30

Sichuan Cultural Big Data 74,910.00 74,910.00
    

Total 1,505,259.41 15,039,232.34
    

Dividends receivable Education Forum 108,000.00 108,000.00

The Commercial Press – 1,470,000.00

Bank of Chengdu 71,280,000.00 –
    

Total 71,388,000.00 1,578,000.00
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30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Item Related party (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
    

Other receivables Shanghai Jinjie – 26,478.80

Cultural Investment Huiwen 90,000.00 90,000.00

Huaxuan Yinshi 55,344.00 –

Sichuan Minzu Publishing House 82,819.23 –
    

Total 228,163.23 116,478.80
    

Accounts payable The Commercial Press 14,861,972.94 9,569,353.09

Ming Bo Education 5,460,089.18 6,472,458.60

Hanan Publishing House 14,059,581.95 11,637,924.73

Wenbao Company (Note) 2,687.62 9,292,215.92

Sichuan Minzu Publishing House 24,918,699.76 55,441,729.97

Tianxi Zhongda 51,193,816.77 52,573,103.96

Digital World 3,514,001.00 3,514,001.00

Huaxuan Yinshi 167,332.87 362,104.74
    

Total 114,178,182.09 148,862,892.01
    

Other payables Ming Bo Education 4,776,848.83 4,776,848.83

Wenbao Company 36,492.48 36,492.48

Sichuan Cultural Investment Group 1,203,818.84 1,014,758.85

Sichuan Minzu Publishing House 80.00 –
    

Total 6,017,240.15 5,828,100.16
    

Contract liabilities Xinhua Lezhi – 18,594.38

Digital World 896,226.41 886,792.46
    

Total 896,226.41 905,386.84
    

XII RELATED PARTY RELATIONSHIPS AND TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

6 Accounts receivable and payable from/to related parties and other unsettled items 

(Continued)
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30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Item Related party (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
    

Non-current liabilities

 due within one year

Sichuan Xinhua Publishing and

 Distribution Group 34,788,658.09 35,172,444.17

Deyuan Gewu Fund 601,966.00 791,745.89
    

Total 35,390,624.09 35,964,190.06
    

Lease liabilities Sichuan Xinhua Publishing and

 Distribution Group 171,544,267.80 109,259,010.06

Deyuan Gewu Fund – 994,232.19
    

Total 171,544,267.80 110,253,242.25
    

Note: The amount payable represented the settlement amount with the Company arising from the supply chain financial 

services provided by Wenbao Company to the Company’s suppliers, which was not generated from related party 

transactions between the Company and Wenbao Company.

7 Transactions with Bank of Chengdu and closing balance of the Period

According to the Administrative Measures for Information Disclosure of Listed Companies, as Mr. 

Ma Xiaofeng, a senior executive of the Company, also serves as a director of Bank of Chengdu, 

Bank of Chengdu is a related party of the Company. The Group’s transactions with Bank of 

Chengdu within the Reporting Period and the closing balance are detailed as follows:

(1) Dividend income

Item

For the period from

1 January to 30 June 2025 

(Unaudited)

For the period from

1 January to 30 June 2024 

(Unaudited)

Amount Proportion (%) Amount Proportion (%)

RMB RMB
     

Investment income 71,280,000.00 69.76 71,744,000.00 58.45
     

The shown proportion is the proportion of the amount of the transaction to total dividend 

income in the current period.

XII RELATED PARTY RELATIONSHIPS AND TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

6 Accounts receivable and payable from/to related parties and other unsettled items 

(Continued)
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XII RELATED PARTY RELATIONSHIPS AND TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

7 Transactions with Bank of Chengdu and closing balance of the Period (Continued)

(2) Interest income

Item

For the period from

1 January to 30 June 2025 

(Unaudited)

For the period from

1 January to 30 June 2024 

(Unaudited)

Amount Proportion (%) Amount Proportion (%)

RMB RMB
     

Interest income 18,410,567.63 23.95 9,505,508.14 9.97
     

The shown proportion is the proportion of the amount of the transaction to total amount 

of similar transactions in the current period.

(3) Interest expenses

Item

For the period from

1 January to 30 June 2025 

(Unaudited)

For the period from

1 January to 30 June 2024 

(Unaudited)

Amount Proportion (%) Amount Proportion (%)

RMB RMB
     

Finance expenses 170,499.98 100.00 175,374.99 100.00
     

(4) Handling charges

Item

For the period from

1 January to 30 June 2025 

(Unaudited)

For the period from

1 January to 30 June 2024 

(Unaudited)

Amount Proportion (%) Amount Proportion (%)

RMB RMB
     

Handling charges 732.47 0.09 1,100.12 0.02
     

(5) Bank balances

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Item (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Bank balances 1,458,802,741.24 1,280,387,903.63
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XII RELATED PARTY RELATIONSHIPS AND TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

7 Transactions with Bank of Chengdu and closing balance of the Period (Continued)

(6) Short-term borrowings

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Item (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Short-term borrowings 10,000,000.00 10,000,000.00
   

XIII CONTINGENCIES

At the balance sheet date, the Group had no significant contingencies of which disclosure was required.

XIV COMMITMENTS

Capital and other commitments

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

(Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Commitment for acquisition and construction of 

 long-term assets that are contracted but not 

 yet recognized in the financial statements 119,955,977.19 83,640,518.88

Subscribed capital contribution commitments to 

 partnership 50,000,000.00 100,000,000.00
   

Total 169,955,977.19 183,640,518.88
   

XV EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

At the board meeting held on 27 August 2025, the resolution regarding the interim profit distribution 

for 2025 was passed where the undistributed profit for the 2025 interim period was distributed at the 

price of RMB0.19 (tax inclusive) per share and the proposed dividend amounted to RMB234,429,790.00 

(tax inclusive). The resolution shall take effect upon obtaining approval at the general meeting. Cash 

dividends proposed to be distributed after the balance sheet date are not recognized as liabilities as at 

the balance sheet date.
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XVI OTHER SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

1 Capital management

The Group manages its capital principally aiming to secure the Group as going concern and 

achieve maximum income for shareholders through optimizing the combination structure of equity 

financing and debt financing. The Group’s capital comprises the following components:

• Short-term borrowings and lease liabilities less cash and cash equivalents;

• Paid-in capital, capital reserve, surplus reserve and undistributed profit.

The Group’s management reviews the capital structure according to the interim or annual 

financial statements. During the review, the management considers the capital cost and risks 

associated with various type of capital. The Group optimizes the overall capital structure through 

issuing additional shares or borrowing or repayment of borrowings based on the choice of the 

management.

2 Segment reporting

Based on the Group’s internal organization structure, management requirements and internal 

reporting system, the operations of the Group are classified into two reporting segments, namely 

publication segment and distribution segment. The reporting segments are determined based on 

the Group’s business type. The Group’s management periodically evaluates the operating results 

of these reporting segments to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segments 

and assess their performance.

Major products and services delivered or provided by each of the reporting segments of the 

Group are:

Publication segment: Publishing of publications like books, journals, audio-visual products 

and digital products; provision of printing services and supply of printing 

materials;

Distribution segment: Distribution of textbooks to schools, teachers and students and supply 

of education informatization and equipment service for secondary and 

primary schools; retailing, distribution and online sales of publications.

Other segment of the Group covers provision of capital operations, logistic service, etc. However, 

these operating businesses do not separately satisfy the definition of reporting segment. The 

relevant financial information of such operating businesses is consolidated and presented as 

“others” in the following table.

Segment reporting information is disclosed in accordance with the accounting policies and 

measurement criteria adopted by each segment when reporting to management. The accounting 

policies and measurement criteria are consistent with the accounting and measurement criteria 

in the preparation of the financial statements.
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XVI OTHER SIGNIFICANT EVENTS (Continued)

2 Segment reporting (Continued)

(1) Segment reporting information

For the period from 1 January to 30 June 2025 (Unaudited)

Publication

segment

Distribution

segment Others

Unallocated

items

Inter-segment

eliminations Total

RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
       

Principal operating 

 income 1,279,892,593.54 4,863,826,902.35 206,104,572.74 – (910,781,170.05) 5,439,042,898.58

Principal operating 

 costs 842,957,148.97 3,287,396,295.16 174,085,258.33 – (950,500,800.96) 3,353,937,901.50
       

Total assets 7,410,682,023.88 16,202,889,648.83 1,161,046,691.72 2,571,148,165.26 (3,783,479,556.89) 23,562,286,972.80
       

Total liabilities 1,605,485,126.04 9,255,602,015.17 525,948,773.31 263,001,271.18 (3,664,485,202.05) 7,985,551,983.65
       

For the period from 1 January to 30 June 2024 (Unaudited)

Publication

segment

Distribution

segment Others

Unallocated

items

Inter-segment

eliminations Total

RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
       

Principal operating 

 income 1,211,622,731.49 5,152,376,843.81 182,953,577.12 – (838,669,696.92) 5,708,283,455.50

Principal operating 

 costs 806,024,438.97 3,488,471,079.40 159,623,102.23 – (899,345,010.63) 3,554,773,609.97
       

Total assets 7,177,142,074.53 15,052,884,594.13 1,138,945,662.81 2,246,233,862.05 (3,722,857,210.58) 21,892,348,982.94
       

Total liabilities 1,511,869,813.37 9,087,581,966.02 518,534,019.60 437,169,352.75 (3,600,615,422.56) 7,954,539,729.18
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XVI OTHER SIGNIFICANT EVENTS (Continued)

2 Segment reporting (Continued)

(2) External revenue by geographical area of source and non-current assets by geographical 

location

More than 99% of the Group’s income is sourced from the PRC customers and most of 

the Group’s assets are located in the PRC. Therefore, the regional data are not disclosed.

(3) Concentration on major customers

The Group’s revenue from its single largest customer for the current period is 

RMB495,320,447.10 (Same Period of Last Year: RMB488,936,362.74), which is attributable 

to the distribution segment. The Group has no external customer from which the sales 

amount accounts for 10% or more of the total revenue for the current period and the Same 

Period of Last Year.

Inter-segment transfers are measured on the basis of prices negotiated between different 

segment entities. Segment revenue and segment expenses are determined on the basis of 

actual revenue and expenses of each segment. Segment assets and liabilities are allocated 

according to the attributable assets employed by a segment in its operating activities and 

the attributable liabilities resulting from the operating activities of a segment.

XVII NOTES TO MAJOR ITEMS IN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE 
PARENT COMPANY

1 Accounts receivable

(1) Disclosure of accounts receivable by aging

Carrying

balance as at

30 June 2025

Carrying

balance as at

31 December 2024

Aging (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Within 1 year 722,085,905.16 588,665,809.49

More than 1 year but not exceeding 2 years 119,540,891.85 135,438,120.56

More than 2 years but not exceeding 3 years 80,566,334.74 255,044,651.01

More than 3 years 263,807,717.11 84,289,990.07
   

Subtotal 1,186,000,848.86 1,063,438,571.13

Less: Provision for credit loss 358,615,171.98 397,117,649.13
   

Total 827,385,676.88 666,320,922.00
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XVII NOTES TO MAJOR ITEMS IN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE 
PARENT COMPANY (Continued)

1 Accounts receivable (Continued)

(2) Disclosure by provision method of credit loss

30 June 2025 (Unaudited) 31 December 2024

Carrying amount Credit loss provision Carrying value Carrying amount Credit loss provision Carrying value

Category Amount

Percentage 

(%) Amount

Provision 

percentage 

(%) Amount

Percentage 

(%) Amount

Provision 

percentage 

(%)

RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
           

Provision for credit loss on

 an individual basis 158,976,580.65 13.40 87,590,962.79 55.10 71,385,617.86 168,989,064.25 15.89 84,216,521.77 49.84 84,772,542.48

Provision for credit loss on

 a collective basis 1,027,024,268.21 86.60 271,024,209.19 26.39 756,000,059.02 894,449,506.88 84.11 312,901,127.36 34.98 581,548,379.52
           

Total 1,186,000,848.86 100.00 358,615,171.98 827,385,676.88 1,063,438,571.13 100.00 397,117,649.13 666,320,922.00
           

Provision for credit loss on an individual basis

30 June 2025 (Unaudited)

Name of entity Carrying balance

Provision for 

credit loss

Provision 

percentage (%)

Reason for 

provision

RMB RMB
     

Customer E 41,282,910.56 31,980,367.49 77.47 Poor solvency

Customer D 32,479,050.50 4,355,440.67 13.41 Decreasing 

 recovery speed

Customer K 23,167,525.27 1,661,752.92 7.17 Decreasing 

 recovery speed

Customer L 18,686,493.00 18,686,493.00 100.00 Poor solvency

Others 43,360,601.32 30,906,908.71 71.28 Decreasing 

 recovery speed, 

 etc.
     

Total 158,976,580.65 87,590,962.79 55.10
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XVII NOTES TO MAJOR ITEMS IN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE 
PARENT COMPANY (Continued)

1 Accounts receivable (Continued)

(2) Disclosure by provision method of credit loss (Continued)

Provision for credit loss on a collective basis

As part of the Company’s credit risk management, the Company uses an impairment 

matrix to determine the expected credit losses of accounts receivable formed by various 

businesses based on the aging of accounts receivable. These businesses involve a large 

number of small customers with the same risk characteristics, and the aging information 

can reflect the solvency of such customers as the accounts receivable fall due.

30 June 2025 (Unaudited)

Aging Carrying balance

Provision for

credit loss

Provision

percentage

(%) Carrying value

RMB RMB RMB
     

Within 1 year 717,344,531.07 42,554,787.83 5.93 674,789,743.24

More than 1 year but not 

 exceeding 2 years 98,306,589.85 30,033,294.64 30.55 68,273,295.21

More than 2 years but not 

 exceeding 3 years 53,804,911.63 40,867,891.06 75.96 12,937,020.57

More than 3 years 157,568,235.66 157,568,235.66 100.00 –
     

Total 1,027,024,268.21 271,024,209.19 756,000,059.02
     

(3) Credit loss provision made or reversed in 2025

The credit loss provision made for the current period was RMB3,374,441.02, and the credit 

loss provision reversed was RMB41,876,918.17.

(4) Accounts receivable actually written off in 2025

No accounts receivable was actually written off in the current period.
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XVII NOTES TO MAJOR ITEMS IN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE 
PARENT COMPANY (Continued)

1 Accounts receivable (Continued)

(5) Top five debtors with the largest balances of accounts receivable at the end of the 

Period

Name of entity

Balance of 

accounts 

receivable as 

at 30 June 

2025

Balance of 

contract assets 

as at 30 June 

2025

Closing balance of 

accounts 

receivable and 

contract assets 

as at 30 June 

2025

As a percentage of 

the total balance 

of accounts 

receivable and 

contract 

assets (%)

Balance of bad 

debt provision 

as at 30 June 

2025

(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

RMB RMB RMB RMB
      

Customer F 257,795,419.75 – 257,795,419.75 21.60 –

Customer G 104,680,972.75 – 104,680,972.75 8.77 104,680,972.75

Customer E 41,282,910.56 – 41,282,910.56 3.46 31,980,367.49

Customer D 32,479,050.50 – 32,479,050.50 2.72 4,355,440.67

Customer K 23,167,525.27 – 23,167,525.27 1.94 1,661,752.92
      

Total 459,405,878.83 – 459,405,878.83 38.49 142,678,533.83
      

2 Other receivables

2.1 Presentation of items

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Item (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Dividends receivable 83,744,000.00 1,470,000.00

Other receivables 669,198,591.39 698,441,434.93
   

Total 752,942,591.39 699,911,434.93
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XVII NOTES TO MAJOR ITEMS IN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE 
PARENT COMPANY (Continued)

2 Other receivables (Continued)

2.2 Dividends receivable

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Item (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Bank of Chengdu 71,280,000.00 –

Wan Xin Media 12,464,000.00 –

The Commercial Press – 1,470,000.00
   

Total 83,744,000.00 1,470,000.00
   

2.3 Other receivables

(1) Other receivables by aging

Carrying

balance as at

30 June 2025

Carrying

balance as at

31 December 2024

Aging (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Within 1 year 564,650,125.15 590,449,292.61

More than 1 year but not 

 exceeding 2 years 37,284,354.82 40,685,322.76

More than 2 years but not 

 exceeding 3 years 20,111,962.12 30,192,877.97

More than 3 years 72,322,218.41 62,177,174.87
   

Subtotal 694,368,660.50 723,504,668.21

Less: Provision for credit loss 25,170,069.11 25,063,233.28
   

Total 669,198,591.39 698,441,434.93
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XVII NOTES TO MAJOR ITEMS IN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE 
PARENT COMPANY (Continued)

2 Other receivables (Continued)

2.3 Other receivables (Continued)

(2) Disclosure by provision method of credit loss

30 June 2025 (Unaudited) 31 December 2024

Carrying amount Credit loss provision

Carrying value

Carrying amount Credit loss provision

Carrying valueCategory Amount

Percentage

(%) Amount

Provision

percentage

(%) Amount

Percentage

(%) Amount

Provision

percentage

(%)

RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
           

Provision for credit loss on 

 an individual basis 49,261,348.43 7.09 – – 49,261,348.43 51,364,081.07 7.10 – – 51,364,081.07

Provision for credit loss on 

 a collective basis 645,107,312.07 92.91 25,170,069.11 3.90 619,937,242.96 672,140,587.14 92.90 25,063,233.28 3.73 647,077,353.86
           

Total 694,368,660.50 100.00 25,170,069.11 669,198,591.39 723,504,668.21 100.00 25,063,233.28 698,441,434.93
           

Provision for credit loss on an individual basis

30 June 2025 (Unaudited)

Name of entity
Carrying
balance

Provision for
credit loss

Provision
percentage

(%)
Reason for 
provision

RMB RMB
     

Deposit/security 
 deposit/petty cash 49,261,348.43 – – N/A
     

Provision for credit loss on a collective basis

30 June 2025 (Unaudited)

Aging
Carrying
balance

Provision for
credit loss

Provision
percentage

(%) Carrying value
RMB RMB RMB

     

Within 1 year 553,937,231.18 201,174.30 – 553,736,056.88
More than 1 year but not 
 exceeding 2 years 32,435,017.14 106,430.00 0.33 32,328,587.14
More than 2 years but not 
 exceeding 3 years 18,098,315.65 208,651.34 1.15 17,889,664.31
More than 3 years 40,636,748.10 24,653,813.47 60.67 15,982,934.63
     

Total 645,107,312.07 25,170,069.11 619,937,242.96
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XVII NOTES TO MAJOR ITEMS IN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE 
PARENT COMPANY (Continued)

2 Other receivables (Continued)

2.3 Other receivables (Continued)

(3) Credit loss provision made for the current period

The credit loss provision made for the current period was RMB149,846.21, and the 

credit loss provision reversed was RMB43,010.38.

(4) Other receivables actually written for the current period

There were no other receivables actually written off for the current period.

(5) Other receivables by their nature

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Nature of other receivables (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Receivables from related parties 593,047,961.10 539,870,594.90

Deposit and security deposit 48,660,489.44 50,532,130.09

Petty cash 600,858.99 554,757.98

Enterprise income tax refund 

receivable – 87,852,580.04

Others 52,059,350.97 44,694,605.20   

Total 694,368,660.50 723,504,668.21
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XVII NOTES TO MAJOR ITEMS IN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE 
PARENT COMPANY (Continued)

2 Other receivables (Continued)

2.3 Other receivables (Continued)

(6) Top five entities with the largest balances of other receivables at the end of the Period

Name of entity Nature

30 June 2025

(Unaudited) Aging

As a

percentage

of the total

other

receivables

(%)

Balance of

credit loss

provision as at

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

RMB RMB
      

Winshare Investment Receivable from 

subsidiary

236,705,137.01 Within 1 year, 1-2 years, 

 2-3 years, more than 

 3 years

30.42 –

Printing Materials Receivable from 

subsidiary

179,455,997.26 Within 1 year, 1-2 years, 

 2-3 years

23.06 –

Sichuan Winshare Online 

E-commerce Co., Ltd.

Receivable from 

subsidiary

54,039,341.00 Within 1 year, more than 

 3 years

6.94 –

Digital Publishing Receivable from 

subsidiary

32,655,800.00 Within 1 year, more than 

 3 years

4.20 –

Reader’s Journal Press

Receivable from 

subsidiary 30,112,151.09

Within 1 year, 1-2 years, 

 2-3 years 3.87 –
      

Total 532,968,426.36 68.49 –
      

3 Long-term equity investment

(1) Long-term equity investment

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Item (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Book balance of long-term equity 

investments 4,600,162,583.17 4,573,783,358.58

Less: Provision for impairment of long-

term equity investments 2,072,032.00 2,072,032.00
   

Carrying amount of long-term equity 

investments 4,598,090,551.17 4,571,711,326.58
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XVII NOTES TO MAJOR ITEMS IN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE 
PARENT COMPANY (Continued)

3 Long-term equity investment (Continued)

(2) Classification of long-term equity investments

30 June 2025 31 December 2024

Item (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Investment in subsidiaries 3,837,770,713.05 3,828,748,013.05

Investment in joint ventures or associates 760,319,838.12 742,963,313.53
   

Total 4,598,090,551.17 4,571,711,326.58
   

(3) Investment in subsidiaries

Change for the current period

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

Balance of

provision for

impairment as at

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

 

Investee 1 January 2025

Addition in

investment

Reduction in

investment

Provision for

impairment

RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
       

Xinhua Online 40,000,000.00 – – – 40,000,000.00 (2,072,032.00)

Winshare Sports 124,915,135.82 – – – 124,915,135.82 –

Winshare Education 

 Technology 333,840,776.30 – – – 333,840,776.30 –

Arts Investment 20,680,000.00 – – – 20,680,000.00 –

Winshare Online 79,768,400.00 – – – 79,768,400.00 –

Winshare Logistics 350,000,000.00 – – – 350,000,000.00 –

Publication Printing 598,185,830.79 – – – 598,185,830.79 –

Printing Materials 40,944,463.95 – – – 40,944,463.95 –

People’s Publishing House 42,189,167.92 – – – 42,189,167.92 –

Education Publishing House 211,321,291.49 – – – 211,321,291.49 –

Youth and Children’s 

 Publishing House 361,878,541.53 – – – 361,878,541.53 –

Digital Publishing 35,405,427.63 – – – 35,405,427.63 –

Literature & Art Publishing

 House 78,031,819.65 – – – 78,031,819.65 –
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XVII NOTES TO MAJOR ITEMS IN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE 
PARENT COMPANY (Continued)

3 Long-term equity investment (Continued)

(3) Investment in subsidiaries (Continued)

Change for the current period

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

Balance of

provision for

impairment as at

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

 

Investee 1 January 2025

Addition in

investment

Reduction in

investment

Provision for

impairment

RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
       

Fine Arts Publishing House 17,559,756.46 – – – 17,559,756.46 –

Science & Technology

 Publishing House 24,294,897.94 – – – 24,294,897.94 –

Lexicographical Publishing

 House 27,809,021.68 – – – 27,809,021.68 –

Bashu Publishing House 45,244,860.20 – – – 45,244,860.20 –

Tiandi Publishing House 239,379,050.03 – – – 239,379,050.03 –

Pictorial 45,605,775.38 19,022,700.00 – – 64,628,475.38 –

Winshare Investment 300,000,000.00 – – – 300,000,000.00 –

Sichuan Xinhua Printing 248,599,490.28 – – – 248,599,490.28 –

Beijing Aerospace Cloud 29,248,300.00 – – – 29,248,300.00 –

Winshare International 50,000,000.00 – – – 50,000,000.00 –

Winshare Quan Media 10,000,000.00 – 10,000,000.00 – – –

Stackway 50,000,000.00 – – – 50,000,000.00 –

Liangshanzhou Xinhua

 Bookstore 423,846,006.00 – – – 423,846,006.00 –
       

Total 3,828,748,013.05 19,022,700.00 10,000,000.00 – 3,837,770,713.05 (2,072,032.00)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

XVII NOTES TO MAJOR ITEMS IN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE 
PARENT COMPANY (Continued)

3 Long-term equity investment (Continued)

(4) Investment in joint ventures or associates

Changes for the Period

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

Balance of

provision for

impairment

as at

30 June 2025

(Unaudited)

 

Investee 1 January 2025

Increase in

investment

Decrease in

investment

Investment

income

recognized

under equity

method

Adjustment

of other

comprehensive

income

Changes

in other

equity

Distribution

of cash

dividends or

profits

declared

Provision for

impairment

loss Others

RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
            

I. Joint Venture

 Hainan Publishing House 338,049,693.49 – – 10,544,453.22 – – – – – 348,594,146.71 –
            

 Subtotal 338,049,693.49 – – 10,544,453.22 – – – – – 348,594,146.71 –
            

II. Associates

 The Commercial Press 3,809,064.08 – – (25,624.41) – – – – – 3,783,439.67 –

 Ren Min Eastern 7,454,138.93 – – (600,914.98) – – – – – 6,853,223.95 –

 Ming Bo Education 9,490,019.84 – – 1,052,261.74 – – – – – 10,542,281.58 –

 Preschool Education 5,758,067.40 – – (85,604.81) – – – – – 5,672,462.59 –

 Xinhua Yingxuan – – – – – – – – – – –

 Huaxuan Yinshi 545,255.24 – – (244,143.14) – – – – – 301,112.10 –

 Hainan Phoenix 330,601,966.38 – – 6,613,903.17 – – – – – 337,215,869.55 –

 Cuiya Education 96,870.47 – – 21,262.81 – – – – – 118,133.28 –

 Wenbao Company 47,158,237.70 – – 80,930.99 – – – – – 47,239,168.69 –
            

 Subtotal 404,913,620.04 – – 6,812,071.37 – – – – – 411,725,691.41 –
            

Total 742,963,313.53 – – 17,356,524.59 – – – – – 760,319,838.12 –
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

XVII NOTES TO MAJOR ITEMS IN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE 
PARENT COMPANY (Continued)

4 Operating income and operating costs

(1) Operating income and operating costs

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2025

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2024

Item (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Principal operating income 3,291,335,485.10 3,454,382,779.34

Including:  Textbooks and supplementary 

materials 1,846,216,144.81 2,152,804,143.05

Other operating income (Note 1) 70,724,398.39 85,725,042.52
   

Total income 3,362,059,883.49 3,540,107,821.86
   

Principal operating costs 1,971,841,562.31 2,075,105,884.18

Other operating costs 2,581,087.54 1,526,703.99
   

Total costs 1,974,422,649.85 2,076,632,588.17
   

Note 1: Included in other operating income was commissions from concessionaire sales of RMB12,402,362.34. 

Among which, gross revenue from concessionaire sales was RMB97,325,952.50 and gross cost from 

concessionaire sales was RMB84,923,590.16 (for the period from 1 January to 30 June 2024: commissions 

from concessionaire sales of RMB12,408,459.96; among which, gross revenue from concessionaire sales 

was RMB86,962,848.65 and gross cost from concessionaire sales was RMB74,554,388.69).

(2) Details of performance obligation

In addition to the education informatization and equipment business, the Company’s 

principal operating income mainly comes from the sales of textbooks and supplementary 

materials and general books. The Company, as the main responsible person, performs 

the performance business at the time of delivery. The contracts do not contain important 

payment terms and important amounts expected to be returned to customers, and providing 

guarantee-type quality assurance does not form a separate performance obligation.

For revenue from the education informatization and equipment business, the Company, as 

the main responsible person, performs the performance business at the time of delivery. 

The contracts stipulate that payments shall be collected in installments over 2-5 years. 

The contracts do not contain important amounts expected to be returned to customers, 

and providing guarantee-type quality assurance does not form a separate performance 

obligation.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

XVII NOTES TO MAJOR ITEMS IN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE 
PARENT COMPANY (Continued)

5 Investment income

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2025

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2024

Item (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

RMB RMB
   

Income from long-term equity investments 26,379,224.59 4,691,805.41

Including: Investment gain (loss) recognized at cost 9,022,700.00 (5,492,537.01)

         Investment income recognized 

          using equity method 17,356,524.59 10,184,342.42

Dividend income generated from holding other

 equity instrument investments 83,744,000.00 109,759,200.00

Investment income from disposal of

 held-for-trading financial assets 307,414.81 193,481.05
   

Total 110,430,639.40 114,644,486.46
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Supplementary Information

1 BREAKDOWN OF NON-RECURRING PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE PERIOD

Item

For the period

from 1 January to

30 June 2025

RMB
  

Gain/loss on disposal of non-current assets, including write-offs

 for which asset impairment provisions have been made (174,288.09)

Government grants recognized in profit or loss (other than grants

 which are closely related to the Company’s normal business

 operations, comply with national policies and regulations, are

 entitled according to determined standards, and have a lasting

 impact on the Company’s profit or loss) 5,463,889.96

In addition to the effective hedging business related to the Company’s

 normal business operations, gain/loss from changes in fair value of

 financial assets and financial liabilities held by non-financial enterprises,

 and gain/loss from disposal of financial assets and financial liabilities 11,166,479.88

Other non-operating income and expenses other than the aforesaid items (2,938,591.89)

Less: Income tax effects 3,128,112.39

Effects attributable to non-controlling interests (after tax) 487,645.75
  

Total 9,901,731.72
  

2 RETURN ON NET ASSETS AND EARNINGS PER SHARE (“EPS”)

The return on net assets and EPS have been prepared by Xinhua Winshare Publishing and Media Co., 

Ltd.* in accordance with Information Disclosure and Presentation Rules for Companies Making Public 

Offering of Securities No. 9 – Calculation and Disclosure of Return on Net Assets and Earnings per Share 

(Revised in 2010) issued by the CSRC.

Profit for the Reporting Period

Weighted

average return

on net assets (%) EPS (RMB)

Basic EPS Diluted EPS
    

Net profit attributable to ordinary

 shareholders of the parent company 5.70 0.69 0.69

Net profit after deduction of non-recurring

 profits or losses attributable to ordinary

 shareholders of the Company 5.63 0.69 0.69
    

The Company has no dilutive potential ordinary shares.

* For identification purposes only
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